Public Document Pack

Planning Committee
Date:

Wednesday, 29th September, 2021

Time:

10.00 am

Venue:

Council Chamber - Council Offices, London Road, Saffron Walden,
CB11 4ER

Chair:
Members:

Councillor S Merifield
Councillors G Bagnall, J Emanuel, P Fairhurst, R Freeman,
G LeCount, M Lemon (Vice-Chair), J Loughlin, R Pavitt, N Reeve
and M Sutton

Substitutes:

Councillors M Caton, A Coote, N Gregory, V Isham, B Light, G Sell,
G Smith and J De Vries

Public Speaking
At the start of each agenda item there will be an opportunity for members of the
public to ask questions and make statements subject to having given notice by 2pm
on the day before the meeting. Please register your intention to speak at this
meeting by writing to committee@uttlesford.gov.uk
Public speakers will be offered the opportunity for an officer to read out their
questions or statement at the meeting, and encouraged to attend the meeting via
Zoom to read out their questions or statement themselves. There is capacity for four
additional people to attend the Chamber in person and seats will be available on a
first come first serve basis, so please do get in touch as soon as possible if this is of
interest.
For further information, please see overleaf. Those who would like to watch the
meeting live can do so virtually here. The broadcast will be made available as soon
as the meeting begins

AGENDA
PART 1
Open to Public and Press
Session 1 (10:00 – 12:00)
1

Apologies for Absence and Declarations of Interest
To receive any apologies for absence and declarations of interest.

2

Minutes of the Previous Meeting

5-8

To consider the minutes of the previous meeting.
3

UTT/20/1929/OP - Helena Romanes School, Parsonage
Downs, GREAT DUNMOW

9 - 27

To consider application UTT/20/1929/OP.
4

UTT/21/2465/DFO - Land South of Radwinter Road, SAFFRON
WALDEN

28 - 43

To consider application UTT/21/2465/DFO.
5

UTT/20/3415/FUL - Walden Place, Freshwell Street, SAFFRON
WALDEN

44 - 70

To consider application UTT/20/3415/FUL.
6

UTT/20/3416/LB - Walden Place, Freshwell Street, SAFFRON
WALDEN

71 - 85

To consider application UTT/20/3416/LB.
Session 2 (13:00 – 15:00)
7

86 - 105

UTT/21/1108/FUL - Land At Lodge Farm, Bardfield End Green,
THAXTED
To consider application UTT/21/1108/FUL.

8

UTT/21/2501/FUL - Land at Old Mead Road, HENHAM
To consider application UTT/21/2501/FUL.

106 - 121

9

UTT/20/0930/FUL - Porters Hall, Porters Hall Road, STEBBING

122 - 133

To consider application UTT/21/0930/FUL.
10

UTT/21/1550/HHF - The Willows, Lower Road, LITTLE
HALLINGBURY
To consider application UTT/21/1550/HHF.

134 - 141

MEETINGS AND THE PUBLIC
In light of the recent High Court judgement regarding the extension of remote meeting
regulations, Council, Cabinet and Committee meetings will now be returning to in-person
and will be held on-site from Thursday 6th May 2021. However, due to social distancing
measures and capacity considerations in line with the Council’s risk assessment, public
access and participation will continue to be encouraged virtually until further notice.
Members of the public are welcome to listen live to the debate of any of the Council’s
Cabinet or Committee meetings. All live broadcasts and meeting papers can be viewed on
the Council’s calendar of meetings webpage.
Members of the public and representatives of parish and town councils are permitted to
speak at this meeting and will be encouraged to do so via the video conferencing platform
Zoom. If you wish to make a statement via Zoom video link, you will need to register with
Democratic Services by 2pm the day before the meeting. Those wishing to make a
statement via video link will require an internet connection and a device with a microphone
and video camera enabled. Those wishing to make a statement to the meeting who do not
have internet access can do so via telephone.
Technical guidance on the practicalities of participating via Zoom will be given at the point of
confirming your registration slot, but if you have any questions regarding the best way to
participate in this meeting please call Democratic Services on 01799 510 369/410/467/548
who will advise on the options available.

Facilities for people with disabilities
The Council Offices has facilities for wheelchair users, including lifts and toilets. The Council
Chamber has an induction loop so that those who have hearing difficulties can hear the
debate.
If you are deaf or have impaired hearing and would like a signer available at a meeting,
please contact committee@uttlesford.gov.uk or phone 01799 510410/467 as soon as
possible prior to the meeting.

For information about this meeting please contact Democratic Services
Telephone: 01799 510410, 510369, 510548, or 510467
Email: Committee@uttlesford.gov.uk
General Enquiries
Council Offices, London Road, Saffron Walden, CB11 4ER
Telephone: 01799 510510
Fax: 01799 510550
Email: uconnect@uttlesford.gov.uk
Website: www.uttlesford.gov.uk

Agenda Item 2
PLANNING COMMITTEE held at COUNCIL CHAMBER - COUNCIL OFFICES,
LONDON ROAD, SAFFRON WALDEN, CB11 4ER, on WEDNESDAY, 1
SEPTEMBER 2021 at 10.00 am

PC40

Present:

Councillor S Merifield (Chair)
Councillors G Bagnall, J Emanuel, R Freeman, G LeCount,
M Lemon (Vice-Chair), B Light (substitute for Councillor
Fairhurst), J Loughlin, R Pavitt, N Reeve and M Sutton

Officers in
attendance:

H Ashun (Principal Planning Officer), C Gibson (Democratic
Services Officer), C Shanley-Grozavu (Democratic Services
Officer), M Shoesmith (Development Management Team
Leader), E Smith (Solicitor) and C Tyler (Senior Planning
Officer)

Invitee:

K Kift

Public
Speakers:

Councillor J Emanuel, M Hannant, Councillor N Hargreaves, T
Macartney, L Smith and S Stephenson.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Fairhurst.
Councillor Emanuel declared a non-pecuniary interest on Agenda Item 3.
Councillor Freeman declared a non-pecuniary interest as a member of Saffron
Walden Town Council.
Councillor Light declared a non-pecuniary interest as a member of Saffron
Walden Town Council.

PC41

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 4 August 2021 were approved.
Councillor Emanuel recused herself from the next item at 10.10 am.

PC42

UTT/20/2632/FUL - LAND WEST OF LONDON ROAD, NEWPORT
The Principal Planning Officer presented an application for the construction of 89
new dwellings of mixed typologies, vehicular access from London Road and
associated parking, open space and landscaping. This included the provision of
ball catching netting for the recreation club, a car park and associated access for
Newport Primary School including landscaping improvements, off-site

Page 5

playground, highway improvements to the bridleway and associated
development.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions subject to a
S106 legal obligation .
Councillor Emanuel (on behalf of Newport Parish Council), M Hannant (Chair of
Newport Sports Committee), Councillor Hargreaves, S Stephenson (Agent) and
T Macartney (Applicant) spoke in support of the application. Councillor
Hargreaves asked that the Committee require via a condition that there be an
option for the Parish Council and the Committee to sign off the draft S106 in the
event of any difficulties in reaching agreement.
L Smith (resident) spoke against the application.
The Chair explained to the Committee that there was a need to go into private
session at this point as commercially sensitive information needed to be
discussed in view of the proposal to only build 28.1% of affordable homes rather
than 40%.
This proposal was agreed.
The meeting entered private session at 10.55 am and, following a proposal to reenter public session, the meeting re-opened to the public at 11.50 am.
Members raised various concerns:  The principle as to whether 28.1% affordable housing was acceptable or
whether the full 40% should be insisted upon.
 The possible conflict between having more green homes, or more
affordable homes.
The possibility of carrying out a re-assessment of the affordable housing
contribution following completion of the build. It was explained that any
increase in the level of contribution would have to be by way of a
commuted sum.
 The possible dangers of pollution affecting the river through run-off, the
use of pollutant interceptors, and various other systems to address
Sustainable Urban Drainage Strategy (SUDs).
 The possible lack of capacity at Newport Sewage works.
 The access points onto London Road.
 Underfloor heating details.
Councillor Light proposed that the application be refused unless the full
requirement of 40% of affordable housing was met. This was seconded by
Councillor Loughlin. The motion was lost.
Councillor Reeve proposed that the application be approved with additional
conditions to include the potential for a re-assessment of the affordable housing
contribution if applicable being added into the S106 Heads of Terms, details of
the underfloor heating scheme , details of the pollution management scheme &
SUDs in respect of overflowing, and the inclusion of the option to bring the S106

Page 6

back to the Committee if the Parish Council and/or officers were not satisfied
with arrangements. Councillor Sutton seconded the motion.
RESOLVED to approve the application on the basis of the additional
conditions listed above.

The Meeting adjourned at 12.25 pm and reconvened at 1.20 pm.
Councillor Emanuel re-joined the meeting. Councillors Freeman and Reeve gave
apologies for being unable to attend the afternoon session.

PC43

UTT/21/1855/OP - 22 TYE GREEN, MILL ROAD, WIMBISH
The Senior Planning Officer presented an outline application with all matters
reserved for the erection of one four bedroom dwelling together with new access,
vehicular parking and associated external works. He also recommended adding
a further condition adding an Electric Vehicle Charging Point.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.
Members raised questions about the size of the development, the positioning of
the building line, possible use of the plot for smaller affordable dwellings, and the
future use of any income raised from the sale of land for the funding of affordable
housing elsewhere.
The Development Management Team Leader said that this application was an
outline application with all matters reserved. She said that an informative could
be added stating that the building line shown in the plan was not acceptable, but
that this would still be a material consideration at the reserved matters stage .
Councillor Bagnall proposed that the application be approved, to include the
extra condition and an informative. This was seconded by Councillor LeCount.
RESOLVED to approve the application with the additional condition of an
Electric Vehicle Charging Point and an informative in respect of the
building line.

PC44

UTT/21/2113/FUL - LAND NORTH OF BARTHOLOMEW CLOSE, GREAT
CHESTERFORD
The Senior Planning Officer presented an application to vary condition 15 and to
revise the approved schedule of materials of previously approved planning
application UTT/19/2288/FUL.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.
In response to questions the Senior Planning Officer said that there had been
supply chain issues in respect of the Heritage Red Blend bricks and that the

Page 7

proposed Staplefield Stock Red bricks would not have white pointing as per the
illustration but would have a normal sand and mortar mix.
The Chair proposed that the application be approved. This was seconded by
Councillor Pavitt.
RESOLVED to approve the application with conditions.

PC45

UTT/21/2114/FUL - LAND NORTH OF BARTHOLOMEW CLOSE, GREAT
CHESTERFORD
The Senior Planning Officer presented an application to vary condition 14 and to
revise the approved schedule of materials of previously approved planning
application UTT/20/3263/FUL. He confirmed that as with the previous application
the bricks would not have white pointing.
The application was recommended for approval with conditions.
Councillor Pavitt proposed that the application be approved. This was seconded
by Councillor Bagnall.
RESOLVED to approve the application with conditions.

The meeting ended at 1.40 pm.

Page 8

Agenda Item 3
UTT/20/1929/OP – (GREAT DUNMOW)
(Major)
PROPOSAL:

Outline application with all matters reserved except access for the erection of
up to 200 dwellings, demolition of existing school buildings, public open
space, landscaping, sustainable drainage system and vehicular access from
the B1008 Parsonage Downs.

LOCATION:

Helena Romanes School Parsonage Downs Dunmow

APPLICANT:

Helena Romanes School

AGENT:

Phase 2 Planning

EXPIRY DATE:

01 October 2021 (Extension of Time Agreed)

CASE OFFICER:

William Allwood

1.

NOTATION

1.1

The site is located outside the development limits as identified in the adopted Local Plan and is
therefore classified as a countryside location where Policy S7 is applicable. However, the Great
Dunmow Neighbourhood Plan (GDNP) identifies the site as falling with the Town Development Area
and Policy DS1 applies. The site is classified as a mineral safeguarding area. The site sits in an
ecologically sensitive location with the Fredericks Spring located adjacent to part of the western
boundary. The site access passes through the Parsonage Downs Local Wildlife Site. The site falls
within the Impact Zone for High Woods SSSI. It also falls within the Zone of Influence for recreational
impacts on Hatfield Forest, a SSSI, NNR and Ancient Woodland. The site access passes through
the Parsonage Downs Conservation Area and the site has numerous listed buildings in proximity.

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The outline application site measures 10.8 hectares and is located to the north of Great Dunmow
and is surrounded by many prominent natural and man-made features. Parsonage Downs to the
east of the site comprises several large, detached properties set behind a village green. Some of
the buildings are listed and some are newly built. Most of Parsonage Downs is within the
Conservation Area. Access to the site is via Parsonage Downs which runs through the green from
the B1008. To the southwest of the site is Newton Hall which is a former country estate split into
individual dwellings. This collection of buildings is set within large, landscaped grounds. To the
northwest is Frederick’s Spring which is designated as an Ancient Woodland. An area of woodland
extends into the site here although does not form part of the designation. Woodside Park, which
wraps around the south and west (sectors 1-3) and the north of the site (sector 4), is a residential
development of 1,600 homes which has been built in phases since 1992 with several zones still left
to be built. The later phases are closer to the site with earlier phases further south. A few hundred
metres from the site entrance, the Saffron Trail can be joined. This is a 71-mile, long distance
footpath stretching between Southend-on-Sea to Saffron Walden via Great Dunmow town centre.

2.2

The site currently comprises the Helena Romanes School & Sixth Form and Great Dunmow Leisure
Centre. The leisure centre is a facility shared between the public and the school. The intention will
be to remove the main leisure centre building, all weather pitch, hard court and car park from the
application site boundary, to be retained and operated as an independent leisure use. The
remaining area (the site) measures 10.8ha and slopes downwards from south to north. The eastern
area of the site includes the site access from Parsonage Downs, access to the leisure centre and
all of the buildings, internal roads and car parks associated with the school. The buildings range
between 1-4 storeys in height. The remaining areas comprise grassed sports pitches which are on
tiered levels, sloping downwards from south to north. The western area is located on the highest
part of the site and contains a bund along the boundary with the leisure centre car park and allweather pitch. A short but steep bank leads down to the central area (see photo 4) which includes
[Type here]

Page 9

a number of large, mature trees. Finally, another short but steep bank leads down to the southern
area of the site. The outer site boundaries contain mature vegetation which is continuous in some
locations and intermittent in others. The northern boundary abuts Woodlands Park sector 4, where
there are clear views to new housing. The eastern boundary runs along the edge of Parsonage
Downs, with the rear of some properties looking directly into the site. The upper half of the western
boundary forms the edge of Frederick’s Spring ancient woodland. The lower half sits adjacent to
Newton Hall where views to the eastern end of buildings is possible. The all-weather pitch and hard
court have perimeter fencing. All other shared boundaries with the leisure centre are currently open.
2.3

Newton Hall is found to the west of the application site. This is a Grade II Listed Building, dating
from the mid-C19. A former large country estate, the Hall and associated buildings have been split
into smaller properties. One such cottage is also Grade II Listed. Part of this grouping faces east
and is visible within the western side of the site. Main materials are red brick and red plain tile. The
courtyard of buildings nearest the site feature roof dormers. There are also 7 listed buildings within
the conservation area adjacent to the site to the east. These include properties with thatched roofs,
red tile roofs, red brick, and a variety of coloured renders.

2.4

Access to the site is via Parsonage Downs, where the existing school entrance is. There are
currently no other access points to the school. However, Woodlands Park sector 4 (to the north of
the site) has been designed to facilitate a pedestrian / cycle link into the site.

2.5

At the outset, it is important to state that this application is promoted as “enabling development”
and is to facilitate the building of a replacement new ‘all through school’ (containing shared facilities
for both primary and secondary pupils), which was the subject of a separate application with Essex
County Council, on land sited to the east of Buttley’s Lane in Great Dunmow. Planning approval
was granted by Essex County Council under Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning
General Regulations 1992 for an All-through school (primary, secondary and sixth form); sports
hall; formal and informal hard and soft play areas/pitches; new vehicular and pedestrian accesses;
vehicle drop-off and parking areas; landscaping and other associated infrastructure and works,
subject to conditions, on the 20th April 2021.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

This outline planning application proposes residential development with roads, open spaces, and
landscaping. The site area measures 10.8ha with a net developable area of 5.81ha (54% of the
site area). The remaining areas comprise:
• Public open space - 4.05ha (37%) including a Local Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) and
attenuation ponds
• Retained woodland - 0.94ha (9%)

3.2

The submitted development framework land use plan illustrates that the site seeks to accommodate
up to 200 homes at a net density of 34dph, and proposes for a variety of apartments, bungalows,
and houses. The housing mix will be determined at the reserved matters stage, but the applicant
advises that it is expected to include a broad range of house types and sizes.

3.3

The applicant does not seek formal approval of this layout; it is primarily submitted to illustrate that
the site area can accommodate the quantum of housing proposed, in a form that will meet parking,
garden size, highway and public open space standards and policy requirements.

3.4

The applicant has advised that illustrative layout has been informed by site specific opportunities
and constraints, local character and built form and by good urban design principles. The intention
has been to develop a framework which comprises a hierarchy of streets and spaces with differing
character.
Avenue - this street type is the primary route into the development on entry from Parsonage
Downs. The wide, tree-lined avenue gradually curves into the site, adding visual interest.
Once straightened, this formal road provides a vista to the central village green.

[Type here]

Page 10

Neighbourhood Streets - these secondary streets act as linking roads between the three
pockets of development, running through and alongside the green open spaces.
Lanes - these narrow lanes are well-enclosed, shared surface zones that provide links and
vistas to the green edges and open spaces of the site.
Green Edge - these shared surface streets and drives run alongside green spaces and
corridors providing a low-key, attractive edge to the development.
Mews - these hard landscaped zones are cul-de-sacs into limited areas of development.
These streets will often incorporate undercroft car parking or parking barns.
Square - the square is one of several focal spaces within the proposal, acting as a nodal
point providing access to further development.
Court - this focal space is enclosed on 2 sides, creating a formal courtyard. Tree planting
and integrated parking are featured in the centre.
Greens - there are 3 greens, all of which perform different roles within the proposal and in
relation to neighbouring development. Each of these open spaces helps to separate the
varied pockets of housing.
3.5

The details of the operation of the Great Dunmow Leisure Centre as its own entity is unclear at
present. However, Uttlesford DC Officers felt that there was an opportunity to better integrate the
leisure centre site into the master plan and therefore steps have been taken to future-proof the
layout so that this can be realised. In this respect, discussions have taken place with 1Life, who
operate the centre on behalf of Uttlesford District Council
Pedestrian Links The layout has been designed to create potential pedestrian / cycle routes through
the leisure centre site, offering better connectivity and access to the leisure centre facilities. Links
could be taken from the southern ends of the development, travelling through the car park and to
the leisure centre. Other links could be made south to Newton Hall Chase.
Car Park There could be potential to re-arrange the car park by re-routing traffic and consolidating
the existing parking into a smaller area. This could create room for a public realm area, such as a
plaza, in front of the leisure centre building.
Frontage Building frontage has been located to overlook the leisure centre site to create a better
setting to a potentially enhanced car park area.
Retail Unit If links through and improvements to the car park can be made, there is potential to
provide a small retail unit to help enhance the sustainable credentials of the site.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

In March 2020, a Screening Opinion was submitted in respect of the Demolition of existing school
buildings and redevelopment of site for approximately 200 dwellings (230 assumed for robustness.
The Local Planning Authority considered that the proposed development did not constitute an
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) development under the provisions of the Town and
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011, as amended.

4.2

Human Rights Act considerations: There may be implications under Article 1 and Article 8 of the
First Protocol, regarding the right of respect for a person's private and family life and home, and to
the peaceful enjoyment of possessions; however, these issues have been taken into account in the
determination of this application.

[Type here]

Page 11

5.

APPLICANTS CASE

5.1

The following documents have been submitted in support of the outline planning application:





















Level and Boundary Survey
Lighting Plan
Building Heights Parameter Plan
Layout Plan
Parameter Plan
Sections and Street Scenes
Access Arrangements
Arboricultural Impact Assessment
Design and Access Statement
Planning Statement
Drainage Strategy
Playing Pitch Assessment
Sports Pitch Plan
Landscape Visual Impact Assessment
Landscape Strategy
Flood Risk Assessment
Ecological Impact Assessment
Heritage Statement
Development Viability Assessment
Noise Impact Assessment

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

The application site has a long planning history relating to school development; the most relevant
application concerning the residential development of the site is:

6.2

UTT/20/0484/SCO: Request for Scoping Opinion in respect of a proposed development of Demolition
of existing school buildings and redevelopment of site for approximately 200 dwellings (230 assumed
for robustness) Scoping Opinion Given 09th March 2020

7.

POLICIES

7.1

S70(2) of The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires the local planning authority, in dealing
with a planning application, to have regard to:
(a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as
material to the application,
(aza) a post-examination draft neighbourhood development plan, so far as material to the
application,
(b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application, and
(c) any other material considerations.

7.2

S38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard is to be had to
the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts,
the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise.

7.3

National Policies
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)

[Type here]

Page 12

7.4

Uttlesford District Local Plan 2005
-

7.5

Policy S1 – Development Limits for Major Urban Areas
Policy S7 – The Countryside
Policy GEN1 – Access
Policy GEN2 – Design
Policy GEN3 – Flood Protection
Policy GEN4 – Good Neighbourliness
Policy GEN6 – Infrastructure Provision to Support Development
Policy GEN7 – Nature Conservation
Policy ENV3 – Open Spaces and Trees
Policy ENV4 – Ancient Monuments and Sites of Archaeological Importance
Policy ENV5 – Protection of Agricultural Land
Policy ENV7 – The Protection of the Natural Environment- Designated Sites
Policy ENV10 – Noise Sensitive Development
Policy ENV12 – Protection of Water Resources
Policy ENV13 – Exposure to Poor Air Quality
Policy ENV14 – Contaminated Land
Policy ENV15 – Renewable Energy
Policy H9 – Affordable Housing
Policy H10 - Housing Mix
Policy LC2 – Access to Leisure and Cultural Facilities
Policy LC3 – Community Facilities
Policy LC4 – Provision of Outdoor Sport and Recreational Facilities beyond
Development Limits

Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance
SPD – Accessible Homes and Playspace (2005)
The Essex Design Guide
Parking Standards: Design and Good Practice (2009)
Uttlesford Local Residential Parking Standards (2013)

7.6

Great Dunmow Neighbourhood Plan
The Neighbourhood Plan was made in December 2016. It identifies this site as Policy DS2: TDA
The Existing HRS Site. This Policy identifies the release of this site for 100 residential units if
Helena Romanes’ School relocates to another site.
The following policies of the Neighbourhood Plan are relevant to the proposed development and
have been taken into consideration in the preparation of this application for Reserved Matters.
● DS8: Buildings for Life
● DS9: Hedgerows
● DS10: Eaves Height
● DS11: Rendering, Pargetting and Roofing
● DS12: Integration of Affordable Housing
● DS13: Local Housing Needs.
● LSC1: Landscape, Setting and Character
● NE1: Identified Woodland Sites
● NE2: Wildlife Corridors

[Type here]

Page 13

● NE3: Street Trees on Development Sites
● NE4: Screening
● SOS2: Sporting Infrastructure Requirements
● GA1: Core Footpath and Bridleway Network
● GA2: Integrating Developments (Paths and
Ways)
● GA3: Public Transport
● HEI3: Primary School Provision
The Great Dunmow Town Design Statement (2007-2008) also provides relevant design guidance.
8.

CONSULTATIONS

8.1

This Outline planning application has been subject to recent amendments, and re-consultations
with Statutory and Non-Statutory consultees. This summary of responses below with therefore
generally only deal with the most up-to-date replies, to avoid any confusion. Full details of the
consultation response can be found in Public Access on the Uttlesford DC website.
Local Highway Authority

8.2

Have advised that that from a highway and transportation perspective, the impacts of the proposal
are acceptable to the Highway Authority, subject to conditions and mitigation.

8.3

UDC Housing Enabling Officer
Have advised that I note that it is an enabling application as the intention is to provide a new allthrough school thereby creating an additional primary school in response to the growth of the town
and a new secondary school to replace the current Helena Romanes school. Presumably the
viability assessment has been checked to ensure accuracy and the figure quoted for providing a
new secondary school taken from the tender process is within the ballpark ECC would expect.
From a housing perspective it would be disappointing for a potential new development of around
200 homes not to include any affordable housing provision.
The Housing Officer further advised that the concern regarding this revised application remains the
same as before and is the lack of any affordable housing provision.

8.4

Anglian Water
Foul water: The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Great Dunmow Water
Recycling Centre which currently does not have capacity to treat the flows the development site.
Anglian Water are obligated to accept the foul flows from the development with the benefit of
planning consent and would therefore take the necessary steps to ensure that there is sufficient
treatment capacity should the Planning Authority grant planning permission.
Surface water: The preferred method of surface water disposal would be to a sustainable drainage
system (SuDS) with connection to sewer seen as the last option. Building Regulations (part H) on
Drainage and Waste Disposal for England includes a surface water drainage hierarchy, with
infiltration on site as the preferred disposal option, followed by discharge to watercourse and then
connection to a sewer.

8.5

Environment Agency
No objections, subject to condition relating to the proposed method of disposal of foul water

[Type here]

Page 14

8.6

Essex County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA)

Advise that having reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment and the associated documents which
accompanied the planning application, we do not object to the granting of planning permission,
subject to conditions.
8.7

Uttlesford DC Environmental Health
No objections, subject to planning conditions in respect of noise, contamination, development
demolition and construction impacts.

8.8

BAA Safeguarding
The proposed development has been examined from a technical safeguarding aspect and does not
conflict with our safeguarding criteria, subject to demolition and construction control measures,
together with matters relating to bird strike/ lighting/ solar PVs.

8.9

Sport England
No objection is made subject to the matters set out in the previous response being addressed
through a section 106 agreement and planning conditions.

8.10

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
Advise that a developer contribution will be required to mitigate the impacts of this proposal. West
Essex CCG calculates the level of contribution required, in this instance to be £102,840. Payment
should be made before the development commences. West Essex CCG therefore requests that
this sum be secured through a planning obligation linked to any grant of planning permission, in
the form of a Section 106 planning obligation.

8.11

Essex Police Crime Prevention
Whilst there are no apparent concerns with the layout to comment further, we would require the
finer detail such as the proposed lighting, boundary treatments and physical security measures.

8.12

ECC Minerals and Waste Planning
No objections

8.13

Place Services Ecology
No objection subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures

8.14

Place Services Historic Environment Team
Advise that the proposed would present the harmful urbanisation of the site resulting in several
impacts to the designated heritage assets, especially considering the diurnal, environmental and
seasonal changes. The proposed development would therefore adversely alter the experience,
understanding and appreciation of the listed buildings. The harm to the designated heritage assets
is considered to be ‘less than substantial’ through change in their setting, therefore Paragraph 202
of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) is relevant. This harm would be at the lower end
of the spectrum with exception of Newton Hall and the adjoining cottage which would be towards
the middle of the spectrum. Whilst this harm could never be completely mitigated it could be
lessened through extended buffering and appropriate landscape design.
Whilst I have no objection to the redevelopment of this site with extensive housing, the outline
application and illustrative masterplan does not give the comfort that the maximum possible
mitigation has been given to the heritage assets.

8.15

UDC Landscape Officer
The submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment identifies some 40 trees proposed to be felled.

[Type here]

Page 15

None of the trees indicated to be felled are of a public amenity value worthy of
being made the subject of a tree preservation order. The Landscape Strategy indicates that there
would be a significant net gain in tree cover as part of the proposed development. The illustrative
layout the development shows, for much the greater part, dwellings to the peripheries of the site
outward facing. This is an appropriate design intention, avoiding rear gardens backing on to
wooded areas, and providing a more satisfactory setting. The general disposition of open space is
appropriate. The development would have limited impact on the wider landscape.
8.16

National Trust
Having regard to the evidence and in accordance with the above requirements it is considered that
the impacts of the development on Hatfield Forest should be addressed. New housing development
within the ZOI will contribute further (both individually and cumulatively) towards recreational
pressure on the Forest. Whilst it is acknowledged that this was not an issue when the current Local
Plan was adopted and that the draft new local plan has recently been withdrawn from examination,
there is nonetheless evidence now available which identifies an issue at a SSSI which Natural
England has identified as warranting mitigation.
Based on recommendations set out in the 'Visitor Survey and Impact Management Report', and as
referred to in Natural England's letter, the National Trust is currently working in consultation with
Natural England on a costed mitigation strategy (Strategic Access Management Measures
(SAMM)). The final version of this is currently with Natural England for sign off. This includes a
costed package of mitigation measures. In the meantime, Natural England has requested that
bespoke mitigation packages are negotiated on a case by case basis.
For the proposed development we consider the following mitigation would be appropriate:
On-Site Mitigation
On-site measures which would help relieve the pressure on Hatfield Forest should be provided.
These should take the form of:
- High-quality, informal, semi-natural areas, to be provided prior to first occupation of the dwellings
(Including a dog walking circuit and dogs off lead area);
- Any other on-site mitigation as advised by Natural England.
It is noted that the Ecological Impact Assessment states that a 1.6km walking route will be provided
within the development. However, this is an outline application and the layout of the development
is reserved for later approval. Therefore, there is no mechanism to secure this. Furthermore, this
alone would not mitigate the impacts of increased recreational pressure on Hatfield Forest arising
from the development. Hatfield Forest offers other visitor experiences which could not be replicated
on a new site. It is used for a range of recreational activities including jogging, cycling, wildlife
watching, family outings and photography. It also includes visitor infrastructure such as a café,
toilet, shop and education building. This makes it vulnerable to current and future demand. Even if
on-site mitigation is proposed, it is considered that there will still be a residual recreational impact
on Hatfield Forest which needs to be mitigated.
Off-Site Mitigation
- A financial contribution to the National Trust for use at Hatfield Forest towards visitor and
botanical monitoring and mitigation works. As an indication of some costs, the Mitigation Strategy
sets out that independent Visitor Surveys will take place every 5 years at a cost of £30,900, annual
Impact Surveys will take place at a cost of £2522 and soil compaction analysis will take place
annually at a cost of £3090.
Although the National Trust's Mitigation Strategy is currently awaiting sign off, it provides up to date
information and costed measures which can help identify mitigation which the developer is
requested to provide by a statutory authority and to fulfil the legal requirement of the LPA.

8.17

Great Dunmow Town Council
Please note our previous submission, where we support the redevelopment of the site with
housing in principle and that the indicative layout and house types are broadly supported but this
application reserves all these matters except access. Please note our comments on the

[Type here]

Page 16

applicant’s updated documents.
Reserved Matters
The indicative plan for flats to the height of the existing secondary school building and other
aspects of the parameter plan are not supported and should be dealt with in a detailed
application.
We ask the planning authority to include a planning condition to require collaborative work on a
masterplan for the reserved matters application, which will include evidence for the parameter plan
prior to the detailed application being presented for decision by the planning authority.
Affordable Housing
This application site is allocated for development in our Neighbourhood Plan by Policy DS2,
which was for a minimum of 100 homes if this site is no longer required for educational use.
This proposal has increased the number of homes from 100 to 200 homes, to support costs of the
new school and this is supported by the Town Council as the policy acknowledges that the
development should part-fund the construction of a new secondary school. However, the
perception expressed in the Neighbourhood Plan is that the new school would be larger than the
existing one, to accommodate the growth of the town, which has not materialised. In the future,
Great Dunmow residents should be able to use the new all-through school however this will be at
the expense of neighbouring villages and communities who, as the town grows, will be guided to
secondary schools further afield, including Stansted.
Furthermore, the newly approved all-through school and sports village does not fully comply with
the Neighbourhood Plan in that it did not use all the land allocated for that purpose in the
Neighbourhood Plan and the access arrangements were strongly opposed by the Town Council.
The Neighbourhood Plan does not condone an avoidance of UDC’s policy to provide 40%
affordable housing on new developments and does request that adequate financial contributions
are made to mitigate the harm from development. Reference to wording in the withdrawn local plan,
which was not fully examined, is irrelevant and carries no weight.
This 200-home development is intended to financially contribute to the new school development
however viability should not be at the expense of the Town Council or the local community. New
development must address the district shortfall of affordable housing therefore permission should
not be granted unless the applicant can fulfil their affordable housing obligation.
GDNP GA1: Core Footpath and Bridleway Network and GA2: Integrating Developments
Having liaised with Essex Highways, the Town Council supports a planning condition for a new
foot/cycle path, to be adopted by the County Council. This would extend from the Woodlands Park
Sector 4 boundary to the entrance of this development on Parsonage Downs and extending outside
the development site, across the Gt Dunmow Town Council common land to Newton Hall Chase,
and link with PRoWs 79 and 87 as indicated in blue on the Revised Proposed Layout Plan 3615549.
The Town Council reserves the right to specify any surface treatment on the common land on
Parsonage Downs and to seek appropriate permissions from the Secretary of State, if required.
There should be a commuted sum to construct a culvert and footbridge to link with Woodlands
Park Sector 4, to maintain the new path for a 15-year period and to improve the PRoWs 79 and
87 which are shown on the same plan.
GDNP Policy GA3:Public Transport
An appropriate commuted sum should be allocated to Essex Highways for the Gt Dunmow bus
strategy to support services.
8.18

Third Party Representations
Representation were received from neighbouring residents, and the following observations have
been made:


[Type here]

Impact upon the local wildlife and countryside

Page 17












9.
9.1

The Dunmow Neighbourhood Plan envisages 100 dwellings at the site; why is the
application now for 200?
Likely traffic congestion
Noise and pollution impacts
Impact upon the adjoining Conservation Area
The relationship between the development of this site and the new “All-Through School” is
unfair to residents around the old HRS
Profit making exercise for the school
Cumulative impacts of new housing development upon local infrastructure
Development is out of keeping with the established pattern locally
Impact upon heritage
Taller buildings will be visible locally
Restricted access to the Leisure Centre

APPRAISAL
The issues to consider in the determination of this Approval of Reserved Matters application are:
i) Principle of Development
ii) Housing Land Supply
iii) Layout
iv) Affordable Housing
v) Highways
vi) Heritage
vii) Ecology and Trees
viii) Environmental Health
ix) Flooding
x) Infrastructure Provision to support the development
xi) Other Material Considerations – Part 2 Item - Viability
Principle of development

9.2

The development of the site needs to be considered and assessed against the current Local Plan
and the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF). The application site comprises 10.8
hectares of land and is located within the open countryside on the edge of Great Dunmow, albeit
on the site of an existing School. The site is outside the development limits of Great Dunmow as
defined by the Proposals Map and is therefore located within the countryside where ULP Policy S7
applies. This states that the countryside will be protected for its own sake and that planning
permission will only be given for development that needs to take place there or is appropriate to
the rural area, with development only being permitted if its appearance protects or enhances the
particular character of the part of the countryside within which it is set or there are special reasons
why the development in the form proposed needs to be there.

9.3

The Council’s Review of the adopted policies of the Local Plan found Policy S7 to be partly consistent
with the NPPF but that while the NPPF takes a positive approach, rather than a protective, Policy
S7 is still compatible with the aims of the NPPF in protecting the countryside.

9.4

This application is supported with the submission of a Landscape & Visual Impact Appraisal (LVIA).
The LVIA assesses the impact the proposed development would have on the landscape and
countryside. A number of viewpoints have been duly assessed. The site is judged to be of medium
landscape sensitivity and of medium landscape value and the LVIA concludes that the proposed
development is considered as having a slight to substantial/ moderate local landscape and visual
affects, these are limited to few visual receptors, and these are expected to become more enclosed
when vegetation is in leaf. If mitigation recommendations are followed, an increase in boundary
cover will be a net biodiversity gain and provide further screening of the proposals.

9.5

The Uttlesford DC Landscape Officer advises that the development would have limited impact on
the wider landscape.

[Type here]

Page 18

9.6

The proposal is therefore considered to be consistent with the provisions of Policy S7 of the adopted
Uttlesford Local Plan 2005, and Policy LSC1 of the Made Great Dunmow Neighbourhood Plan –
December 2016.
Housing Land Supply

9.7

9.8

9.9

The NPPF describes the importance of maintaining a five-year supply of deliverable housing
sites. The Council’s housing land supply currently falls short of this and is only able to
demonstrate a supply of 3.11years (Five Year Housing Land Supply update April 2020).
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF considers the presumption of sustainable development, this includes
where there are no relevant development plan policies, or where policies which are most
important for determining the application are out-of-date. This includes where the five-year
housing supply cannot be delivered. As the council is currently unable to demonstrate a five-year
housing land supply, increased weight should be given to housing delivery when considering the
planning balance in the determination of planning applications, in line with the presumption in
favour of sustainable development set out in the NPPF (paragraph 11).
The provision of 200 residential units represents a significant proportion of the annual housing
supply based on the district. In this respect the proposal would make a valuable contribution
to housing supply within the District.
Layout

9.10

As advised, the illustrative layout has been informed by site specific opportunities and constraints,
local character and built form and by good urban design principles.

9.11

The balance of the open space is designed as natural and seminatural space, where a variety of
landscape types such as new native woodland, scrub and an array of species-rich grassland knit
together to assist in mitigating against the ecological impact of the development on the adjoining
wildlife sites, particularly adjacent to Graces Wood to the northeast and Fredericks Spring to the
northwest, while the interior open spaces are more amenity led, containing focal play spaces and
shorter-mown grassland.

9.12

Large, open swathes of grassland predominate the western half of the open space, where a
multitude of surfaced and mown footpaths intersect one another to create a mosaic of sward
heights. To the northern half of the open space, a mix of landscape typologies can be found befitting
of the semi-natural nature of the space, with the inclusion of the SuDS drainage basins, as required
to fulfil the site-wide drainage requirement, with again a variety of species-rich wildflower and
tussock grassland meadows. These features have been softened and enhanced through careful
placement of structural thicket, tree and aquatic plug planting to maximise their biodiversity benefit,
whilst still maintaining an important drainage function.

9.13 In terms of the play and recreation strategy, these proposals seek to create a landmark play area to
act as a play hub for the residents. The play area has been designed so as to provide a range of
exciting and imaginative play opportunities for a wide range of ages and to create an inclusive play
environment. It will provide congenial play for all residents catering for a wide range of abilities.
The play area caters for a range of ages from 18 months to18 years overall and has been designed
to provide play opportunity across the site. The play area offers a range of stimulating and
challenging experiences such as balancing, climbing, sliding, swinging, rotating, hanging for both
older and younger children. Natural play elements like mounds, boulders and tree trunks form an
essential part of the overall experience and enable more imaginative play. Safety surfacing of
rubber bark mulch and grass matting is proposed to integrate with the varied play environment and
natural setting.
9.14

Overall, the proposals provide a high quality multi-functional open space, which will serve a range
of requirements from toddlers to adults, whilst also providing a range of recreational opportunities,
and this arrangement is considered acceptable to the Local Planning Authority. The proposals are
therefore considered to be consistent with the provisions of Policies ENV3 and LC4 of the adopted
Uttlesford Local Plan 2005, and Policy LSC1 of the Great Dunmow Neighbourhood Plan.
[Type here]

Page 19

9.15

Matters relating to the Heritage Impacts of the layout are dealt with elsewhere within this Report.
Affordable Housing

9.16

As advised by the Uttlesford DC Housing Enabling Officer, and Great Dunmow Town Council, the
proposed development does not provide for any affordable housing, contrary to the implementation
of Policy H9 of the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005, Policy DS12 &13 of the Made Great
Dunmow Neighbourhood Plan, and guidance contained within the NPPF.

9.17

The applicant has sought to justify this omission within its submitted Development Viability
Assessment (DVA); Uttlesford DC have instructed independent assessors to review the DVA, and
this can be found within the Part 2 Item to this Report.

9.18 However, and in conclusion, the Local Planning Authority are of the view that the proposal is contrary
to the implementation of Policy H9 of the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005, Policy DS12 &13 of
the Made Great Dunmow Neighbourhood Plan – December 2016, and guidance contained within
the NPPF.
Highways
9.19

As advised by Essex County Council as Local Highway Authority, from a highway and transportation
perspective the impact of the proposal is acceptable to the Highway Authority, subject to the
following mitigation and conditions. The proposed conditions relate to matters to include the
following:








9.20

The proposed mitigation measures identified are:







9.21

[Type here]

Construction Management Plan
Access provision, to include visibility splays
Provision of bus stops
Footway connectivity
Appropriate parking provision for cars and cycles
The Developer shall be responsible for the provision and implementation of a
Residential Travel Information Pack per dwelling, for sustainable transport,
approved by Essex County Council, to include six one day travel vouchers for use
with the relevant local public transport operator.

Contribution of £42,667 to be paid to the highway authority to carry out works to mitigate
the impact of additional use of the public rights of ways and pedestrian network and
improve accessibility on foot or cycle to and in the vicinity of the site (but not the within
it).
A financial contribution of £365,000 (indexed from the date of this recommendation)
to be paid to the highway authority, in order contribute to funding a strategy that will
enhance bus services between the development and the town centre; local
amenities and/or key towns improving the frequency, quality and/or geographical
cover of bus routes servicing the site.
The Developer shall submit a residential travel plan to the Local Planning Authority for
approval in consultation with Essex County Council. Such approved travel plan shall
then be actively implemented by a travel plan co-ordinator for a minimum period from
first occupation of the development until 1 year after final occupation. It shall be
accompanied by an annual monitoring fee of £1533 (index linked) to be paid to Essex
County Council

These suggested conditions and mitigation measures are consistent with the provisions of Policy
GEN1 of the Adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005, and Policy GA1, GA2 & GA3 of the Made Great
Dunmow Neighbourhood Plan – December 2016.

Page 20

Heritage
9.22

As advised, the Place Services Historic Environment Team have raised concerns over the impacts
of the proposed outline planning application upon Heritage Assets locally, and in this regard advise
the following:

The site affected by this application is the grounds associated to Helena Romanes
School, it is bounded to the south by Newton Hall Chase Lane, Newton Hall to the west,
the backs of properties along Parsonage Downs to the east and Graces Wood to the
north. This application has the potential to affect several heritage assets including the
Great Dunmow Conservation Area which bounds the site from the northeast to the
south, the other asset’s affected are:









Newton Hall, Grade II listed (list entry number: 1054926)
Cottage adjoining Newton Hall to eat, Grade II listed (list entry number:
1098286)
Pink Cottage, Grade II listed (list entry number: 1087883)
Friars, Grade II listed (list entry number: 1049053)
5 Parsonage Downs, Grade II listed (list entry number: 1087884)
Burntwood Cottage, Grade II listed (list entry number: 1087885)
21 Parsonage Downs, Grade II listed (list entry number: 1051088) Herb of
Grace, Grade II listed (list entry number: 1334874)
29-31 Parsonage Downs, Grade II listed (list entry number: 1051063).

The proposed includes up to 200 dwellings, densely infilling the site. The setting of the
buildings above will be affected by the development, the existing site positively
contributes to their setting and significance through being undeveloped land which
preserves their sense of tranquillity and isolation. In particular, the setting of Newton
Hall and The Cottage adjoining Newton Hall which faces the proposed site will be
impacted by the proposed. Whilst visually the proposed will be intrusive, other factors
such as light pollution, noise pollution and general disturbance must be taken into
consideration for all of the above.
The proposed would, I feel, present the harmful urbanisation of the site resulting in
several impacts to the designated heritage assets, especially considering the diurnal,
environmental and seasonal changes. The proposed development would therefore
adversely alter the experience, understanding and appreciation of the listed buildings.
The harm to the designated heritage assets is considered to be ‘less than substantial’
through change in their setting, therefore Paragraph 202 of the National Planning Policy
Framework (2021) is relevant. This harm would be at the lower end of the spectrum
with exception of Newton Hall and the adjoining cottage which would be towards the
middle of the spectrum. Whilst this harm could never be completely mitigated it could
be lessened through extended buffering and appropriate landscape design.
Whilst I have no objection to the redevelopment of this site with extensive housing, the
outline application and illustrative masterplan does not give the comfort that the
maximum possible mitigation has been given to the heritage assets.
9.23

[Type here]

On the basis of the above advice, the proposed development is contrary to the implementation of
Policy ENV2 of the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005, Bullet Point 5 of Policy DS2: TDA: The
Existing HRS Site of the Made Great Dunmow Neighbourhood Plan – December 2016, and the
NPPF.

Page 21

Ecology and Trees
9.24

As previously advised, no objection to the scheme has been raised by the Place Services Ecology
Team, subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures.

9.25

Further, the Uttlesford DC Landscape Officer advised that the submitted Arboricultural Impact
Assessment identifies some 40 trees proposed to be felled. None of the trees indicated to be felled
are of a public amenity value worthy of being made the subject of a tree preservation order. The
Landscape Strategy indicates that there would be a significant net gain in tree cover as part of the
proposed development. The illustrative layout the development shows, for much the greater part,
dwellings to the peripheries of the site outward facing. This is an appropriate design intention,
avoiding rear gardens backing on to wooded areas, and providing a more satisfactory setting

9.26

The proposal is therefore consistent with Policy ENV3 and GEN7 of the adopted Uttlesford Local
Plan 2005, Policy LSC1, NE1 & NE2 of the Made Great Dunmow Neighbourhood Plan – December
2016, and the NPPF.
Environmental Health

9.27

As advised, the Uttlesford DC Environmental Health had no objections to the application, subject
to planning conditions in respect of noise, contamination, development demolition and construction
impacts. The application is therefore consistent with provisions of Policy GEN2, ENV11 & ENV14
of the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005
Flooding and Drainage

9.28

As advised, neither Anglian Water nor the Environment Agency have any objections to the proposal,
subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions. Further, Essex County Council as Lead Local
Flood Authority do not object to the granting of planning permission, subject to conditions. The
application is therefore consistent with provisions of Policy GEN3, and ENV12 of the adopted
Uttlesford Local Plan 2005
Infrastructure Provision to support the development

9.29

Policy GEN6 of the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 advises that development will not be
permitted unless it makes appropriate provision for infrastructure to serve its residents. In this
instance, the following mitigation is required:






9.30

Health Care Provision
Hatfield Forest mitigation
Bus Transport Strategy
Residential Travel Plans
Footpath Improvements

Given that the application is being recommended for refusal, the application is considered contrary
to the implementation of Policy GEN6 of the Local Plan.

Consideration of reports containing exempt information within the meaning of
section 1001 and paragraphs 3 (information relating to financial affairs etc.) part 1
Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972
This can be found in the Appendices to this Report.

[Type here]

Page 22

10.
10.1

CONCLUSION
The submitted would cause conflict with the development plan, the Made Great Dunmow
Neighbourhood Plan – December 2016, and the National Planning Policy Framework 2021, and
this indicates that the application should be refused. Further, the scheme does not have the
support of Great Dunmow Town Council.

10.2 It is therefore recommended that the application should be refused for the following reasons:
RECOMMENDATION – REFUSE

1. The proposed development fails to deliver appropriate infrastructure in order to mitigate any impacts
and support the delivery of the proposed development. The proposal is therefore considered contrary
to the implementation of Policies GEN6 - Infrastructure Provision to Support Development - and
Policy H9 - Affordable Housing - of the Adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005, and the National Planning
Policy Framework 2021.
2. The proposed would present the harmful urbanisation of the site resulting in several impacts to the
designated heritage assets, especially considering the diurnal, environmental and seasonal
changes. The proposed development would therefore adversely alter the experience, understanding
and appreciation of the listed buildings. The harm to the designated heritage assets is considered to
be ‘less than substantial’ through change in their setting, therefore Paragraph 202 of the National
Planning Policy Framework (2021) is relevant. This harm would be at the lower end of the spectrum
with exception of Newton Hall and the adjoining cottage which would be towards the middle of the
spectrum. The proposal is therefore considered contrary to the implementation of Policy ENV2 of the
Adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005, and the National Planning Policy Framework 2021.

[Type here]

Page 23

[Type here]

Page 24

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 25

Agenda Item 4
UTT/21/2465/DFO (Saffron Walden)
(Major Application)
PROPOSAL:

Details following outline approval UTT/17/3426/OP (approved
under appeal APP/C1570/W/19/3227368) for extra care housing
(Use Class C2) together with associated infrastructure including
road, drainage and access - details of appearance, landscaping,
layout and scale.

LOCATION:

Land South Of Radwinter Road, Saffron Walden, Essex

APPLICANT:

McCarthy and Stone Retirement Lifestyles Ltd

AGENT:

The Planning Bureau

EXPIRY DATE:

3rd November 2021

CASE OFFICER:

Chris Tyler

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Outside Development Limits

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The application site is roughly a rectangular parcel of land which sits between
Tesco’s to the west and Wild Hedges located to the west of the site. To the south of
the site is the residential development of Portsmouth Close, which forms part of the
wider Linden Homes development. The application site has main road frontage
facing Radwinter Road and main access from Leverette Way.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

This application considers the details following outline approval UTT/17/3426/OP
(approved under appeal APP/C1570/W/19/3227368) for extra care housing (Use
Class C2) together with associated infrastructure including road, drainage and
access - details of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale.

3.2

This revised scheme proposes to overcome the previously refused scheme that was
refused due to the following reason:
The proposed development is unacceptable by reason of its design, scale,
appearance and siting of the apartment block that will result in the introduction of a
intrusive and dominating feature that will have a harmful impact to the character of
the site, street-scene and surrounding area. This is contrary to ULP Policy GEN2 and
the NPPF.

3.3

In response to this, the design has been revisited to follow a traditional appearance,
using pitched roofs of varying heights to break up the mass of the building and
therefore reduce the apparent scale. The apartment block has a mix of 3 storey and
2.5 storey elements to achieve the variation in height and roofline.

Page 28

3.4

The proposal for a total of 72 units of specialised ‘extra care’ accommodation units
and includes:
33 x 1 bed apartments,
23 x 2 bed apartments,
7 x 1 bed bungalows,
9 x 2 bed bungalows.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

Town and Country Planning (Environmental Assessment):
The proposal has been previously screened and is not a Schedule 1 development,
nor does it exceed the threshold criteria of Schedule 2, and therefore an
Environmental Assessment is not required.
And
Human Rights Act considerations:
There may be implications under Article 1 and Article 8 of the First Protocol
regarding the right of respect for a person’s private and family life and home, and
to the peaceful enjoyment of possessions; however, these issues have been
taken into account in the determination of this application

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

The applicant has provided an extensive number of documents in support of the
planning application to illustrate the process that has led to the development
proposal and to explain and justify the proposal in a structured way. Also included
with the application:














Transport Statement,
Travel Plan,
Tree Survey,
Planning Statement,
Noise Impact Statement,
Landscape Design Statement,
Foul and Surface Water Strategy,
Energy and Sustainability Statement,
Design and Access Statement,
Sustainability Policy Statement,
Habitat Report,
Ecology Briefing Note,
Energy and Sustainability Statement.

5.2

The application provides two elements of built form, an apartment block and a
grouping of bungalows. Both are to be provided on the same basis of extra care,
that McCarthy and Stone provide under their ‘Retirement Living Plus’ product. This
will provide high quality accommodation within a community with 24/7 staff presence
and care tailored to suit the individual needs of residents.

5.3

The apartment block is a 3-storey building, located at the northern parcel of the site.
The building forms an ‘L-shape’ that addresses Radwinter Road, and turns within the
site to also address the access road at the east of the site. The outline application
parameter plan noted 2.5 / 3 storey with a pitched roof, therefore the proposals fall

Page 29

within this site parameter constraints.
5.4

External walls will be predominantly red brick with coloured rendered sections. The
roof will be pitched with tile finish. The windows will be grey uPVC with window and
doors to the communal areas being grey aluminium to match. Balconies will have
glass in fills with grey metal work to match the windows.

5.6

The bungalows are located at the southern parcel of the site where the ground level
is higher, hence the lower building height allows a reduction in the physical impact of
the development where the ground level is higher. The bungalows are formed in a
‘U-shaped’ layout that compliments to the layout of the apartment building to form a
central focus for the development based around large landscaped communal garden
areas.

5.7

The bungalows will have access to small rear gardens as well as a central courtyard.
Ground floor apartments will have access to a terrace, with some upper floor
apartments having access to balconies. There is also a large communal garden and
terrace. The rear gardens to the bungalows will have close boarded fence to the
boundaries, with much of the site having estate railings to the boundary.

5.8

The proposed scheme is a Class C2 use by nature of the care provision it provides
to residents. The McCarthy and Stone ‘Extra Care’ Accommodation is aimed at
providing independent living for the frail elderly, with day to day care in the form of
assistance and domiciliary care tailored to the owners’ individual needs. It provides
purpose built, specifically designed accommodation in a safe and secure
environment including companionship whilst allowing an independent lifestyle.
Safety, security and companionship reduces anxieties and maintains health and
general well-being. It also provides a form of housing which meets better the on-set
and increasing problems of mobility/frailty while maintaining an independent lifestyle.

5.9

Extra Care has been developed over the last 25 years and can take a variety of
forms in both the public and the private sector from purpose-built blocks of flats to
bungalows with the provision of some care. Extra Care has been developed across
all tenures. Public Sector provision remains the vast majority of UK Extra Care
developments. McCarthy & Stone is now the Country’s leading provider of market
Extra Care accommodation with over 100 such developments aimed at the majority
of older people who are homeowners who neither should, nor wish to place
additional burden on public provision to meet their housing and care needs in later
life. In this respect too, the need to meet the needs of all older people is critical – the
effects of loneliness, social isolation and not being able to access care has no
barriers across the social spectrum.

5.10

Extra Care is at the forefront of the Government’s strategy to address the housing
and care needs of the rapidly ageing UK population. It is a concept which has
evolved over time as policy, which requires a range of solutions across the social
spectrum and provision has developed. It is complimentary to the Government’s
aspiration to allow people to live in their own homes for as long as possible. Whilst
the June 2019 PPG amendment introduces a definition, the widely accepted
definition in care terms dates from 2009.

5.11

A type of specialised housing that provides independence and choice to adults with
varying care needs and enables them to remain in their own home. Extra Care
Housing should be able to provide most residents if they so desire, with a home for
the remainder of their life regardless of changes in their care needs. Services are
provided in a purpose-built, housing environment with care and support delivered to

Page 30

meet the individual resident’s needs. This type of housing provides 24-hour support,
meals, domestic help, leisure and recreation facilities and a genuinely safe
environment to its residents. The approach of the extra care use is that the residents
can live in their own homes for as long as possible, maintaining the sense of
independence and wellbeing that comes with that but with the help and care they
need to be able to do so.
6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

UTT/20/2175/DFO
Details following outline approval UTT/17/3426/OP (approved under appeal
APP/C1570/W/19/3227368) for extra care housing (use class C2) together with
associated infrastructure including road, drainage and access - details of
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale.
REFUSED- 16/4/2021
The proposed development is unacceptable by reason of its design, scale,
appearance and siting of the apartment block that will result in the introduction of a
intrusive and dominating feature that will have a harmful impact to the character of
the site, street-scene and surrounding area. This is contrary to ULP Policy GEN2 and
the NPPF.

6.2

UTT/17/3426/OP
Outline application, with all matters reserved except for access, for Extra Care
Housing (Use Class C2) together with associated infrastructure including road,
drainage and access.
REFUSED- 12/3/2019 for the following reasons;
The applicant has failed to complete the necessary Section 106 Obligation and has
therefore failed to secure the following important contributions to infrastructure and
the
necessary safeguards to mitigate the impacts of this development and its cumulative
impact in consideration of UTT/17/3429/OP and UTT/13/3467/OP;
(i) Education contribution and securing provision of 1.2ha of land for the provision of
primary school
(ii) Provision of open space and Transfer of open space
(iii) Financial contribution towards NHS Healthcare Facilities
(iv) Carrying out of highway works required by the Essex Highways Assessment
(v) Financial contribution towards highway works and public transport
(vi) A financial contribution towards the implementation/construction of the Wenden
Road cycle path link scheme
(vii) Contribution to District Council to provide and enhance sport and recreation
facilities
(viii) Contribution towards the maintenance of open space for 20 years
(ix) Provision of 40% affordable housing
(x) Travel Plan and monitoring fee
The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy H9, GEN1, GEN2 and GEN6 of the
Uttlesford Local Plan adopted 2005, and the NPPF.
APPEAL ALLOWED -29/11/2019

6.3

UTT/13/3467/OP
Outline planning application for either a residential development of up to 230
dwellings; Class B1 Business floorspace, extra care housing within Class C2,
provision of public open space or for development of up to 200 dwellings, Class B1

Page 31

Business floorspace, extra care housing within Class C2, provision of public open
space, provision of land for a one form entry primary school; together with associated
infrastructure including roads, drainage, access details from Radwinter Road and
Shire Hill, with all matters reserved except access
Approved subject to conditions and S106 Agreement 26th May 2015
7.

POLICIES

7.1

National Policies
National Planning Policy Framework (2019)

7.2

Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)
- S7 – The Countryside
- GEN1 – Access
- GEN2 – Design
- GEN3 – Flood Protection
- GEN4 – Good Neighbourliness
- GEN5 – Light Pollution
- GEN6 – Infrastructure Provision to Support Development
- GEN7 – Nature Conservation
- GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards
- ENV11– Noise Generators
- ENV13 – Exposure to poor air quality
- H9 – Affordable Housing
- H10 – Housing Mix

7.3

Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance
Uttlesford Local Residential Parking Standards (2013)
Essex County Council parking Standards (2006)
Essex Design Guide
Uttlesford Interim Climate Change Policy (2021)

8.

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

No objections raised.

9.0

CONSULTATIONS
The Highways Authority

9.1

From a highway and transportation perspective the impact of the proposal is
acceptable subject to the imposition of conditions, including:
Construction management plan,
Provision of parking spaces,
Provision of cycle and buggy spaces,
Residential Travel Pack
Ecology

9.2

No Objections subject to the imposition of conditions for biodiversity mitigation and

Page 32

enhancement measures.
Natural England
9.3

No objections.
Environmental Health

9.4

No objections subject to the imposition of condition for noise insulation and
contamination
Essex Police

9.5

No objections.
National Air Traffic

9.6

No objection.
Anglian Water

9.7

No objection.
UDC Housing Enabling Officer

9.8

No comments

10

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

It is noted the proposed scheme has been revised during the application to provided
amended external materials and enhanced landscaping. As such the all statutory
consultees and neighbours have been re-consulted.
2 letters of objections have been received, comments include:
Highways impacts,
Disruption during the construction period,
Lack of pedestrian crossing on Radwinter Road,
Lack of affordable housing, school provision and GP/ Dental,
Loss of a green space,
Loss of views,

Comments of in support of the developing the site will approve the visual appearance
of the area.
10.2

All material planning matters will be considered in the follow report, however it is
advised this application considers the details of details of appearance, landscaping,
layout and scale as the outline planning permission for the development has been
established under application UTT/17/3426/OP and UTT/13/3467/OP.

11

APPRAISAL
The issues to be considered in the determination of this application are:

A

The principle of the development of this site for residential (ULP Policy S7 and

Page 33

B
C
D
E
F
G
H
I

the NPPF)
Character and appearance (S7, GEN2 and the NPPF)
Amenity (GEN2, GEN4, GEN5, ENV11, NPPF)
Landscaping (ULP Policies S7, GEN2 and the NPPF)
Whether the proposed access and parking arrangements would be appropriate
(ULP Policies GEN1 and GEN8)
Nature Conservation (ULP Policy GEN7)
Affordable Housing, Education Contributions, Housing Mix (ULP Policies H9,
H10, GEN6)
Flood Risk and drainage (ULP Policy GEN3; NPPF)
Climate Change (UDC Interim Climate Change Policy 2021)

A

The principle of the development of this site for residential (ULP Policy S7 and
the NPPF)

11.1

The principle of the development of the care home has been established through the
outline planning permission UTT/13/3467/OP and UTT/17/3426/OP also subsequent
allowed appeal for all matters reserved except access, for Extra Care Housing (Use
Class C2) together with associated infrastructure including road, drainage and
access. Although an objection has been raised in regards to the loss of the site this
has already been established in the outline planning permission.

11.2

The proposal accords with the approved use of extra care housing (Use Class C2),
the applicant has provided a great level of information to demonstrate this and
clarifies that extra care use includes:








Purpose-built, accessible building design that promotes independent living
Fully self-contained properties where occupants have their own front doors,
and tenancies or leases which give them security of tenure and the right to
control who enters their home
Office for use by staff serving the scheme and sometimes the wider
community
Some communal spaces and facilities
Access to care and support services 24 hours a day
Community alarms and other assistive technologies
Safety and security often built into the design with fob or person-controlled
entry

The Extra Care concept therefore comprises self-contained accommodation and
further promotes independent living through care being readily available to help
people remain in their own home environment. This approach also fully accords with
the changed emphasis of government in the Care Act 2014 which seeks to transform
the provision of adult social care with a new emphasis on wellbeing, prevention &
integration.
11.3

Taking into consideration the extant 2017 outline planning permission and the
demonstrated use of the development this is in line with the approved principle of
development, in accordance with ULP Policy S7 and the NPPF.

B

Character and appearance (S7, GEN2 and the NPPF)

11.4

With regards to the character and appearance of the development, ULP Policy GEN2
seeks quality design ensuing that the development is compatible with the scale form

Page 34

and layout, appearance and materials of the area. The Policy aims to protect the
amenity value of the area it is set in seeking high quality design. The development
includes two elements of built form, an apartment block and grouping of bungalows.
11.5

The apartment block is a 3-storey building, located at the northern parcel of the site.
The building forms an ‘L-shape’ that addresses Radwinter Road, and turns within the
site to also address the access road at the east of the site. The outline application
parameter plan noted 2.5 / 3 storey with a pitched roof, therefore the proposals fall
within the approved outline planning consent constraint.

11.6

The apartment block will be front facing Radwinter Road. The building will inevitably
result in the introduction of a large mass of built form, however this part of the site is
at a lower site level set a significant distance from the residential properties to the
rear of the site. It is recognised the appearance of the building will be evident when
approaching the site along Radwinter Road, however as demonstrated on the
submitted scene street plans this would only be apparent on when in immediate
proximity to the application site.

11.7

The revised external appearance of the apartment block will include traditional
appearance, using pitched roofs windows of varying heights to break up the mass of
the building. A variety of dormer window styles will be included in the apartment
block, the mix in character will contribute to the overall block appearance of the
building and therefore reduce the apparent scale. The apartment block has a mix of
3 storey and 2.5 storey elements to achieve the variation in height and roofline. The
proposed apartment building will be set back further within the site and will include
significant landscaping to the front and along Radwinter Road to help soften and
enhance the appearance of the building. The apartment block will include external
materials of brick and rendered walls under a tiled roof.

11.8

The bungalows are located at the southern parcel of the site where the ground level
is higher, hence the lower building height allows a reduction in the physical impact of
the development where the ground level is much higher. The bungalows are formed
in a ‘U-shaped’ layout that compliments the layout of the apartment building to form a
central focus for the development based around a large landscaped communal
garden area. The external materials of the bungalows include brick facing walls
include buff brick and cladding facing walls under a pitched tiled roof.

11.9

The layout of the development will include private amenity space provided to each of
the bungalows and a shared communal space located within the centre of the site.
This is considered an appropriate level of communal amenity space within the site for
both residents and visitors and in accordance with the aims of the Essex Design
Guide.

11.10

A condition is recommended for the submission of details of materials prior to the
commencement of the development. Taking into account the assessment of the
proposed development it is considered the revised appearance, scale and layout of
the proposed care home is appropriate and in the context of the site and surrounding
area and is considered to resolve the refusal reason of planning application
UTT/20/2175/DFO and therefore in accordance with ULP Policies S7, GEN2 and the
NPPF.

C

Amenity (GEN2, GEN4, GEN5, ENV11, NPPF)

11.11

Due consideration should be made to the layout of the site and whether it will have
any harmful impact to the amenity of neighbouring properties. It is noted a number of

Page 35

objections have been received in regards to amenity impact and due consideration is
made to this. To the south of the site is the residential areas of Portsmouth Close
and Fairfax Drive however there is significant distance between the main apartment
block and surrounding neighbouring dwelling to not cause a significant if any loss of
daylight or over shadowing. Furthermore, there would be no harmful overbearing
effects or disturbance from vehicle movements.
11.12

The distance between the application site and neighbouring residential properties will
be significant, also due to the bungalow design of the properties at the rear of the
site it is considered the proposal will not result in any harmful impact from loss of
privacy or overlooking. It is concluded that the proposal accords with the above
policies insofar as they relate to amenity, subject to the use of a condition to secure
full details of any external lighting.

11.13

In regards to noise, the application includes a Noise Impact Statement which
identifies the noise created by the development. The Council’s Environmental Health
Officer has been consulted and does not make any objection to the proposal subject
to conditions for the submission of a noise insulation scheme. Taking into account
the comments of the Environmental Health Officer and imposition of conditions it is
considered that there would be no unacceptable significant impacts on the amenity
of neighbouring residents from noise.

D

Landscaping (ULP Policies S7, GEN2 and the NPPF)

11.14

This reserve matters application provides details of landscaping. The application
includes the following within the landscape scheme;






1.1m black railing estate fence,
Shrub planting,
Native hedge planting,
Tree planting,
Communal gardens and terrace area

11.15

The existing site is an open plot of land that does not include any significant
landscaping features albeit the site does include some hedgerow screening to the
north and west boundary of the site. The enhancement of the landscape features
has ensured a sensitive approach to the development allowing the proposals to be
integrated within its setting and although visually prominent the landscaping will allow
to soften and mitigate any visually harmful impact. The Council’s Landscape Officer
has been consulted in regards to the proposal, no objections or further
recommendation have been made. As such it is considered the proposed
landscaping scheme is appropriate and in accordance with ULP Policies ULP
Policies S7, GEN2 and GEN7 and the NPPF.

E

Whether the proposed access and parking arrangements would be appropriate
(ULP Policies GEN1 and GEN8)

11.16

Local Plan Policy GEN1 seeks sustainable modes of transport which is reflected
within the NPPF. Local plan policy GEN1 advised development will only be
permitted if it meets the following criteria:
a) Access to the main road network must be capable of carrying the traffic
generated by the development safely.
b) The traffic generated by the development must be capable of being

Page 36

accommodated on the surrounding transport networks.
c) The design of the site must not compromise road safety and must take
account of the needs of other users of their highway.
d) It must be designed to meet the needs of people with disabilities
e) The development encourages movement by other means other than driving
car
11.17

The site is accessed from the existing bell-mouth junction off Leveret Way which is
located 70m south of the junction with Radwinter Road. The site is bound by
Radwinter Road to the north, Leveret Way to the east and south. The application
includes a Transport Statement setting out the site accessibility including road and
pedestrian networks.

11.18

Taking into account the comments of the Highway Authority, it is considered that the
proposal would not have an adverse effect on highway safety or its efficiency. In
particular. The level of parking provision has been assessed and found to be
sufficient, in combination with relatively good sustainable transport options, to
prevent unacceptable impacts on highway safety from on-street parking. It is
therefore concluded that the proposal accords with the above transport policies.

11.19

The Highway Authority have recommended staff and resident travel plans to be
secured prior to the occupation of the development. The travel plan is to minimise
the impact of travel on the environment, and can help to reduce emissions of
greenhouse gases, improve local air quality, minimise health risks and reduce
congestion. Encouraging staff and residents to carry out their everyday activities in a
more sustainable manner can also contribute to improvements in the local
environment. The implementation of the travel plan and monitoring fee was secured
by conditions and legal agreement in the outline planning permission allowed by
appeal.

11.20

The Transport Statement has assessed the anticipated trip generation from the care
home, and concludes that the increase in peak hour vehicle trips due to the
proposed development would be negligible and would not have a material effect on
the operation of the surrounding highway network. The proposed development is
anticipated to generate 11 fewer trips in the AM peak and 7 fewer trips in the PM
peak than the consented care home and therefore the proposals are anticipated to
lead to a betterment to the operation of the local road network. This is nonetheless
in accordance with what has been approved as part of the outline planning
permission.

11.21

ULP Policy GEN8 requires parking provision to be in accordance with current
adopted standards. The most relevant parking standard is Class C2 Residential Care
Home which is set out within ECC’s ‘Parking Standards Design and Good Practice.

11.22

The standards advise that residential care homes should include 1 space per full
time equivalent staff + 1 visitor space per 3 beds. The total number of beds spaces is
95, together with 15 full time staff this will calculate to a requirement of 47 parking
spaces in total. 58 parking spaces are provided and therefore it is considered the
development meets the maximum vehicle criteria as set out in the Essex County
Council Parking Standards 2009.

11.23

A Travel Plan would be adopted by the operator with measures implemented from
the first opening, this will encourage staff to walk, cycle, car share an use public
transport to get to work. On the basis of this information the proposed parking
provision would be satisfactory to meet the likely parking demand. This would

Page 37

contain all development related parking within the site and not result in overspill
parking on the local roads, in accordance with Local Plan Policy GEN8 and ECC
Parking Standards (2009). No objections have been raised by Highways as a result
of this.
F

Nature Conservation (ULP Policy GEN7)

11.24

Policy GEN7 seeks to ensure that development would not have a harmful effect on
wildlife and Biodiversity. The previously approved outline planning application
(UTT/17/3426/OP) included significant details of ecology, protected species and
habitat. This current reserved matters application includes a subsequent updated
ecology appraisal which has been assessed by the Council’s Ecology Consultant.
No objection have been made subject to conditions, as such it is considered the
proposed development will not have a harmful impact on protected species or
biodiversity and is in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 and the National Planning
Policy Framework.

G

Affordable Housing, NHS Contributions, (ULP Policies H9, GEN6)

11.25

The proposed development relates to a reserved matters application extra care
home, as such there is no requirement for affordable housing to be provided, this has
been confirmed by the Council’s Housing Enabling Officer.

11.26

The West Essex Clinical Commission Group have requested a developer
contribution of £22,230 to mitigate the impacts of this proposal. It is confirmed this
was secured by Legal Agreement as part of the outline planning permission for the
wider development under planning application UTT/13/3467/OP.

H

Flood Risk and drainage (ULP Policy GEN3; NPPF)

11.27

Policy GEN3 requires development outside flood risk areas to not increase the risk of
flooding through surface water run-off. The NPPF requires development to be
steered towards areas with the lowest probability of flooding. The site is not in an
area that is identified as at risk of flooding. However, the proposal is a ‘major
development’ so it would be necessary to include a Sustainable Drainage System
(SuDS) as an integral part of the design.

11.28

The application includes a foul and surface water strategy, no objections or further
recommendations have been received from statutory consultees however in being
consistent with the previous refused planning application (UTT/20/2175/DFO) the
proposal did not result in any objections raised or further required conditions. As
such it is considered the proposed revised scheme will include appropriate drainage
and will not give rise to an increase in flooding and in accordance with ULP Policy
GEN3.

I

Climate Change and Renewable Energy (UDC Interim Climate Change Policy
2021)

11.29

Following the recently adopted UDC Interim Climate Change Policy 2021 due
consideration should be made by developer to demonstrate the path that their
proposals take towards achieving net – zero carbon by 2030, and all the ways their
proposal is working towards this in response to planning law, and also to the
guidance set out in the NPPF and Planning Policy Guidance. The applicant has
included an Energy and Sustainability Statement demonstrating how the proposal
accords with this policy.

Page 38

11.30

The conclusion of the energy strategy is that the development significantly reduces
the building’s CO2 emissions when compared to the baseline target, through a
combination of passive measures, building fabric design improvements and the
installation of high efficiency heating and hot water services and the addition of 58.25
kWp of photovoltaic panels.

11.31

The location of the site is part of a planned sustainable urban extension to Saffron
Walden, the site will have undergone extensive assessment to ensure the most
suitable and sustainable location for growth, as per the approved outlined planning
permission. The minimising of carbon emissions through the development itself are
demonstrated in the following paragraphs.

11.32

The proposal takes into consideration the existing landscape working with the
existing topography of the site to avoid regrading of the site and the need to export
land from the site, this limits the impacts on climate change.

11.33

The drainage solution adopted for the site make suitable provision to ensure no
detriment to local water supply. The units are designed to achieve average water
consumption.

11.34

The building utilises an all-electric scheme for heating, ventilation and kitchen supply,
therefore no emission will be omitted from the site to ensure there is no detriment to
local air quality.

11.35

The proposed landscaping scheme includes extensive planting of native trees,
shrubs and areas of open grassland as well as extensive hedgerow planting which
provides a net gain. In biodiversity terms there is a significant net gain in habitat
provided in the proposed landscape scheme.

11.36

The nature of the development focuses on two main elements, offering a means to
retain an element of independence, to achieve this an element of higher density is
required in order to realise the objectives of creating a community and the
economies for the provision of care. In design terms the site layout has been
designed to link the bungalows and apartments together and also outside of the site.

11.37

The overall energy strategy through the combination of a fabric first approach,
sustainable design and the use of on-site generation will ensure the proposed
development at Radwinter Road, Saffron Walden achieves a reduction in CO2 and
predicted energy against the developments residual case.

11.38

The development has been designed to improve daylight habitable spaces to
improve the health and welling being of residents. Heat loss will be mitigated through
good construction detailing providing adequately sealing and techniques to minimise
the amount of air infiltration’s the buildings will include mechanical ventilation with
heat recovery and low energy lighting.

11.39

All materials are to be sources as locally as possible to reduce carbon cost of
transport. While contractors will be encouraged to manage recycling and waste
efficiently the developer is committed to a policy framework for waste management.

11.40

In promoting sustainable travel, the development will provide appropriate storage for
cycle and motorises scooters. The development is located within a sustainable
location in terms of being close to local amenities and transport links which will also
be supported by a travel plan.

Page 39

11.41

Electric charging points are provided for each of the bungalows and 20% of the
unallocated parking spaces. The provision also includes ducting for future
installation. The proposed development therefore accords with policy in this respect.

12

CONCLUSION

A

The principle of the development of the care home has been established through the
outline planning permission UTT/17/3426/OP and subsequent allowed appeal for all
matters reserved except access, for Extra Care Housing (Use Class C2) together
with associated infrastructure including road, drainage and access.

B

The proposed scheme would provide the mix of extra care housing sought under
paragraphs 60 and 61 of the NPPF to meet the needs of an older generation and
people care requirements. The proposed use of the site would make more effected
use of the large plot and although not part of a key employment site will provide
significant economic growth. There is a need for a care facility of which the need will
grow further over the coming years. The development accords with ULP Policies S7,
GEN2 and the NPPF.

C

The revised layout, scale, appearance and landscaping of the development is
considered appropriate. The size of amenity areas and parking provisions are
acceptable. The development accords with ULP Policies S7, GEN2, GEN8 and the
NPPF.

D

The layout, scale and siting of the proposal is not considered to have any harmful
impact to the residential amenity of neighbouring properties in terms of loss of
privacy, overlooking, overbearing, light pollution, noise and disturbance. The
development is in accordance with ULP Policies (GEN2, GEN4, GEN5, ENV11,
NPPF)

E

The proposal would not be harmful to protect/priority species subject to conditions
and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7 and the NPPF.

F

The proposal will not give rise to flooding and is in accordance with ULP Policy
GEN3

G

Due consideration has been made to the UDC Interim Climate Change Policy 2021
and ULP policy ENV15 and how the developer has demonstrated the path that their
proposals take towards achieving net – zero carbon by 2030.

H

The applicant has been consulted on all ‘pre-commencement’ conditions, in
accordance with The Town and Country Planning (Pre-commencement
Conditions) Regulations 2018.

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL WITH CONDITIONS
Conditions
1

No development shall take place, including any ground works until a Construction
Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local
planning authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the
construction period. The Plan shall provide for:

Page 40

i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials
iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
iv. wheel and underbody cleaning facilities
v. Routing of construction vehicles
REASON: To ensure that on-street parking of these vehicles in the adjoining streets
does not occur and to ensure that loose materials and spoil are not brought out onto
the highway in the interests of highway safety and Policy DM1 of the Highway
Authority’s Development Management Policies February 2011 and in accordance
with ULP Policy GEN1.
2

The proposed development shall not be occupied until such time as the vehicle
parking area indicated on the submitted drawing LSE-2686-02-AC-001 Rev C and
LSE -2686-03-AC-210 Rev D, including any parking spaces for the mobility impaired,
has been hard surfaced, sealed and marked out in parking bays. The vehicle parking
area, including the number of unallocated spaces, and associated turning area shall
be retained in this form at all times. The vehicle parking shall not be used for any
purpose other than the parking of vehicles that are related to the use of the
development unless otherwise agreed with the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure that on street parking of vehicles in the adjoining streets does
not occur in the interests of highway safety and that appropriate parking is provided
in accordance with Policy DM8 of the Development Management Policies as adopted
as County Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011 and in accordance
with ULP Policy GEN1 and GEN8.

3

The cycle and buggy parking facilities as shown on the approved plans LSE-267203-AC-211 D and LSE-2672-03-AC-220 C shall to be provided prior to the first
occupation of the development and retained at all times thereafter.
REASON: To ensure appropriate bicycle parking is provided In accordance with
Policy DM8 of the Development Management Policies as adopted as County Council
Supplementary Guidance in February 2011 and in accordance with ULP Policy
GEN1.

4

Prior to the commencement of the development above slab level a Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy for protected and Priority species shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and should include integrated
bird and bat boxes.
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures
including the installation of bird and bat boxes;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) timetable for implementation;
e) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
f) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to
occupation and shall be retained in that manner thereafter.
REASON: To enhance protected and Priority species & habitats and allow the LPA
to discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &

Page 41

species) and in accordance with ULP Policy GEN7.
5

Prior to the commencement development hereby approved a detailed Phase 3
remediation scheme shall be submitted for approval in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. This scheme shall detail measures to be taken to mitigate any risks to
human health, groundwater and the wider environment. Any works which form part of
the Phase 3 scheme approved by the local authority shall be completed in full before
any permitted building is occupied.
REASON: To ensure that no future contamination investigation is required under
Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and in accordance with ULP Policy
ENV14

6

Prior to the occupation of the of the development hereby approved the effectiveness
of any remediation scheme shall be demonstrated to the Local Planning Authority by
means of a validation report submitted to the Council and approved in writing (to
incorporate photographs, material transport tickets and validation sampling), unless
an alternative period is approved in writing by the Authority. Any such validation
should include responses to any unexpected contamination discovered during works.
REASON: To ensure that no future contamination investigation is required under
Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and in accordance with ULP Policy
ENV14

7

The development hereby approved shall be in accordance with noise assessment
submitted (Cass Allen RP01-20226) and shall achieve internal noise levels
recommended in British Standard 8233:2014 and BS4142:2014. Sound Insulation
and noise reduction for buildings.
REASON: To protect the amenity of the resident of the development from noise
impact and in accordance with ULP Policies ENV11 and GEN4..

8

Prior to commencement of works above slab level, details of the following external
finishes (including samples and/or photographs as appropriate) must be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority:
- Walls
- Roof
- Windows
- Doors
The development must be carried out in accordance with the approved details shall
not be changed without prior written approval from the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure compatibility with the character of the area, in accordance with
Policy GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and the National Planning
Policy Framework.

9

The proposed electric vehicle charging points including a single charging point for
each of the bungalows and charging points for 20% of the unallocated parking
spaces shall be provided, fully wired and connected, ready to use before first
occupation of the development. The provision of ducting for future installation shall
also be included.
REASON: The requirement of the charging points are required to mitigate the harm

Page 42

for poor air quality due to the increase in vehicle movement and being within and in
accordance with ULP ENV13 the adopted Interim Climate Change Policy 2021 and
the NPPF.
10

Prior to slab level of the development hereby approved details of the solar panels to
be included on the bungalows and apartment shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. Thereafter the development shall be
implemented in accordance with the approved details.
REASON: These measures are required to identify suitable areas for renewable and
low carbon energy sources, and supporting infrastructure in accordance with the
NPPF and the adopted Interim Climate Change Policy 2021.

11

The landscaping shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details shown on
drawing no. MCS22845-21 and tree protection plan 1444-KC-XX-YTREE-TPP01
REVB otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
REASON: To ensure compatibility with the character of the area, in accordance with
Policy GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and the National Planning
Policy Framework.

12

Prior to occupation of the proposed development, the Developer shall be responsible
for the provision and implementation of a Residential Travel Information Pack per
independent dwelling, for sustainable transport, approved by Essex County Council.
REASON: In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting
sustainable development and transport in accordance with policies DM9 and DM10
of the Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted as County
Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011 and in accordance with ULP
Policy GEN1.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey
0100018688
Organisation: Uttlesford District Council
Department:

Planning

Date:

14th September 2021

Page 43

Agenda Item 5
UTT/20/3415/FUL (SAFFRON WALDEN)
(UDC Application)
PROPOSAL:

Proposed Single Storey & Two Storey Extensions, Erection of New
Boundary Wall & Railings, Alterations to Existing Access and Parking,
Part Demolition of 1980s Extension to Remove Link to Sheltered
Housing Scheme, Including Associated Repairs and Landscape
Works

LOCATION:

Walden Place, Freshwell Street, Saffron Walden, Essex. CB10 1DQ

APPLICANT:

Uttlesford District Council

AGENT:

Design Partnership (Ely) Ltd

EXPIRY DATE:

10.06.2021 (extension of time)

CASE OFFICER:

Maria Shoesmith

1

NOTATION

1.1

Listed Buildings / Area 3 of Saffron Walden conservation area / trees protected by
Conservation area and proximity to listed buildings / Section of Protected open space
– Walden Place / Archaeology important area

2.
2.1

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE
The site lies between Freshwell Street to the west and Myddylton Place to the north
east, in the western part of the historic core of Saffron Walden. Walden House is a
mid 18th century building with a 1980s extension, currently in use as residential
sheltered accommodation. See Fig: 1.

Fig: 1 - Site location plan and aerial photograph of site.
2.2

The buildings concerned are set in extensive landscaped grounds, within a protected
open space area and located in Zone 3 of the Saffron Walden Conservation area.

Page 44

Fig: 3 – Saffron Walden Conservation
Area

Fig: 2 - Protected Open Space area
(Hatched)
2.3

The group of buildings within Walden Place also includes a listed building; Walden
House, which is Grade II, and is described as:
Walden Place
4.2.1 TL5338 MYDDYLTON PLACE 669-1/1/313 (West side) 28/11/51
Walden Place GV II
Large house, now divided up for retirement apartments and sheltered
accommodation. Mid C18, with some C19 refenestration, C20 division. Red
brick, some stucco dressings, clay tiled roof, plan rectangular but with C20
wing projecting on NW corner. 3 storeys and cellars. Front, S elevation: 5
bays, parapet with recessed panels and stucco cornice. Central doorway
approached by steps, Doric style, with pediment, triglyph frieze and fluted flat
pilasters. Within, rusticated stucco door-case. Door with 8 panels, all now
glazed. All windows have rubbed brick voussoirs that are shaped to central
keystone form. All are sashes with glazing bars, ground floor, 3x5 panes, first
floor 3x4, second floor 3x2. Central windows have moulded stucco
architraves, first floor `eared', second floor `shouldered' plus keystone, both
have consoles below sills. Roof concealed by parapet but comprises 3 hipped
runs parallel to frontage. Stacks at E and W ends. Rear N elevation: 5 window
range, somewhat irregular. External stack to W. Windows all sashes with
glazing bars, rubbed brick voussoirs, ground floor two 3x4 panes, first floor
five 3x4 panes, second floor three 3x2 panes. C20 addition, ground floor, W
end. W side elevation: 4 storeys (includes side of cellars) 4 bays, ground and
first floor windows, sashes in house style 3x4 panes, second floor 3x2 panes.
2 windows on first floor blind with glazing painted in. Cellar, 2 windows
blocked one now with louvres, C20 louvred door. E side elevation: 3 storeys,
3 window range, windows somewhat irregular in house style. Ground floor,
two 2x4 panes, one 3x4. First floor, round headed stair window 3x4 panes
plus radial glazing, window either side in `Venetian' style 2x4 panes, second
floor, two 2x2 panes, one 3x2 panes. Roof system seen with stack to
S.INTERIOR: open string original dogleg stair, 3 turned balusters per tread,
turned newel posts, wreathed handrail. Original C18 dogleg back stair, closed
string, turned balusters. Round arched entry to passageway at base of
principal staircase, moulded with shell decorated keystone. A number of

Page 45

heavy panelled doors survive, also 2 ceilings with plastered cornices, one
reeded with roundels, other with oak leaf and acorn decoration. Cellars
have brick floors.
2.4

The area more widely has an extensive number of listed buildings as shown in yellow
on Fig: 4.

Fig: 4 Listed Buildings in the immediate area (highlighted in yellow)
2.5

There are a number of trees in and around the site which are protected by either the
conservation area or their proximity to the setting of the listed building, see Fig; 5.

Fig: 5 – Existing site layout with trees and landscaping shown

Page 46

Fig: 6a – Photograph of Walden Place looking north.

Fig 6b – This shows the relationship of Walden place and the ground level difference
2.5

The site plan above, Fig: 5, shows some of the existing 1980’s extension, which
appears to follow the proportions of the old gardens of Walden Place. There is also a
single storey link to the rear of Walden Place. It is worth noting that the modern
1980’s extensions sit at a lower ground level than Walden Place which helps reduce
the impact of the existing structures in relation to the listed building.

3.
3.1

THE PROPOSAL
The application seeks planning permission for a proposed single storey and a two
storey extension to create additional accommodation; erection of a new boundary
wall and railings together with alterations to the existing access and parking. The
scheme also includes for part demolition of the existing 1980s extension to remove a
link to the existing sheltered housing scheme and includes associated repairs and
landscape works, as shown on Fig: 7.

Page 47

Location of extensions

.
Fig: 7 – illustrates the construction of the two new extensions.
3.2

The proposed single storey extension would be outside of the protected open space
area, but the proposed two storey extension and adjoining sun lounge will slightly
encroach on to it. It should be noted that the protected open space area does not
make allowance for existing amenity areas associated with Walden Place, including,
access, parking, and defensible garden spaces on the southern boundary.

3.3

The first of the proposed extensions is a single storey structure which will sit in the
location of the existing planted banking on the east side of the courtyard garden and
will be cut into the ground. A new wall will also be constructed on the eastern side of
the extension to create a new boundary to Walden Place. Due to the difference in
ground level, very little of the extension will be visible from the public domain.

3.4

The second extension will be added to the southern wing of the 1980s sheltered
scheme and will consist of a two- storey structure to the end of the building following
the same building line and roofline, with a smaller structure on the north side of the
building. On the southern side of the building a single storey sun lounge will be
added. This will see the conversion of an existing apartment into a common lounge
which will be extended on the side of the building. There will also be a guest
bedroom, office, WC on the ground floor. The extension will allow for a new
staircase and lift that will allowing better accessibility.

3.5

Where the existing link to Walden House is removed, a new boundary wall will be
constructed together with a new fire escape staircase for emergency use.

3.6

It is proposed to create a terrace to the south of the communal lounge that will
overlook the public open space. This will largely follow the existing contours of the
site which are slightly raised at this point. The edge of the terrace would be
delineated with soft landscaping without fencing.

3.7

The scheme also seeks to define areas of amenity space and parking for Walden
House to compliment future conversion. The conversion works will however be left to
the future purchaser and this does not fall part of the planning application as such.

Page 48

3.8

To the rear of Walden House (North side) the existing lean-to extension will be
removed, and remedial works carried out to paving and retaining walls sufficient to
secure the building and make weather tight.

3.9

To the south of Walden Place a new enclosed formal garden is proposed. The
western boundary would to which will be formed with a new brick wall above the
abutting extension. The southern and eastern boundaries would be formed with new
railings and retaining wall. It is envisaged that the space could be laid out as a formal
garden with gravelled paths, clipped hedges and trees providing a shared amenity
space for residential use. These proposals only include works to form the
boundaries, the detailed scheme is left to a future purchaser of Walden House, Fig: 8
illustrates the proposals for the future of Walden House.

Fig: 8 – Illustrative scheme for the future of Walden House
3.10

The existing communal entrance to Walden Place is hidden behind the rear of the
building, accessed through a gateway in the boundary wall. It is therefore not
immediately obvious to visitors. The courtyard is also open which makes it possible
to access the scheme via the adjacent public open space. Whilst there are security
locks in place, the current layout is not optimum for crime prevention. The proposals
seek to address this by closing off the semi-public through-route, behind Walden
Place and moving the entrance to a more visible location at the south of the building,
providing greater opportunity for natural surveillance.

Page 49

3.11

The existing vehicular access is via Myddylton Place on the northern walled
boundary. The existing opening through the boundary wall is a little narrow and off
centre which makes access for larger vehicles difficult. It is therefore proposed to
move the opening slightly to the west and widen it. This will assist the construction
works but also future maintenance and potentially fire appliance access. The area of
wall affected has previously been rebuilt and therefore the works would not involve
the loss of historic fabric in this respect. The informal parking area to the east will be
rationalised in association with moving the access.

3.12

An existing pollarded Lime tree would be removed as part of the access alterations.
Justification of this tree removal is detailed in the tree report which will be discussed
below.

3.13

The proposals include alterations to the driveway and parking to the east and south
of Walden Place. Providing a drop off zone and turning area to the new communal
entrance. The line of the proposed surfacing follows the existing driveway causing no
significant loss of green space or impact to existing trees. An existing Yew tree that is
growing against the building will be removed as part of these works.

3.14

There is an existing footpath running through the site that is open to the public,
linking Park Lane to the High Street via Myddylton Place. This appears well used and
clearly has public amenity value. The proposals include a slight re-alinement of the
footpaths route to move it away from the proposed extension.

3.15

It should be noted that whilst the planning submission highlights the likely uses for
Walden House and possible ways of subdividing the building for future use when it is
sold off it does not form part of this planning application. Nonetheless, an additional
6 car parking spaces have been created in addition to cater for any future use of the
main house.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMNENT

4.1

The proposal is not EIA development and an environmental assessment is not
required to assess the environmental impacts of the development whereby the site
does not fall within a “sensitive area”.

5.

APPLICANTS CASE

5.1

The proposed development would allow the creation of two additional sheltered flats
plus provide a new Resident’s Communal Lounge plus a new plant room, Manager’s
office, and lift. The development is required in order to allow the conversion of
Walden House into private flats. Walden House requires a significant work and up
keep which has become unviable and a drain on the public purse. In order to
overcome this and for the long term benefit of the preservation of the listed building
its conversion to allow it to be later sold would enable this and to build the
accommodation required to compensate for the loss of the conversion of the main
house.

5.2

The extensions proposed will sit lower than Walden House due to ground level
differences which also ensures that the setting of this Grade II listed Building is not
detracted from.

5.3

“Walden House is currently in reasonable repair but is starting to need refurbishment
to preserve the long-term integrity of the structure. There have been several

Page 50

unsympathetic interventions over the recent history of the building, the most obvious
being the conversion to a sheltered housing scheme and addition of the 1980s
extension. Clearly this cannot be completely reversed as it provides valuable housing
for elderly residents in the community. The cost of refurbishment works will need to
be substantial to ensure that the work is carried out in a sympathetic and correct way,
therefore a new use is required that can support these costs.
5.4

It is clear, the best option for Walden House, with exception of demolishing the
extension and reverting it back to a single dwelling which can probably be discounted
due to practicality, the listed house should be separated from the sheltered scheme.
This must be achieved with minimal loss of dwellings to retain the viability of the
sheltered scheme. It is therefore necessary to replace some of the lost
accommodation.

5.5

These proposals have been pared back to the absolute minimum to replace two of
the three existing flats plus the communal accommodation whilst also providing
better access for residents. Whilst there is a small encroachment into an important
protected open space, the extent of this only extends to an area that is already under
tarmac.

5.6

The scale of the proposals is subordinate to the listed building and set outside of
existing sight lines of the building. The setting of the listed building is therefore
preserved. The appearance of the extension is deliberately understated and reflects
the character of the modern sheltered scheme. It is felt that this is an appropriate
response to the site and avoids the introduction of a third, potentially competing
element into the historic setting.

5.7

In this context it is felt the proposed extensions will have only a slight impact on
Walden House, but this can be mitigated and offset by facilitating further
development and refurbishment.

5.8

The proposals will involve sufficient works to separate the listed house from the
sheltered scheme, including the demolition of the lean-to link, erection on new
boundaries treatments to create a private garden, and the laying out of new parking.
The remaining conversion works will be left to a future purchaser.”

6.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

6.1

The below are various application relating to the main house;






6.2

LB/UTT/0785/77/CA – Demolition of outbuildings to the north of Walden Place
LB/UTT/1016/80/CA - Increase overall width of approved footpath entrance
gateway into Freshwell Street from 4'0" to 6'0" including partial demolition of
listed wall
UTT/0092/77/LB/CA - Conversion of existing house and erection of new
buildings to form elderly persons complex
UTT/0490/92 - Detailed application for the construction of a bandstand
UTT/1062/97/LB - Installation of three wall- mounted floodlights to illuminate
car park and provision of replacement light

The main relevant history is the parallel Listed Building application UTT/20/3416/LB Part demolition of existing extensions to sheltered scheme from listed building,
including alterations to access, listed wall, existing parking and driveways. Addition of

Page 51

new boundary wall, railings, fire escape stairs, landscaping works and temporary
repair works to listed building associated with the demolition of rear extension.
7.

PLANNING POLICY
National Policy
National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
National Design Framework



















Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)
ULP Policy S1 – Settlement boundaries for the Main Urban Areas
ULP Policy GEN1 – Access
ULP Policy GEN2 – Design
ULP Policy GEN3 – Flood protection
ULP Policy GEN4 – Good Neighbourliness
ULP Policy GEN5 – Light Pollution
ULP Policy GEN6 – Infrastructure Provision to Support Development
ULP Policy GEN7 - Nature Conservation
ULP Policy GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards
ULP Policy H9 - Affordable Housing
ULP Policy H10 - Housing Mix
ULP Policy ENV1 - Design of development within the conservation area
ULP Policy ENV2 - Development affecting Listed Buildings.
ULP Policy ENV3 - Open Space and Trees
ULP Policy ENV12 - Protection of Water Resources
ULP Policy ENV13 - Exposure to poor air quality
ULP Policy ENV14 - Contaminated land
ULP Policy ENV15 - Renewable Energy

Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance








Supplementary Planning Document- Accessible homes and play space homes
Uttlesford Local Residential Parking Standards (2013)
Essex Design Guide
ECC Parking Standards – “Design and Good Practice” (September 2009)
Saffron Walden Neighbourhood Plan
The emerging Neighbourhood Plan is at an early still stage in its preparation
and therefore, carries limited weight. In the context of the application site, the
emerging Neighbourhood Plan notes that the site is not allocated for development
being within an area identified for amenity and open space and within the Saffron
Walden conservation area Zone 6.
Interim Climate Change Policy (2021)

8.

SAFFRON WALDEN TOWN COUNCIL
No comment

9.

CONSULTATIONS

9.1

Environmental Health
The development site is outside aircraft noise and other transportation noise
significance contour plots. The site is inside the Air Quality Management Zone and a

Page 52

AQ report has been submitted by Aether Ltd ref AQ_assessment/2020/ Walden
Place dated 13th November 2020. The report concludes;
The results of the assessment indicate that annual mean NO2 concentrations are
below the objective in the base year scenario. Concentrations of particulate matter
(PM10) are also predicted to be below the annual mean objective in the base year
scenario. Based on the evidence it is estimated that there will be no exceedances of
either short term objective for NO2 or PM10. The future scenario predicts that NO2
and PM10 concentrations to change by < 0.1 μg/m3. Therefore, no mitigation is
required as the air quality objectives are predicted to be met. Instead, other
measures such as installing electric charging points, should be considered to reduce
the emissions arising from the development.
I have no objection to the methodology of the report or outcome and recommend the
AQ condition below. It is therefore considered that the development will not
negatively impact neighbouring properties, and I have no in principle objections to the
application subject to the following condition being applied to any consent granted.
Proposed Condition- Air Quality
Provide an electric vehicle charge point at any garage or allocated parking space
associated with a dwelling.
REASON: To support the use of low emission vehicles
9.2

Ecology
We have reviewed the documents supplied by the applicant, relating to the likely
impacts of development on Protected & Priority habitats and species, identification of
proportionate mitigation. We are not satisfied that there is sufficient ecological
information available for determination of this application. The Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal (Applied Ecology, November 2020) recommends that “in line with best
practice guidance, the two building sections identified as being of low bat roost
suitability should each be subject to a single manual bat activity survey during the
main bat activity survey period of May–August”.
The results of these surveys are necessary, prior to determination as paragraph 99 of
the ODPM Circular 2005 highlights that: “It is essential that the presence or otherwise
of protected species, and the extent that they may be affected by the proposed
development, is established before the planning permission is granted, otherwise all
relevant material considerations may not have been addressed in making the
decision.”
This is needed to enable the LPA to demonstrate its compliance with its statutory
duties including its biodiversity duty under s40 NERC Act 2006.

Further comments received 17.08.2021 following the submission of
additional information;
No objection subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
measures
We have reviewed the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Applied Ecology, November
2020), Magic Maps (https://magic.defra.gov.uk) and aerial photographs relating to the
likely impacts of development on designated sites, protected and Priority species and
habitats. We have also reviewed the newly submitted Bat Activity Survey (Applied
Ecology Ltd, August 2021). The Bat Activity Survey (Applied Ecology Ltd, August
2021) advises the proposal to extend and renovate the care home is considered

Page 53

highly unlikely to result in the disturbance and loss of bat roosts and can be
completed without restriction in relation to bats. The bat activity survey findings
remain valid for 12 months from the date of the survey (29 June 2021). A pair of
swifts were confirmed to be nesting in the apex of the east facing clock tower gable
during the survey, with the adult birds leaving and returning to the nest on a couple of
occasions during the survey and calls being heard from the nest. Therefore, the Bat
Activity Survey (Applied Ecology Ltd, August 2021) has recommended that six swift
nest bricks and/or boxes are provided as a biodiversity enhancement measure given
the confirmed presence of this species within the Site and the opportunity the new
build provides to cater for this species. We support this recommendation which will
provide new habitat for this declining species.
We are satisfied that there is sufficient ecological information available for
determination. This provides certainty for the LPA of the likely impacts on protected
and Priority species & habitats and, with appropriate mitigation measures secured,
the development can be made acceptable.
In addition, a Wildlife Sensitive Lighting Strategy should be delivered for this scheme
to avoid impacts to foraging and commuting bats. This must follow the Guidance
Note 8 Bats and artificial lighting (The Institute of Lighting Professionals & Bat
Conservation Trust, 2018). In summary, it is highlighted that the following measures
should be implemented for the lighting design, which could be informed by a
professional ecologist:
• Light levels should be as low as possible as required to fulfil the lighting need.
• Movement sensors and timers could be used to minimise the ‘lit time’.
We also support the proposed reasonable biodiversity enhancements, which have
been recommended to secure measurable net gains for biodiversity, as outlined
under Paragraph 174 [d] of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021. This
includes six swift nest bricks and/or boxes. The reasonable biodiversity enhancement
measures should be outlined within a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy and should
be secured.
This will enable LPA to demonstrate its compliance with its statutory duties including
its biodiversity duty under s40 NERC Act 2006.
Impacts will be minimised such that the proposal is acceptable subject to the
conditions below based on BS42020:2013.
Submission for approval and implementation of the details below should be a
condition of any planning consent.
Recommended conditions:
1. ACTION REQUIRED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ECOLOGICAL APPRAISAL
RECOMMENDATIONS
“All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in
accordance with the details contained in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
(Applied Ecology, November 2020) and the Bat Activity Survey (Applied Ecology Ltd,
August 2021) as already submitted with the planning application and agreed in
principle with the local planning authority prior to determination.”
Reason: To conserve and enhance protected and Priority species and allow the LPA
to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations

Page 54

2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the
NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).
2. PRIOR TO SLAB LEVEL: BIODIVERSITY ENHANCEMENT STRATEGY
“A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority following the recommendations made within the Bat
Activity Survey (Applied Ecology Ltd, August 2021).
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance.
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall
be retained in that manner thereafter.”
Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).
3. PRIOR TO BENEFICIARY USE: WILDLIFE SENSITIVE LIGHTING DESIGN
SCHEME
“A lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall identify those features on
site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause disturbance
along important routes used for foraging; and show how and where external lighting
will be installed so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not
disturb or prevent bats using their territory.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the
scheme. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting be installed
without prior consent from the local planning authority.”
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats
and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as
amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species)

9.3

ECC Highways
From a highway and transportation perspective the impact of the proposal is
acceptable to the Highway Authority, as shown in principle on DWG no. UDC655-P07 (Site Plan – Proposed), subject to the following measures:
1. No unbound material shall be used in the surface treatment of the vehicular
access within 6 metres of the highway boundary. Reason: To avoid displacement of
loose material onto the highway in the interests of highway safety.
The above conditions are required to ensure that the development accords
with the Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted as
County Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011 and Uttlesford
Local Plan Policy GEN1.

Page 55

9.4

ECC Historic Buildings and Conservation Advice
Built Heritage Advice pertaining to an application for the part demolition of existing
extensions to sheltered scheme from listed building, including alterations to access,
listed wall, existing parking and driveways. Addition of new boundary wall, railings,
fire escape stairs, landscaping works and temporary repair works to listed building
associated with the demolition of rear extension.
The building affected by this application, Walden Place, is Grade II listed. It is a large
mid-eighteenth-century house with later alterations and additions (list entry number:
1196232). Walden Place is enclosed by walls such as the Wall to the east side of the
Garden of Walden Place (list entry number: 1025113) and Garden Wall to number
five, also to the east, which are Grade II listed (list entry number: 1280442). The
western wall is also Grade II listed, Garden Wall of Walden Place (list entry number:
1196172). The application site is located within the Saffron Walden Conservation
Area and within the vicinity of several listed buildings.
There is no objection to the demolition and removal of the 1980s extension to
Walden Place, and there is no in principle objection to the single storey extension
adjacent to the listed building. The form of the proposed single storey extension and
its low ridge height is considered acceptable. However, the abutment of the single
storey extension to the listed building appears unnecessary and the inclusion of four
rooflights upon the north facing roof slope of the extension should be located facing
towards the courtyard, so that a blank roof slope is facing the listed building. I
consider there to be a more sympathetic approach with regards to the location of the
proposed building, which does not abut the listed building.
With regards to the two-storey extension to the existing flats, I do not consider the
proposals to preserve the setting of the listed building. The existing building allows
views of the listed building from within the adjacent open verdant space, particularly
from the south west. The proposed two-storey extension would adversely impact this,
thus detracting from the experience and appreciation of the listed building.
Furthermore, I consider the quantity of glazing to be excessive, in particular the
prominent roof lanterns are considered incongruous. The proposed fails, in my
opinion, to make a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness as per
Paragraph 192.c of the NPPF (2019).
I have no objection to the creation of a private garden, the creation of a new
boundary wall and railings subject to details being confirmed. Were this application to
be approved, I recommend a full hard and soft landscaping scheme is submitted prior
to implementation.
I am unable to support this application. The proposals would, in my opinion, fail to
preserve the special interest of the listed building, contrary to Section 66(1) of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, through inappropriate
development in its setting. With regards to the NPPF (2019), the level of harm is
considered less than substantial, Paragraph 196 being relevant.

9.5

UK Power Network
Should the excavation affect our Extra High Voltage equipment (6.6 KV, 22 KV, 33
KV or 132 KV), please contact us to obtain a copy of the primary route drawings and
associated cross sections.

Page 56

9.6

ECC Archaeology
No objections subject to conditions.

9.7

Landscape Officer
There are a number of trees which would be required to be felled to accommodate
the proposed development. There are potentially 11 trees, consisting of holly, lime,
box, yew, spruce, and maple that would need to be removed. None of these trees are
considered to be of sufficient public amenity value worthy of being made the subject
of a tree preservation order. Any approval should be subject to a condition requiring a
detailed scheme of landscaping, including tree planting, to be submitted for approval.
I concur with Place Services’ historic building and conservation advice in respect of
the proposals.

10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

The planning application has been advertise on site and in the local press.
Neighbouring occupiers have also been notified of the application of which the
following points were raised;




















11.

There is no access from Freshwell Street just Myddylton Place
The junction from Myddylton Place to High Street is very busy and narrow with Listed
Buildings either side and as that a condition is place to restrict size of construction
vehicles from accessing it same with the use of Myddylton Place as there are no
pavements.
More cars using narrow lane
Highways & Pedestrian safety
Construction works would affect stability of older buildings through vibration.
Air and noise pollution
Lack of clear notification of application everyone was not directly notified
Site should be visited
Demolishing part of listed wall will do nothing in terms of improving the highway
situation on Myddylton Place
One parking space on Myddylton Place will be lost
Over development of historic area should restrict ay future development after this
development
Access could also be provided from Park Lane but measure to avoid rat run
From the description unable to envisage what is proposed more information is
required
Do not object to the principle of the development but there is concern regarding
damage to buildings
The application site is not Freshwell Street as it is accessed from Myddylton Place
Construction Method Statement must be submitted
Trees should be protected during the works
New driveway contains pinch points where two vehicle can not pass
APPRAISAL
The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:
A
B
C

Principle
Design & Conservation
Amenity

Page 57

D
E
F
G
H

Ecology & Trees
Highways
Flooding
Infrastructure
Other Considerations

A

Principle

11.1

Local Plan Policy S1 for Development limits for the Main Urban Areas states “The
development limits of the existing main urban areas and proposed urban extensions
for Great Dunmow, Saffron Walden and Stansted Mountfitchet are defined on the
Proposals Map. The following development will be permitted within these boundaries:
•

Major urban extensions, if in accordance with this Plan;

•

Development within the existing built up areas, if compatible with the
character of the settlement and, in addition, for sites on the edge of
the built up area, its countryside setting.”

11.2

National Planning Policy Framework states that housing applications should be
considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development.
The sustainability of the proposed development is not at question regarding the
location of this scheme and the nature of the proposed development especially being
located within the core of Saffron Walden.

11.3

Local Plan Policy S1 states that development within development limits area
acceptable subject to its according with other aspect of the local plan, the proposed
scheme is therefore acceptable in principle in this respect.

B

Design & Conservation

11.4

Local Plan Policy GEN2 states that "Development will not be permitted unless its
design meets all the following criteria and has regard to adopted Supplementary
Design Guidance and Supplementary Planning Documents.
a) It is compatible with the scale, form, layout, appearance and materials of
surrounding buildings;
b) It safeguards important environmental features in its setting, enabling their
retention and helping to reduce the visual impact of new buildings or structures
where appropriate;
c) It provides an environment, which meets the reasonable needs of all potential
users.
d) It helps to reduce the potential for crime;
e) It helps to minimise water and energy consumption;
f) It has regard to guidance on layout and design adopted as supplementary planning
guidance to the development plan.

Page 58

g) It helps to reduce waste production and encourages recycling and reuse.
h) It minimises the environmental impact on neighbouring properties by appropriate
mitigating measures.
i) It would not have a materially adverse effect on the reasonable occupation and
enjoyment of a residential or other sensitive property, as a result of loss of privacy,
loss of daylight, overbearing impact or overshadowing"
11.5

The NPPF states that high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all
existing and future occupants of land and buildings should be secured.

11.6

Local Plan Policy ENV2 for Listed Buildings states the following;
“Development affecting a listed building should be in keeping with its scale, character
and surroundings. Demolition of a listed building, or development proposals that
adversely affect the setting, and alterations that impair the special characteristics of a
listed building will not be permitted. In cases where planning permission might not
normally be granted for the conversion of listed buildings to alternative uses,
favourable consideration may be accorded to schemes which incorporate works that
represent the most practical way of preserving the building and its architectural and
historic characteristics and its setting”

11.7

Walden Place is Grade II listed as defined above. The immediate works proposed to
the listed building are “Part demolition of existing extensions to sheltered scheme
from listed building, including alterations to access, listed wall, existing parking and
driveways. Addition of new boundary wall, railings, fire escape stairs, landscaping
works and temporary repair works to listed building associated with the demolition of
rear extension.” The Conservation Officer have stated “There is no objection to the
demolition and removal of the 1980s extension to Walden Place, and there is no in
principle objection to the single storey extension adjacent to the listed building. The
form of the proposed single storey extension and its low ridge height is considered
acceptable. However, the abutment of the single storey extension to the listed
building appears unnecessary and the inclusion of four rooflights upon the north
facing roof slope of the extension should be located facing towards the courtyard, so
that a blank roof slope is facing the listed building.”

11.8

Conservation had also stated that “I have no objection to the creation of a private
garden, the creation of a new boundary wall and railings subject to details being
confirmed. Were this application to be approved, I recommend a full hard and soft
landscaping scheme is submitted prior to implementation.”

11.9 With regards to the two storey extension Conservation objected stating “With
regards to the two-storey extension to the existing flats, I do not consider the
proposals to preserve the setting of the listed building. The existing building
allows views of the listed building from within the adjacent open verdant
space, particularly from the south west. The proposed two-storey extension
would adversely impact this, thus detracting from the experience and
appreciation of the listed building. Furthermore, I consider the quantity of
glazing to be excessive, in particular the prominent roof lanterns are
considered incongruous. The proposed fails, in my opinion, to make a positive
contribution to local character and distinctiveness as per Paragraph 192.c of
the NPPF (2019).” 11.10 Paragraph 190 of the NPPF states “Plans should set

Page 59

out a positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the historic
environment, including heritage assets most at risk through neglect, decay or other
threats. This strategy should take into account:
a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets,
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;
b) the wider social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits that conservation
of the historic environment can bring;
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local
character and distinctiveness; and
d) opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the historic environment to the
character of a place.”
11.11 The main concern of the objection raised, the two-storey extension follows the
roofline of the existing building. This sits much lower than Walden Place and is
subordinate in size, scale and design replicating more or less what is there at
present. The side of the extension is set back from the sight line of Walden Place and
maintaining un-interrupted views of the listed building, particularly from the adjacent
open space. The applicant has gone through a sequential approach of alternative
locations on the site but none were feasible in terms of locality and without causing
unacceptable harm to the setting of the adjacent Listed Building.
11.12 The removal of the 1980s modern additions are to the benefit of the Listed Building
reversing existing unsympathetic elements.
11.13 The existing protected open space will be largely unaffected by the works with
exception to the tree removals near to the building and modifications to the access
mentioned above. Whilst a small element of the open space will be utilised to enable
the development to happen the primary function and ability to use the open space will
not be interrupted nor lost.
11.14 In terms of the concerns regarding the attachment of the single storey extension to
the Listed Building this is considered to be a minimal compromise as part of the
overall development. The harm is considered to be lesser in comparison to the
existing 1980s extension that is proposed to be demolished the other side of the
building. The proposed extension would facilitate in securing the long term viability
and use of the main listed building by allowing the existing occupiers to decant to the
new additions freeing up the sale of Walden Place. The extension would be
subservient to the Listed Building. The rooflights which are also a concern for
Conservation in terms of “the inclusion of four rooflights upon the north facing roof
slope of the extension should be located facing towards the courtyard, so that a blank
roof slope is facing the listed building.” This would be set below the wall which
referred to above and in effectively what would be a valley, as illustrated in the
diagram below. Therefore the perceived impact would be minimised and the overall
harm would be outweighed by the public benefit in accordance with Paragraph 202 of
the NPPF which states “Where a development proposal will lead to less than
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should
be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate,
securing its optimum viable use.”

Page 60

Location of
roof lights

The wall

11.15 The Design and Access Statement highlighted the effects of the proposed
development upon the setting of the listed Walden House. It supports the above
assessment of the scheme it also states that “The alterations to the drive and
enclosure with wall and railings will create a slightly harder edge and loss of
openness. These works are however contained within the area already under paving
and provides the opportunity to remove some unsightly steps and handrail. Walden
Place will also require some defensible space around it, as part of any future
successful conversion.”
11.16 The D & A goes on to state that “There will be a small number of trees removed
adjacent to the building such as the yew tree growing directly against the building.
This is necessary to prevent damage to the building and will benefit the retained
trees…The creation of a new boundary wall between the 1980s extension and the
listed building will help create separation and enclosure generating a less cluttered
view than existing. This could be further enhanced with landscaping…The separation
of Walden Place from the sheltered scheme, clearly provides an opportunity to
reverse some of the negative interventions that have occurred in the past, and to
provide a viable new use that will facilitate sympathetic repair and refurbishment and
a secure future.”
11.17 The impact of the proposed development is localised to the immediate area and no
other impact upon the setting of other adjacent listed buildings is considered in
accordance with Local Plan Policies GEN2, ENV1, and ENV2, also in accordance
with the NPPF (2021).
11.18 The inclusion of an additional lift to the first floor will facilitate and improve the internal
access to the main building with further accessible toilet being provided in
accordance with Local Plan Policies GEN1 and GEN2.
11.19 The proposed extensions would be required to meet current Building Regulation
requirement in terms of energy efficiency measures in accordance with Policy GEN2
and the Interim Climate Change Policy (2021)
C

Amenity

11.20 Policies GEN4 and GEN5 of the Local Plan seek to protect the amenity of
neighbouring existing and future occupiers, together with the amenity of the locality
and surrounding area. Due to the nature of the proposed extensions these would
have limited impact. The outlook for ground floor Flat 1 would alter with the erection

Page 61

of the single storey extension building however there is sufficient distance between
the two. The scheme is therefore in accordance with Local Plan Policy.
D

Ecology & Trees

11.21 Local Plan Policy GEN7 for nature conservation seeks that development that would
have harmful effects upon wildlife or geological features will not be permitted unless
the need for development outweighs the harm. It also seeks that a conservation
survey be sought for sites that are likely to be ecologically sensitive with associated
mitigation measures.
11.22 The application site is not within and ecological designated site. There nearest
designation is 3.9km away from the site. Nonetheless an Ecological Phase 1 survey
has been undertaken and submitted as part of the application. The habitats on site
are described as negligible. An area of woodland, mature trees, and pond considered
to be of higher level of ecological value will not be impacted as part of the
development. A small number of semi-mature and young trees will be removed to
facilitate the development And others in the interest of the protection of the main
listed building. The survey states that the trees to be affected are likely to support
breeding birds however none of any significance. In terms of bats the survey stated
“Of the three building sections to be impacted by the proposed development, the
modern extension between Walden Place and Flats 1–4 (section 1) and the eastern
end of Flats 10–17 (section 3), were assessed in line with best practice guidance as
being of low bat roost suitability. They possessed a number of minor features of
potential value to individual roosting bats, in areas which would be demolished in the
case of section 1, or lost due to the construction of a new extension in the case of
section 3.”
11.23 The assessment identified further ecological surveys to be undertaken to establish in
two building sections being of low bat roost suitability during the period of May and
August in order to confirm the absence of bats from those buildings prior to the
commencement of works. If it has been identified then further surveys would need to
be undertaken to establish the level of roast activity and a mitigation licence from
Natural England would be required to enable the development. In terms of
appropriate mitigation bat boxes will be installed in the mature trees.
11.24 Ecology have been consulted on the planning application of which they have raised a
holding objection until further surveys have been undertaken as identified within the
submitted Ecological Assessment. These have since been undertaken of which
Ecology have removed their objection subject to conditions. Therefore the proposed
development is in accordance with policy in this respect.
11.25 In terms of tree works an existing Yew tree that is growing against the building will be
removed as part of these works. This is to the benefit of the building so it does not
compromise the structure. Also the submitted Arboricultural Survey identified an
immature plants to be removed and replaced as well as part of the new access
arrangements. Re-pollarding and crown lifting are also proposed. Whilst the views
within the site are stated will alter slightly for the public footpath users the views from
outside the application site and surrounding conservation area will not alter. The
Arboricultural Survey identified the proposed works to the landscaping as being an
opportunity to replace and provide additional planting that will provide a tree cover
net gain. This will be both a landscape and an ecological habitat benefit. None of
the trees proposed to be removed are covered by TPOs. The Landscape Officer has
been consulted of the application of which no objections have been raised to the

Page 62

proposed tree works. The proposed development is therefore in accordance with
Local Plan Policy GEN7 and the NPPF.
E

Highways & Air Quality

11.26 Local plan policy GEN1 states “development will only be permitted if it meets all of
the following criteria;
a) Access to the main road network must be capable of carrying the traffic generated
by the development safely.
b) The traffic generated by the development must be capable of being
accommodated on the surrounding transport network.
c) The design of the site must not compromise road safety and must take account of
the needs of cyclists, pedestrians, public transport users, horse riders and people
whose mobility is impaired.
d) It must be designed to meet the needs of people with disabilities if it is
development to which the general public expects to have access.
e) The development encourages movement by means other than driving a car.”
11.27 Local Plan Policy GEN1 seeks sustainable modes of transport which is reflected
within National Planning Policy Framework.
11.28 Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states “Development should only be prevented or
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.”
11.29 The application site falls within the Saffron Walden Air Quality Management Area.
An Air Quality Assessment has been undertaken and submitted as part of the
application. The report outlined that it has been assumed that there has been no
improvements to the air quality between 2019 and the base line year of expected
occupation of the proposed development. It has been outlined that there are
expected improvements to vehicles of which there is likely to be some improvement
to pollution concentrations as a result. Network modelling has been used to identify
predicted concentration levels in sensitive areas. The study has identified that there
would be no exceedance in the short term of particulate matter PM10 or for nitrogen
dioxide and that future scenarios predict a reduction. As result of this and the nature
of the proposed development that it is a sheltered accommodation with low vehicle
ownership and that the site is located within a town centre no mitigation has been
identified to be required. This is also supported by the fact that the proposed
development would be reduced from currently 29 flats to 28 as a result of the
proposed works. The report identified the provision of other measure such as electric
charging points on site to help encourage the reduction of pollution levels.
11.30 Environmental Health have been consulted of the application and have stated that “I
have no objection to the methodology of the report or outcome and recommend the
AQ condition [below]. It is therefore considered that the development will not
negatively impact neighbouring properties, and I have no in principle objections to the
application subject to the [following] condition being applied to any consent granted.”
The proposed development is therefore considered to accord with Policy ENV13 in

Page 63

this respect. As no objection has been raised in terms of air quality, therefore this part
of the application is in accordance with Policies ENV13 and in accordance with
Paragraph 185 of the NPPF.
11.31 In terms of car parking Local Plan Policy GEN8 seeks that scheme accord with the
parking standards, with regards to this development it is The Essex Parking
Standards (2009).
11.32 The adhoc parking will be formally laid out. The formal parking layout will allow for 1
parking space per flat should Walden House be converted into flats. The informal
parking along the eastern boundary where it has overgrown will be cleared to create
more effective parking for a further 10 parking spaces creating a net gain of 6
spaces. There will be new electric charging points for use by the residents or their
visitors.
11.33 Walden Place is a sheltered housing scheme and use of private cars by residents is
relatively low. There will be no increase in the number of dwellings resulting from the
development that forms the subject of this application. Dependant on what is
proposed in the future for the main house then it will need to be considered whether
there is sufficient provision parking to cater for both sites. No objections have been
raised by Highways subject to conditions. The development is therefore in
accordance policies GEN1, GEN8 and ENV13 and the NPPF.
F

Flooding

11.34 Local Plan Policy GEN3 seeks the protection of functional floodplains and buildings
would not be permitted unless there is an exceptional need. It goes onto state
“Within areas of flood risk, within the development limit, development will normally be
permitted where the conclusions of a flood risk assessment demonstrate an
adequate standard of flood protection and there is no increased risk of flooding
elsewhere…….Outside flood risk areas development must not increase the risk of
flooding through surface water run-off. A flood risk assessment will be required to
demonstrate this. Sustainable Drainage Systems should also be considered as an
appropriate flood mitigation measure in the first instance.”
11.35 The application site that is located on higher ground is within Flood Risk Zone 1
whereby there Flood Zone 1 is a low probability flood zone and comprises land
assessed as having a less than 1 in 1000 annual probability of river or sea flooding in
any year (< 0.1%).
11.36 The southeast corner of the open space, near Swan Meadow Car Park falls within
Flood Risk Zones 2 and 3.
11.37 The site is located within a ground water protection zone whereby any building works
would need to be in accordance with British Standards in order to protect the
watercourse from pollution. Geological survey has been undertaken to identify the
makeup of the ground. It has been identified that the site consists of Made Ground
overlying chalk have been confirmed on the site. The findings represent the
superficial and bedrock deposits. As a result the ground conditions are suitable for
infiltration of all surface water run-off. A sustainable approach to surface water
management is proposed using soakaways for roof drainage and permeable paving
for new driveways and parking areas. The use of infiltration features provides water
quality benefits to the receiving watercourses and groundwater. Sustainable
drainage features will be maintained by the site owners in accordance with the SuDS

Page 64

Management and Maintenance Plan. By utilising such as method this would reduce
any likely increase of risk of flooring at the lower levels on the adjacent surrounding
area. Whilst SUDs have not been consulted on the application as it falls below their
threshold the information submitted is considered to be acceptable taking into
account best practice guidance. The application is therefore considered to be in
accordance with Local Plan Policy GEN3 also the NPPF.
G

Infrastructure

11.38 Local Plan Policy GEN6 states that “Development will not be permitted unless it
makes provision at the appropriate time for the community facilities, school capacity,
public services, transport provision, drainage and other infrastructure that are made
necessary by the proposed development. In localities where the cumulative impact
of the developments necessitates such provision, developers may be required to
contribute to the cost of such provision by the relevant statutory authority.”
11.39 Based on the above, the nature of the use and statutory representations which have
been received no mitigating infrastructure is required, in accordance with Policy
GEN6 of the adopted Local Plan.
H

Other considerations

11.40 Policy ENV4 relating to Ancient Monuments and Sites of Archaeological Importance
states “Where nationally important archaeological remains, whether scheduled or
not, and their settings, are affected by the proposed development there will be a
presumption in favour of their physical preservation in situ. The preservation in situ
of locally important archaeological remains will be sought unless the need for the
development outweighs the importance the archaeology. In situations where there
are grounds for believing that sites, monuments or their settings would be affected
developer will be required to arrange for an archaeological field assessment to be
carried out before the planning application can be determined thus enabling an
informed and reasonable planning decision to be made. In circumstances where
preservation is not possible or provision have been made for a programme of
archaeological investigation and recording prior to commencement of the
development”
11.41 An archaeological scheme of investigation for evaluation and recording has been
undertaken due to the history of the area. This highlights the proposed methodology
to be undertaken to record an archaeological finds. A Brief for Archaeological
Evaluation has also been submitted as part of the application. ECC Archaeology
have been consulted of the application and as a result have raised no objections
subject to conditions. As a result the proposed development is in accordance with
Local Plan Policy ENV4.
12.

Conclusion

12.1

The principle of the development is acceptable being within the core of Saffron
Walden. In accordance with Local Plan Policy S1 and the NPPF.

12.2

Separation of the listed building and creation of a defensible curtilage. This provides
the opportunity for reversal of inappropriate past alterations and sympathetic
refurbishment to secure the long-term future of the building. The proposed
development extensions are considered acceptable and appropriate for the site and
would result in minimal impact to the listed building. The proposed development

Page 65

would in the long terms interest of the listed building and its long terms viability and
maintenance. Therefore the perceived impact would be minimised and the overall
harm would be outweighed by the public benefit in accordance with Paragraph 202 of
the NPPF and Local Plan Policies GEN2, ENV1 and ENV2.
12.3

There are no issues relating to amenity, archaeology, flooding, ecology, highways, air
pollution and landscape. Therefore the proposed development is in accordance with
Local Plan Policies GEN1, GEN3, GEN4, GEN5, GEN6, GEN7, GEN8, ENV4,
ENV13 and relevant section of the NPPF (2021).

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVE Subject to Conditions

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years
from the date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.
2. Prior to the erection of the development hereby approved (not including footings and
foundations) full details of both hard and soft landscape works shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority and these works shall be
carried out as approved. These details shall include [for example]:i.
proposed finished levels or contours;
ii.
means of enclosure;
iii. car parking layouts;
iv. other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas;
v. hard surfacing materials;
vi. minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse or other
storage units, signs, lighting, etc.);
vii. proposed and existing functional services above and below ground (e.g.
drainage power, communications cables, pipelines etc. indicating lines,
manholes, supports.); retained historic landscape features and proposals for
restoration, where relevant.
viii. Soft landscape works shall include planting plans; written specifications
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass
establishment); schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed
numbers/densities where appropriate; implementation programme.
REASON: The landscaping of this site is required in order to protect and enhance the
existing visual character of the area and to reduce the visual and environmental
impacts of the development hereby permitted, in accordance with Policies GEN2,
GEN8, GEN7, ENV3 and ENV8 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).
3. All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details. All planting, seeding or turfing and soil preparation comprised in
the above details of landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding
seasons following the occupation of the buildings, the completion of the
development, or in agreed phases whichever is the sooner, and any plants which
within a period of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed
or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting

Page 66

season with others of similar size and species, unless the local planning authority
gives written consent to any variation. All landscape works shall be carried out in
accordance with the guidance contained in British Standards, unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure proper implementation of the agreed landscape details in the
interest of the amenity value of the development in accordance with Policy GEN2 of
the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005)
4. No development or preliminary groundworks of any kind shall take place until a
programme of archaeological investigation has been secured in accordance with a
written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant, and
approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: The Historic Environment Record indicates the proposed developed lies
within an area of known archaeological deposits.
The Historic Environment Record indicates that the proposed development lies within
an area of known archaeological sensitivity. The proposed development lies in close
proximity to the line of the medieval town defensive ditch (EHER 408). The defences
were very substantial as indicated by those surviving on the eastern side of the town
which are protected as a Scheduled Monument (SM 1002179). In the early to mid13th century a large area to the south of the castle bailey was enclosed with new
streets being laid out. Part of this enclosure survives as the Repell ditches (EHER
0443), part of which are preserved as a Scheduled Monument (SAM 54). There is
therefore high potential for encountering archaeological deposits during the proposed
development.
A watching brief to the north of the proposed development identified three phases of
occupation within the area, the earliest dating to the twelfth century (EHER 13945).
Features identified included pits, levelling layers, a brick built oven, a brick-lined well
and a flint and mortar wall. Rubbish pits of twelfth century date excavated possibly
represent backyard activity associated with a precursor medieval building fronting
Myddylton Place. The development area therefore lies within the medieval town and
has the potential for surviving buildings associated with this.
5. The archaeological work would comprise the excavation of a series of trenches to
assess the importance of the surviving archaeological deposits followed by open
area excavation where deposits are identified, followed by a publication report. All
archaeological work should be conducted by a professional recognised
archaeological contractor in accordance with a brief issued by this office. No
development or preliminary groundworks of any kind shall take place until the
completion of the programme of archaeological investigation identified in the WSI
defined in 1 above.
The applicant will submit to the local planning authority a post excavation
assessment (to be submitted within six months of the completion of the fieldwork,
unless otherwise agreed in advance with the Planning Authority). This will result in
the completion of post excavation analysis, preparation of a full site archive and
report ready for deposition at the local museum, and submission of a publication
report.
Reason: The Historic Environment Record indicates the proposed developed lies
within an area of known archaeological deposits.

Page 67

The Historic Environment Record indicates that the proposed development lies within
an area of known archaeological sensitivity. The proposed development lies in close
proximity to the line of the medieval town defensive ditch (EHER 408). The defences
were very substantial as indicated by those surviving on the eastern side of the town
which are protected as a Scheduled Monument (SM 1002179). In the early to mid13th century a large area to the south of the castle bailey was enclosed with new
streets being laid out. Part of this enclosure survives as the Repell ditches (EHER
0443), part of which are preserved as a Scheduled Monument (SAM 54). There is
therefore high potential for encountering archaeological deposits during the proposed
development.
A watching brief to the north of the proposed development identified three phases of
occupation within the area, the earliest dating to the twelfth century (EHER 13945).
Features identified included pits, levelling layers, a brick built oven, a brick-lined well
and a flint and mortar wall. Rubbish pits of twelfth century date excavated possibly
represent backyard activity associated with a precursor medieval building fronting
Myddylton Place. The development area therefore lies within the medieval town and
has the potential for surviving buildings associated with this.
The archaeological work would comprise the excavation of a series of trenches to
assess the importance of the surviving archaeological deposits followed by open area
excavation where deposits are identified, followed by a publication report. All
archaeological work should be conducted by a professional recognised
archaeological contractor in accordance with a brief issued by this office.
6. All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in
accordance with the details contained in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
(Applied Ecology, November 2020) and the Bat Activity Survey (Applied Ecology Ltd,
August 2021) as already submitted with the planning application and agreed in
principle with the local planning authority prior to determination.
Reason: To conserve and enhance protected and Priority species and allow the LPA
to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the
NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). Also in accordance with Local Plan
Policy GEN7 and the NPPF.
7. A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority following the recommendations made within the Bat
Activity Survey (Applied Ecology Ltd, August 2021).
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance.
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall
be retained in that manner thereafter.
Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).
Also in accordance with Local Plan Policy GEN7 and the NPPF.

Page 68

8. A lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall identify those features on
site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause disturbance
along important routes used for foraging; and show how and where external lighting
will be installed so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not
disturb or prevent bats using their territory.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the
scheme. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting be installed
without prior consent from the local planning authority.
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats
and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as
amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species). Also in
accordance with Local Plan Policy GEN7 and the NPPF.
9. No unbound material shall be used in the surface treatment of the vehicular access
within 6 metres of the highway boundary.
Reason: To avoid displacement of loose material onto the highway in the interests of
highway safety, in accordance with Local Plan Policy GEN1 and the NPPF.
10. Prior to the occupation of the new development electric vehicle charging points at
allocated parking space shall be provided in accordance with the approved details
that shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
prior to the commencement of development.
REASON: To support the use of low emission vehicles in accordance with Local Plan
Policy ENV13 and the NPPF and the Interim Climate Change Policy (2021)
11. (a) No retained tree or shrub shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any
retained tree or shrub be topped or lopped other than in accordance with the
approved plans and particulars, without the written approval of the local planning
authority. Any topping or lopping approved shall be carried out in accordance with
British Standard 3998 (Tree Work).
(b)
If any retained tree or shrub is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies,
another tree or shrub shall be planted at the same place and that tree or shrub shall
be of such size and species, and shall be planted at such time, as may be specified
in writing by the local planning authority.
(c)
The erection of fencing for the protection of any retained tree shrub or hedge
shall be undertaken in accordance with details approved in writing by the local
planning authority to comply with the recommendation of British Standard 5837:2005
(Trees in relation to construction) before any equipment, machinery or materials are
brought on to the site for the purposes of the development, and shall be maintained
until all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the
site. Nothing shall be stored or placed in any area fenced in accordance with this
condition and the ground levels within those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any
excavation be made, without the written consent of the local planning authority. No
fires shall be lit within 20 metres of the retained trees and shrubs.
In this condition "retained tree or shrub' means an existing tree or shrub, as the case
may be, which is to be retained in accordance with the approved plans and

Page 69

particulars; and paragraphs (a) and (b) above shall have effect until the expiration of
five years from the date of the occupation of the building for its permitted use.
REASON: To protect the existing trees, shrubs and hedgerows in the interest of
visual amenity, in accordance with Policies GEN2 and GEN7 of the Uttlesford Local
Plan (adopted 2005).
12. Prior to the commencement of development above slab level (i.e. not including site
set up, ground works, footings and foundations), samples of the materials to be used
in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby permitted shall
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Development thereafter shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
REASON: In the interests of the appearance of the development in accordance with
Policy GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

Page 70

Agenda Item 6
UTT/20/3416/LB (SAFFRON WALDEN)
(UDC Application)
PROPOSAL:

Part demolition of existing extensions to sheltered
scheme from listed building, including alterations
to access, listed wall, existing parking and
driveways. Addition of new boundary wall,
railings, fire escape stairs, landscaping works and
temporary repair works to listed building
associated with the demolition of rear extension.

LOCATION:

Walden Place, Freshwell Street, Saffron Walden,
Essex CB10 1DQ

APPLICANT:

Uttlesford District Council

AGENT:

Design Partnership (Ely) Ltd

EXPIRY DATE:

10.06.2021 eot

CASE OFFICER:

Maria Shoesmith

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Listed Buildings / Area 3 of Saffron Walden conservation area / trees protected by
Conservation area and proximity to listed buildings / Section of Protected open
space – Walden Place / Archaeology important area

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The site lies between Freshwell Street to the west and Myddylton Place to the
north east, in the western part of the historic core of Saffron Walden. Walden
House is a mid 18th century building with a 1980s extension, currently in use as
residential sheltered accommodation. See Fig: 1.

Page 71

Fig: 1 - Site location plan and aerial photograph of site.
2.2

The buildings concerned are set in extensive landscaped grounds, within a
protected open space area and located in Zone 3 of the Saffron Walden
Conservation area.

2.3

The group of buildings within Walden Place also includes a listed building; Walden
House, which is Grade II, and is described as:
Walden Place
4.2.1 TL5338 MYDDYLTON PLACE 669-1/1/313 (West side) 28/11/51 Walden
Place GV II
Large house, now divided up for retirement apartments and sheltered
accommodation. Mid C18, with some C19 refenestration, C20 division. Red brick,
some stucco dressings, clay tiled roof, plan rectangular but with C20

Page 72

wing projecting on NW corner. 3 storeys and cellars. Front, S elevation: 5 bays,
parapet with recessed panels and stucco cornice. Central doorway approached by
steps, Doric style, with pediment, triglyph frieze and fluted flat
pilasters. Within, rusticated stucco door-case. Door with 8 panels, all now glazed.
All windows have rubbed brick voussoirs that are shaped to central keystone
form. All are sashes with glazing bars, ground floor, 3x5 panes, first
floor 3x4, second floor 3x2. Central windows have moulded stucco architraves,
first floor `eared', second floor `shouldered' plus keystone, both have consoles
below sills. Roof concealed by parapet but comprises 3 hipped
runs parallel to frontage. Stacks at E and W ends. Rear N elevation: 5 window
range, somewhat irregular. External stack to W. Windows all sashes with glazing
bars, rubbed brick voussoirs, ground floor two 3x4 panes, first floor
five 3x4 panes, second floor three 3x2 panes. C20 addition, ground floor, W end.
W side elevation: 4 storeys (includes side of cellars) 4 bays, ground and first floor
windows, sashes in house style 3x4 panes, second floor 3x2 panes. 2 windows on
first floor blind with glazing painted in. Cellar, 2 windows blocked one now with
louvres, C20 louvred door. E side elevation: 3 storeys, 3 window range, windows
somewhat irregular in house style. Ground floor, two 2x4 panes, one 3x4. First
floor, round headed stair window 3x4 panes plus radial glazing, window either
side in `Venetian' style 2x4 panes, second floor, two 2x2 panes, one 3x2 panes.
Roof system seen with stack to S.INTERIOR: open string original dogleg stair, 3
turned balusters per tread, turned newel posts, wreathed handrail. Original C18
dogleg back stair, closed string, turned balusters. Round arched entry to
passageway at base of principal staircase, moulded with shell decorated
keystone. A number of heavy panelled doors survive, also 2 ceilings with
plastered cornices, one reeded with roundels, other with oak leaf and acorn
decoration. Cellars have brick floors.
2.4

The area more widely has an extensive number of listed buildings as shown in
yellow on Fig: 4.

Fig: 4 Listed Buildings in the immediate area (highlighted in yellow)
2.5

There are a number of trees in and around the site which are protected by either
the conservation area or their proximity to the setting of the listed building, see
Fig; 5.

Page 73

Fig: 5 – Existing site layout with trees and landscaping shown

Fig: 6a – Photograph of Walden Place looking north.

Page 74

Fig 6b – This shows the relationship of Walden place and the ground level
difference
2.5

The site plan above, Fig: 5, shows some of the existing 1980’s extension, which
appears to follow the proportions of the old gardens of Walden Place. There is
also a single storey link to the rear of Walden Place. It is worth noting that the
modern 1980’s extensions sit at a lower ground level than Walden Place which
helps reduce the impact of the existing structures in relation to the listed building.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

Part demolition of existing extensions to sheltered scheme from listed building,
including alterations to access, listed wall, existing parking and driveways.
Addition of new boundary wall, railings, fire escape stairs, landscaping works and
temporary repair works to listed building associated with the demolition of rear
extension.

Fig: 7 – illustrates the construction of the two new extensions.

Page 75

3.2

A new wall will also be constructed on the eastern side of the extension to create
a new boundary to Walden Place. Where the existing link to Walden House is
removed, a new boundary wall will be constructed together with a new fire escape
staircase for emergency use.

3.3

The scheme also seeks to define areas of amenity space and parking for Walden
House to compliment future conversion. The conversion works will however be left
to the future purchaser and this does not fall part of the planning application as
such.

3.4

To the rear of Walden House (North side) the existing lean-to extension will be
removed, and remedial works carried out to paving and retaining walls sufficient to
secure the building and make weather tight.

3.5

To the south of Walden Place a new enclosed formal garden is proposed. The
western boundary would to which will be formed with a new brick wall above the
abutting extension. The southern and eastern boundaries would be formed with
new railings and retaining wall. It is envisaged that the space could be laid out as
a formal garden with gravelled paths, clipped hedges and trees providing a shared
amenity space for residential use. These proposals only include works to form the
boundaries, the detailed scheme is left to a future purchaser of Walden House,
Fig: 8 illustrates the proposals for the future of Walden House.

Fig: 8 – Illustrative scheme for the future of Walden House

Page 76

3.6

The existing communal entrance to Walden Place is hidden behind the rear of the
building, accessed through a gateway in the boundary wall. It is therefore not
immediately obvious to visitors. The courtyard is also open which makes it
possible to access the scheme via the adjacent public open space. Whilst there
are security locks in place, the current layout is not optimum for crime prevention.
The proposals seek to address this by closing off the semi-public through-route,
behind Walden Place and moving the entrance to a more visible location at the
south of the building, providing greater opportunity for natural surveillance.

3.7

The existing vehicular access is via Myddylton Place on the northern walled
boundary. The existing opening through the boundary wall is a little narrow and
off centre which makes access for larger vehicles difficult. It is therefore proposed
to move the opening slightly to the west and widen it. This will assist the
construction works but also future maintenance and potentially fire appliance
access. The area of wall affected has previously been rebuilt and therefore the
works would not involve the loss of historic fabric in this respect. The informal
parking area to the east will be rationalised in association with moving the access.

3.8

The proposals include alterations to the driveway and parking to the east and
south of Walden Place. Providing a drop off zone and turning area to the new
communal entrance. The line of the proposed surfacing follows the existing
driveway causing no significant loss of green space or impact to existing trees. An
existing Yew tree that is growing against the building will be removed as part of
these works.

3.9

There is an existing footpath running through the site that is open to the public,
linking Park Lane to the High Street via Myddylton Place. This appears well used
and clearly has public amenity value. The proposals include a slight re-alinement
of the footpaths route to move it away from the proposed extension.

3.10

It should be noted that whilst the planning submission highlights the likely uses for
Walden House and possible ways of subdividing the building for future use when
it is sold off it does not form part of this planning application. Nonetheless, an
additional 6 car parking spaces have been created in addition to cater for any
future use of the main house.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

Town and Country Planning (Environmental Assessment):
The proposal is not a Schedule 1 development, nor does it exceed the threshold
criteria of Schedule 2, and therefore an Environmental Assessment is not
required.
And
Human Rights Act considerations:
There may be implications under Article 1 and Article 8 of the First Protocol
regarding the right of respect for a person’s private and family life and home, and
to the peaceful enjoyment of possessions; however, these issues have been
taken into account in the determination of this application.

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

The proposed development under the Full planning application would allow the
creation of two additional sheltered flats plus provide a new Resident’s Communal

Page 77

Lounge plus a new plant room, Manager’s office, and lift. The development is
required in order to allow the conversion of Walden House into private flats.
Walden House requires a significant work and up keep which has become
unviable and a drain on the public purse. In order to overcome this and for the
long term benefit of the preservation of the listed building its conversion to allow it
to be later sold would enable this and to build the accommodation required to
compensate for the loss of the conversion of the main house.
The extensions proposed will sit lower than Walden House due to ground level
differences which also ensures that the setting of this Grade II listed Building is
not detracted from.
“Walden House is currently in reasonable repair but is starting to need
refurbishment to preserve the long-term integrity of the structure. There have
been several unsympathetic interventions over the recent history of the building,
the most obvious being the conversion to a sheltered housing scheme and
addition of the 1980s extension. Clearly this cannot be completely reversed as it
provides valuable housing for elderly residents in the community. The cost of
refurbishment works will need to be substantial to ensure that the work is carried
out in a sympathetic and correct way, therefore a new use is required that can
support these costs.
It is clear, the best option for Walden House, with exception of demolishing the
extension and reverting it back to a single dwelling which can probably be
discounted due to practicality, the listed house should be separated from the
sheltered scheme. This must be achieved with minimal loss of dwellings to retain
the viability of the sheltered scheme. It is therefore necessary to replace some of
the lost accommodation.
These proposals have been pared back to the absolute minimum to replace two of
the three existing flats plus the communal accommodation whilst also providing
better access for residents. Whilst there is a small encroachment into an important
protected open space, the extent of this only extends to an area that is already
under tarmac.
The scale of the proposals is subordinate to the listed building and set outside of
existing sight lines of the building. The setting of the listed building is therefore
preserved. The appearance of the extension is deliberately understated and
reflects the character of the modern sheltered scheme. It is felt that this is an
appropriate response to the site and avoids the introduction of a third, potentially
competing element into the historic setting.
In this context it is felt the proposed extensions will have only a slight impact on
Walden House, but this can be mitigated and offset by facilitating further
development and refurbishment.
The proposals will involve sufficient works to separate the listed house from the
sheltered scheme, including the demolition of the lean-to link, erection on new
boundaries treatments to create a private garden, and the laying out of new
parking. The remaining conversion works will be left to a future purchaser.”
6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

The below are various application relating to the main house;

Page 78

•
LB/UTT/0785/77/CA – Demolition of outbuildings to the north of Walden
Place
•
LB/UTT/1016/80/CA - Increase overall width of approved footpath
entrance gateway into Freshwell Street from 4'0" to 6'0" including partial
demolition of listed wall
•
UTT/0092/77/LB/CA - Conversion of existing house and erection of new
buildings to form elderly persons complex
•
UTT/0490/92 - Detailed application for the construction of a bandstand
•
UTT/1062/97/LB - Installation of three wall- mounted floodlights to
illuminate car park and provision of replacement light
6.2

The main relevant history is the parallel Full planning application for “Proposed
Single Storey & Two Storey Extensions, Erection of New Boundary Wall &
Railings, Alterations to Existing Access and Parking, Part Demolition of 1980s
Extension to Remove Link to Sheltered Housing Scheme, Including Associated
Repairs and Landscape Works”

7.

POLICIES
Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)


ENV2

Development Affecting Listed Buildings

National Policies


National Planning Policy Framework

8.

SAFFRON WALDEN TOWN COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

No Objection.

9.

CONSULTATIONS

9.1

Place Services Conservation
Built Heritage Advice pertaining to an application for the part demolition of existing
extensions to sheltered scheme from listed building, including alterations to
access, listed wall, existing parking and driveways. Addition of new boundary wall,
railings, fire escape stairs, landscaping works and temporary repair works to listed
building associated with the demolition of rear extension.
The building affected by this application, Walden Place, is Grade II listed. It is a
large mid-eighteenth-century house with later alterations and additions (list entry
number: 1196232). Walden Place is enclosed by walls such as the Wall to the
east side of the Garden of Walden Place (list entry number: 1025113) and Garden
Wall to number five, also to the east, which are Grade II listed (list entry number:
1280442). The western wall is also Grade II listed, Garden Wall of Walden Place
(list entry number: 1196172). The application site is located within the Saffron
Walden Conservation Area and within the vicinity of several listed buildings.
There is no objection to the demolition and removal of the 1980s extension to
Walden Place, and there is no in principle objection to the single storey extension
adjacent to the listed building. The form of the proposed single storey extension
and its low ridge height is considered acceptable. However, the abutment of the
single storey extension to the listed building appears unnecessary and the
inclusion of four rooflights upon the north facing roof slope of the extension should

Page 79

be located facing towards the courtyard, so that a blank roof slope is facing the
listed building. I consider there to be a more sympathetic approach with regards to
the location of the proposed building, which does not abut the listed building.
With regards to the two-storey extension to the existing flats, I do not consider the
proposals to preserve the setting of the listed building. The existing building allows
views of the listed building from within the adjacent open verdant space,
particularly from the south west. The proposed two-storey extension would
adversely impact this, thus detracting from the experience and appreciation of the
listed building. Furthermore, I consider the quantity of glazing to be excessive, in
particular the prominent roof lanterns are considered incongruous. The proposed
fails, in my opinion, to make a positive contribution to local character and
distinctiveness as per Paragraph 192.c of the NPPF (2019).
I have no objection to the creation of a private garden, the creation of a new
boundary wall and railings subject to details being confirmed. Were this
application to be approved, I recommend a full hard and soft landscaping scheme
is submitted prior to implementation.
I am unable to support this application. The proposals would, in my opinion, fail to
preserve the special interest of the listed building, contrary to Section 66(1) of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, through
inappropriate development in its setting. With regards to the NPPF (2019), the
level of harm is considered less than substantial, Paragraph 196 being relevant.
9.3

ECC ARCHAEOLOGICAL
No objection subject to conditions.

9.4

PLACE SERVICES ECOLOGY
No objection subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
measures
We have reviewed the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Applied Ecology,
November 2020), Magic Maps (https://magic.defra.gov.uk) and aerial photographs
relating to the likely impacts of development on designated sites, protected and
Priority species and habitats. We have also reviewed the newly submitted Bat
Activity Survey (Applied Ecology Ltd, August 2021).
The Bat Activity Survey (Applied Ecology Ltd, August 2021) advises the proposal
to extend and renovate the care home is considered highly unlikely to result in the
disturbance and loss of bat roosts and can be completed without restriction in
relation to bats. The bat activity survey findings remain valid for 12 months from
the date of the survey (29 June 2021).
A pair of swifts were confirmed to be nesting in the apex of the east facing clock
tower gable during the survey, with the adult birds leaving and returning to the
nest on a couple of occasions during the survey and calls being heard from the
nest. Therefore, the Bat Activity Survey (Applied Ecology Ltd, August 2021) has
recommended that six swift nest bricks and/or boxes are provided as a
biodiversity enhancement measure given the confirmed presence of this species
within the Site and the opportunity the new build provides to cater for this species.
We support this recommendation which will provide new habitat for this declining
species.

Page 80

We are satisfied that there is sufficient ecological information available for
determination.
This provides certainty for the LPA of the likely impacts on protected and Priority
species & habitats and, with appropriate mitigation measures secured, the
development can be made acceptable.
In addition, a Wildlife Sensitive Lighting Strategy should be delivered for this
scheme to avoid impacts to foraging and commuting bats. This must follow the
Guidance Note 8 Bats and artificial lighting (The Institute of Lighting Professionals
& Bat Conservation Trust, 2018). In summary, it is highlighted that the following
measures should be implemented for the lighting design, which could be informed
by a professional ecologist:
• Light levels should be as low as possible as required to fulfil the lighting need.
• Warm-White lights should be used preferably at 2700k. This is necessary as
lighting which emit an ultraviolet component or that have a blue spectral content
have a high attraction effects on insects. This may lead in a reduction in prey
availability for some light sensitive bat species.
• If Light columns are required, they should be as short as possible as light at a
low level reduces the likelihood of any ecological impact. However, the use of
cowls, hoods, reflector skirts or shields could also be used to prevent horizontal
spill.
• Movement sensors and timers could be used to minimise the ‘lit time’.
We also support the proposed reasonable biodiversity enhancements, which have
been recommended to secure measurable net gains for biodiversity, as outlined
under Paragraph 174 [d] of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021. This
includes six swift nest bricks and/or boxes. The reasonable biodiversity
enhancement measures should be outlined within a Biodiversity Enhancement
Strategy and should be secured.
This will enable LPA to demonstrate its compliance with its statutory duties
including its biodiversity duty under s40 NERC Act 2006.
Impacts will be minimised such that the proposal is acceptable subject to the
conditions below based on BS42020:2013.
Submission for approval and implementation of the details below should be a
condition of any planning consent.
Recommended conditions:
1. ACTION REQUIRED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ECOLOGICAL APPRAISAL
RECOMMENDATIONS
“All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in
accordance with the details contained in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
(Applied Ecology, November 2020) and the Bat Activity Survey (Applied Ecology
Ltd, August 2021) as already submitted with the planning application and agreed
in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination.”
Reason: To conserve and enhance protected and Priority species and allow the
LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended
and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).
2. PRIOR TO SLAB LEVEL: BIODIVERSITY ENHANCEMENT STRATEGY

Page 81

“A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority following the recommendations made within
the Bat Activity Survey (Applied Ecology Ltd, August 2021).
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement
measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and
plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance.
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and
shall be retained in that manner thereafter.”
Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA
to discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species).
3. PRIOR TO BENEFICIARY USE: WILDLIFE SENSITIVE LIGHTING DESIGN
SCHEME
“A lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall identify those features on
site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause disturbance
along important routes used for foraging; and show how and where external
lighting will be installed so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit
will not disturb or prevent bats using their territory.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the
scheme. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting be installed
without prior consent from the local planning authority.”
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species)
10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

Neighbouring residential occupiers have also been consulted of the application.
As a result the following points have been raised:















Health and safety damage to Myddylton Place
Consultation of Myddylton Place residents of plans
Disturbance during construction and blockage of footpaths and road
pollution
Highway safety
No information of conversion of Walden Place
On street parking
Impact on other historic buildings in area
Walden Place is on Myddylton Place not Freshwell Street
Construction Method Statement must be submitted
Trees should be protected during construction
Access has a pinch point
flooding
Construction traffic should be parked within Walden Place grounds only

Page 82

11.

The above points have been addressed under the full planning application.
APPRAISAL

The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:

A

Development affecting a Listed Building (ENV2, NPPF)

11.1

Local Plan Policy ENV2 for Listed Buildings states the following;
“Development affecting a listed building should be in keeping with its scale,
character and surroundings. Demolition of a listed building, or development
proposals that adversely affect the setting, and alterations that impair the special
characteristics of a listed building will not be permitted. In cases where planning
permission might not normally be granted for the conversion of listed buildings to
alternative uses, favourable consideration may be accorded to schemes which
incorporate works that represent the most practical way of preserving the building
and its architectural and historic characteristics and its setting”

11.2

Paragraph 190 of the NPPF states “Plans should set out a positive strategy for the
conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment, including heritage assets
most at risk through neglect, decay or other threats. This strategy should take into
account:
a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets,
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;
b) the wider social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits that
conservation of the historic environment can bring;
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local
character and distinctiveness; and
d) opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the historic environment to
the character of a place.”

11.3

S16(2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states
that “In considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works the local
planning authority or the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special
architectural or historic interest which it possesses”.

11.4

S70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires the local planning
authority, in dealing with a planning application, to have regard to:
(a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application,
(aza) a post-examination draft neighbourhood development plan, so far as
material to the application,
(b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application, and
(c) any other material considerations.

11.5

S38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard
is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be
made under the planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance
with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Page 83

11.6

Conservation have been consulted of the Listed Building application as well as the
parallel full application.

11.7

Walden Place is Grade II listed as defined above. The immediate works proposed
to the listed building are “Part demolition of existing extensions to sheltered
scheme from listed building, including alterations to access, listed wall, existing
parking and driveways. Addition of new boundary wall, railings, fire escape stairs,
landscaping works and temporary repair works to listed building associated with
the demolition of rear extension.”

11.8

The Conservation Officer have stated “There is no objection to the demolition and
removal of the 1980s extension to Walden Place, and there is no in principle
objection to the single storey extension adjacent to the listed building. The form of
the proposed single storey extension and its low ridge height is considered
acceptable. However, the abutment of the single storey extension to the listed
building appears unnecessary and the inclusion of four rooflights upon the north
facing roof slope of the extension should be located facing towards the courtyard,
so that a blank roof slope is facing the listed building.” Conservation had also
stated that “I have no objection to the creation of a private garden, the creation of
a new boundary wall and railings subject to details being confirmed. Were this
application to be approved, I recommend a full hard and soft landscaping scheme
is submitted prior to implementation.”

11.9

The Design and Access Statement highlighted the effects of the proposed
development upon the setting of the listed Walden House. It supports the above
assessment of the scheme it also states that “The alterations to the drive and
enclosure with wall and railings will create a slightly harder edge and loss of
openness. These works are however contained within the area already under
paving and provides the opportunity to remove some unsightly steps and handrail.
Walden Place will also require some defensible space around it, as part of any
future successful conversion.” The D & A goes on to state that “There will be a
small number of trees removed adjacent to the building such as the yew tree
growing directly against the building. This is necessary to prevent damage to the
building and will benefit the retained trees…The creation of a new boundary wall
between the 1980s extension and the listed building will help create separation
and enclosure generating a less cluttered view than existing. This could be further
enhanced with landscaping…The separation of Walden Place from the sheltered
scheme, clearly provides an opportunity to reverse some of the negative
interventions that have occurred in the past, and to provide a viable new use that
will facilitate sympathetic repair and refurbishment and a secure future.”

11.10

The Conservation Officers objections relate to the proposed new additional which
do not form part of the Listed Building application. Those objections have been
dealt with separately as part of the Full planning application assessment.

11.11

There is no objection to the proposed demolition as it is considered the removal of
the 1980s modern additions are to the benefit of the Listed Building reversing
existing unsympathetic elements. With the lack of objections to the proposed
works to the main listed building the perceived impact resulting from the proposed
extension has been assessed as part of the full application and have been
concluded would be minimal and the overall harm would be outweighed by the
public benefit in accordance with Paragraph 202 of the NPPF which states
“Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against

Page 84

the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its
optimum viable use.” The proposed development under the planning application
are overall and on balance considered to accord with Paragraph 208 of the NPPF
which states “Local planning authorities should assess whether the benefits of a
proposal for enabling development, which would otherwise conflict with planning
policies but which would secure the future conservation of a heritage asset,
outweigh the disbenefits of departing from the policies.”
11.12

It is therefore concluded that the proposal accords with policy ENV2 of the
Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 and paragraphs 190, 202 and 208 of the NPPF in
relation to the protection of the heritage asset. In coming to this view, regard has
been had to the Council's statutory duty under s16(2) & s66 (1) of the Planning
(Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

12.

CONCLUSION

The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:

A

In consideration of the proposed works to the listed building in order to secure the
longer viability and maintenance of heritage in terms of public benefit this is
considered to outweigh the harm that would be caused in accordance with the
NPPF thereby also in accordance with Policy ENV2.

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL WITH CONDITIONS
Conditions
1.

The development to which this consent relates shall be begun before the
expiration of 3 years from the date of this decision.
REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 18 of the Town and
Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

Details of all necessary repairs in addition to the approved plans shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Thereafter,
the repairs shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and shall
be maintained as such in perpetuity. Any amendments in the future shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
REASON: To protect and enhance the fabric and character of the listed building,
in accordance with the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan Policy ENV2, s16(2) of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, and the National
Planning Policy Framework (2021).

Page 85

Agenda Item 7
UTT/21/1108/FUL
Call in request by Councillor Tayler if recommended for refusal – reason: “This is a
complex application which aims to support the sustainability of a significant local
business, namely a 500-acre farm, which has impacts on the local economy, rural
landscape, biodiversity and local food production”.
PROPOSAL:

Demolition of existing hay barn and erection of new
farmhouse

LOCATION:

Land at Lodge Farm, Bardfield End Green, Thaxted,
CM6 3PZ

APPLICANT:

Mr T Magness c/o David Magness Farms Ltd.

AGENT:

Donald Purkiss & Associates LLP.

EXPIRY DATE:

25.05.2021 (Extension of time agreed until 08.10.2021)

CASE OFFICER:

Mr C Theobald

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Members will recall that the above planning application was reported to Planning
Committee on 4 August 2021 for their consideration when Members were advised
that the applicant had chosen not to submit an agricultural workers dwelling
application through the promotion of land management to enable the local planning
authority to assess essential agricultural need and whether the existing agricultural
unit was capable financially of supporting such a dwelling (the two tests), primarily as
it had been stated that the applicant would not be able to secure a commercial
mortgage for such a status of dwelling thus making borrowing difficult and expensive.
As such, the applicant had requested instead that the application be determined on
its wider planning merits, principally whether the proposal amounted to a presumption
in favour of sustainable development for the reasons as summarised in the original
Committee Report to Members for this application (See Appendix A attached to this
Addendum Report).

1.2

The original Committee Report considered by Members concluded that Officers were
unable to properly determine evidence of the necessity for a rural worker to live on
the site to ensure the effective operation of the agricultural enterprise, whether the
farming business would be able to sustain a dwelling of the size proposed at the
present time and the degree to which there was confidence that the enterprise would
remain viable for the foreseeable future as a result of the application not being
submitted on the basis of the promotion of land management under normal planning
requirements. As such, it was considered by Officers based upon the nature of the
application submission that the development represented a form of inappropriate
development in the countryside, and additionally, that the proposal would not amount
to a presumption in favour of sustainable development as the site was considered to
be poorly served by public transport and not within walking distance of local services,
meaning that there would be a reliance upon the motor car to access these services
contrary to national and local planning policy. Accordingly, the application was
recommended for Refusal.

Page 86

1.3

However, and after giving due consideration to the planning merits of the application
proposal, Members resolved to defer the application for a Members Site Visit and for
further consideration and clarification surrounding the issue of the agricultural
requirements of the proposal to be sought to enable the application to be reported
back to Committee for further consideration.

2.0

SUMMARY OF FURTHER EVIDENCE SUBMITTED

2.1

Further to Members’ deferment of the application at their meeting of the 04th August
2021, a Supplementary Planning Statement has since been submitted by the
applicant’s planning agent, which provides a brief resume of the national and local
planning policies relevant to the submitted proposal, and how the application is
considered to accord with these policies (See Appendix B attached to this
Addendum Report).

2.2

The Supplementary Planning Statement accepts that it cannot be proven within the
planning application submission that agricultural justification of need and
demonstration of a functional requirement of the applicant to be on site “24 hours a
day, 7 days a week” exists, and adds that as the livestock at the site has recently
been introduced, that a functional need cannot be demonstrated,; although it states
that the applicant does not wish to live in a mobile home and wishes to be treated
“like every other applicant”. The Statement goes onto say that the site cannot be
defined as an isolated home in the countryside by definition under paragraph 80 of
the NPPF (as revised July 2021) that encompasses agricultural dwellings, where
clarity on this issue has been sought in the Court of Appeal which has ruled that
‘isolated’ means ‘physically isolated’ and that there is no need to take into account
‘functional isolation’ as well (i.e., whether the proposed dwelling would be isolated
relative to services and facilities). In this context, it is asserted that the site is not
physically isolated given that it is adjacent to an existing dwelling under separate
ownership just north of the site (The Lodge), and that there are further dwellings at
the end of the approach drive to the site, namely Lodge Cottages. As such, it is further
contended that the planning merits of the farmhouse proposal as submitted should be
considered under the provisions of paragraph 11 of the NPPF and not under
paragraph 80.

2.3

The Supplementary Planning Statement requests again that the Council is invited to
grant planning permission for the proposed development under the provisions of
paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), as revised July
2021, which states that plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of
sustainable development, whereby the Statement reiterates the economic, social and
environmental case for the development. In this regard, the Statement makes
reference again to the single detached dwelling which the Council has approved for
Mill Hill Farmhouse, Cutlers Green, Thaxted (UTT/18/1686/FUL) where it is stated
that “The site has virtually the same location and site characteristics as Lodge Farm
on the western side of Thaxted, except the plot occupied a paddock and the proposal
did not infer the demolition of an existing building”. As such, the Supplementary
Planning Statement re-asserts that it has been demonstrated that the proposal meets
all three strands of sustainability under the provisions of the NPPF, adding that
paragraphs 11 d) (i) and (ii) of the NPPF are triggered as the Council does not have
an up-to-date Local Plan or a 5-year housing supply (the ‘tilted’ planning balance).
Notwithstanding this, the Statement recognises that the site is not within a sustainable
location, although sets out again why the development would be sustainable for other
reasons under the economic, social and environmental objectives of the NPPF (see
summary of benefits listed at page 3 of the Statement for fuller reasonings and
explanation). Accordingly, it is contended that the benefits of the proposal

Page 87

demonstrably and significantly outweigh “the very small harm” identified with the
proposal whereby paragraph 11 of the NPPF is engaged and that planning permission
should be granted.
3.0

APPRAISAL OF FURTHER EVIDENCE SUBMITTED

3.1

The original Committee Report for this proposed farmhouse application concluded
that both vehicular access arrangements and the design of the proposed dwelling
were considered acceptable, notwithstanding the relatively large size of the dwelling
intended to accommodate a local farm worker showing four bedrooms, whilst Place
Services Ecology have confirmed that the development would not have a harmful
impact on protected or priority species. The main issue remains as with the original
committee report assessment as to whether the development is acceptable in
principle, namely whether the proposal would amount to a presumption in favour of
sustainable development under paragraph 11 of the NPPF (as revised 2021) in the
tilted planning balance given that the application has not been promoted for land
management.
Whether the proposal would represent a presumption in favour of sustainable
development

3.2

It is clear from the applicant’s Supplementary Planning Statement that there would be
economic benefits arising from the proposal in that the development would support a
prosperous rural economy and local food production given that the dwelling is
intended as a farmhouse for the applicant who would be overseeing the day to day
management of Lodge Farm comprising 214 ha., at what is described as the centre
of the farming operations, and which now includes a livestock operation as part of a
proposed farming diversification of the business and also an intended regenerative
approach to farming. Additionally, the applicant would be residing at his place of work,
therefore reducing the number of vehicle movements made to and from the site each
day/week as well as providing welfare facilities for existing farmworkers. In terms of
the social benefits, the dwelling would meet the needs of the existing farming
enterprise and the ongoing stewardship of the land and would also count towards the
Council’s current housing supply deficit, albeit in a very insignificant way as a single
dwelling proposal.

3.3

However, it is still considered that the site is located within an unsustainable location
relative to local services, a position accepted by the applicant, where, as previously
noted for the original Committee Report for this application, that the site / Bardfield
Road is not served by any regular bus service (a bookable DART minibus is available
in the area), and there are no pavements or street lighting given the site’s rural
position where the relative remoteness of this outer section of Bardfield Road from
Thaxted village centre was a cited reason for the dismissal at appeal for a single
dwelling proposal at Pathwoods situated adjacent to the entrance to the site along the
Bardfield Road frontage (UTT/20/1627/FUL refers – APP/C1570/W/20/3259894).

3.4

The Inspector remarked for this dismissed appeal that the site should not be
considered as isolated in terms of paragraph 79 of the Framework (now paragraph
80 within the July 2021 NPPF revision update) given the presence of neighbouring
development and having regard to established case law. It must follow from this that
the site at Lodge Farm cannot be described as being isolated also (see applicant’s
reference to the Court of Appeal case above). However, the Inspector for the
dismissed Pathwoods appeal considered that this did not automatically equate to the
site being an accessible or suitable location, adding at paragraph 20 of the decision
letter that;

Page 88

“The appeal site is somewhat remote from the rural services and facilities in
Thaxted. There are some opportunities for pedestrians and cyclists, but these
are unlit and narrow rural roads and footpaths. Both are unlikely to be a realistic
option other than for experienced walkers and cyclists. Such a journey would
also not appeal at all”.
Whilst noting the proposed farmhouse scheme at Lodge Farm would include the
provision of an electric charging point, the Inspector for the dismissed Pathwoods
dwelling scheme added that whilst noting that electric vehicle usage is increasing that
the wider infrastructure “was not sufficient to make any determinative impact or
demonstrate it would be taken up other than on a limited individual basis”. Such is
also considered to be the case by Officers for the current Lodge Farm application.
3.5

It is accepted by Officers that there are similarities between the cited Council
approved single market dwelling proposal at Mill Hill Farm, Cutlers Green, Thaxted
situated on the west side of the village and the single market dwelling farmhouse
proposal at Lodge Farm currently before Members, namely that the two sites are the
same distance to Thaxted village centre, albeit on different sides to the village, and
that both dwelling schemes incorporate similar sized cross-winged 1½ storey
dwellings. However, the notable difference between the two sites as noted for the
original Committee Report for the current Lodge Farm proposal is that the approved
dwelling at Mill Hill Farm would be within walking distance of bus routes running
through Cutlers Green, namely the No.6 Stansted Airport - Saffron Walden hourly bus
service (Mon-Sat), the No.313 Great Dunmow - Saffron Walden two hourly bus
service (Mon-Sat) and the 451/453 school bus service between Felsted/Wimbish and
the Joyce Frankland Academy at Newport. As such, the principle of a new dwelling
at Mill Hill Farm was considered acceptable by officers at the time of consideration of
application UTT/18/1686/FUL on the basis of its favourable location in terms of
accessibility to public transport whereas this favourable advantage does not exist for
Lodge Farm.

3.6

The original Committee Report for the current planning application for Lodge Farm
stated that the proposed dwelling would have approximately one fifth of the footprint
compared to that of the hay barn to be demolished, thereby representing a significant
local environmental gain through net building loss. The Report assessed from this
that the introduction of a new dwelling at the site would thus have a lessened impact
on the local landscape than the current large agricultural structure and arguably would
lead to an environmental improvement at the site and its immediate surroundings. As
such, it is reaffirmed by officers that the proposed development would meet the
environmental dimension of the NPPF.

4.0

CONCLUSION

4.1

The applicant’s submitted Supplementary Planning Statement has been noted.
However, it is considered by your Officers that the arguments put forward within it in
support of the application proposal are not persuasive enough to warrant a change in
the original Officer recommendation, whereby the proposal has not been promoted
for land management under the normal planning requirements for an agricultural
workers dwelling whereby the Local Planning Authority is unable to properly
determine evidence of the necessity for a rural worker to live on the site to ensure the
effective operation of the agricultural enterprise, whether the farming business would
be able to sustain a dwelling of the size proposed at the present time and the degree
to which there is confidence that the enterprise would remain viable for the
foreseeable future. Furthermore, it is considered that the proposal would not amount

Page 89

to a presumption in favour of sustainable development in the tilted planning balance
for the reasons as set out in the original Committee Report and as reaffirmed in this
Addendum Report.
RECOMMENDATION – REFUSAL
1. The development has not been promoted for land management under the normal
planning requirements for an agricultural workers dwelling whereby the local
planning authority is unable to properly determine evidence of the necessity for a
rural worker to live on the site to ensure the effective operation of the agricultural
enterprise, whether the farming business would be able to sustain a dwelling of the
size proposed at the present time and the degree to which there is confidence that
the enterprise would remain viable for the foreseeable future. Therefore, the
development represents a form of inappropriate development in the countryside
contrary to paragraph 79 of the National Planning Policy Framework (revised July
2021), Policies H12 and S7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and Policies
TX LSC1, LSC2 and HD1 of the made Thaxted Neighbourhood Plan.
2. The proposal would not amount to a presumption in favour of sustainable
development as the site is poorly served by public transport and is not within walking
distance of local services meaning that there would be a reliance upon the motor car
to access these services. The proposal is therefore contrary to the National Planning
Policy Framework (revised July 2021) which seeks to contribute to the achievement
of sustainable development.

Page 90

UTT/21/1108/FUL
Call in request by Councillor Tayler if recommended for refusal – reason: “This is a
complex application which aims to support the sustainability of a significant local
business, namely a 500-acre farm, which has impacts on the local economy, rural
landscape, biodiversity and local food production”.
PROPOSAL:

Demolition of existing hay barn and erection of new
farmhouse

LOCATION:

Land at Lodge Farm, Bardfield End Green, Thaxted,
CM6 3PZ

APPLICANT:

Mr T Magness c/o David Magness Farms Ltd.

AGENT:

Donald Purkiss & Associates LLP.

EXPIRY DATE:

25.05.2021

CASE OFFICER:

Mr C Theobald

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Outside Development Limits.

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The site lies on the south side of the Bardfield Road between Bardfield End Green
and Little Bardfield and comprises a farmyard site consisting of a range of Victorian
barns of historic interest and a number of modern barns, the majority of which are in
active use as the main farm base for David Magness Farms Ltd, a family farming
enterprise comprising 445 ha, with 214 ha situated at Lodge Farm. The site is
generally flat with surrounding agricultural land. It is stated that the applicant has
recently re-established a cattle herd at Lodge Farm and that the site is also used to
rear turkeys, whilst 12 ha of adjoining woodland are used to rear traditional breed
Essex pigs and game which supply a local butcher’s shop.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

This full application relates to the demolition of an existing open-sided hay barn, and
for the erection of a 4 bedroomed farmhouse incorporating farm manager’s office
and staff welfare facilities.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

The development does not constitute 'EIA development' for the purposes of The
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017.

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

It is stated that Mr Magness Senior is set to retire from the family farming business
in an existing farmhouse in Debden Green and that the applicant (Thomas Magness,
son) will take over the running of the established farming enterprise whereby Lodge
Farm is the current base for the whole farming business. It is further stated that

Page 91

there is currently no farmhouse that is owned by the business for the applicant to
reside in, whereby he and other farm workers must travel to Lodge Farm each day
where there are no welfare facilities.
5.2

The application is accompanied by a Planning Supporting Statement incorporating
Design and Access and Transport Statement which describes the site and its
surroundings, sets out the planning history for the site, describes the proposal, the
need for the proposed development, relevant planning policy, and planning
considerations. The statement concludes as follows:


“The Revised NPPF states that where there is not an up-to-date Plan,
planning permission should be granted unless the application of the policies
in the Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance
provide a clear reason for refusal; in this instance the proposal does not
affect any such protected areas or assets. Or the adverse impacts of doing
so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when
assessed against the policies of the Framework as a whole.



I consider the benefits are as follows:
-

-

-

-

provision of a modest family house contributing towards the shortfall.
a high level of existing, enhanced and proposed new natural landscaping
benefits to biodiversity through the provision of further planting, especially
with the reduced building footprint.
very low impact on the rural character from the public footpath viewpoints.
reduction in existing building footprint of 864 square metres.
partial restoration of the historic nature and character of the site, through
provision of a farmhouse where for several hundred years one previously
stood. This improves the setting of the Victorian barns also.
the functional need the dwelling would perform in respect of the operation
of the farming enterprise, in particular the supervision of the livestock.
the functional need of the provision of a farm office and toilet at the
farmstead.
economic benefits to the existing business and proposed diversification
through the provision of a dwelling.
provision of a house, supporting the local school, services and facilities.
provision of a high quality dwelling, architect designed specifically for the
site, constructed of good materials, that would positively enhance the
character of the area.
The Magness family and the UK Holocaust Memorial Foundation intend
to create a community museum in the barns at Lodge Farm in relation to
the Bachad Farming Institute.



These positive attributes must be balanced against the very marginal
increase in car movements associated with the new house. I consider the
impact of this to be very limited for the reasons provided in this statement.



I conclude that the proposal represents 'sustainable development' in the
context of the NPPF. The presumption in favour of sustainable development
is engaged because relevant policies for the supply of housing, including the
associated site allocations and Development Limits, are out of date. In this
case, the negligible adverse effect of increase in domestic traffic movements
would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits from the
proposal's contribution towards housing land supply, improvements to rural
and historic character of the area, the benefits to the operation of the farming

Page 92

enterprise, the benefits to animal welfare and the general economic benefits.
Taking into account the more up-to-date nature of the revised NPPF with
respect to the determining issues, it is considered that the lack of accordance
with the development plan is overridden in this instance”.
6.
6.1

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY






6.2

Planning permission was granted in 1956 under reference DUN/0182/56 for
a new hostel incorporating a study centre. This is the present dwelling called
“The Lodge” which stands on the northern side of Lodge Farm.
At some time between 1962 and 1972 the old farmhouse at Lodge Farm was
demolished for reasons unknown.
Lodge Farm was sold to the David Magness family in 1972 (current owners)
when “The Lodge” was sold off separately and remains in separate
ownership.
Planning permission was granted in 1974 for a farm manager’s dwelling
under reference UTT/0559/74, although the dwelling was never built.
The current open-sided hay barn on the site proposed to be demolished by
the current application was constructed in the mid-1970’s.

Also considered of relevance to the submitted application are the following
determined planning applications:
Proposed 1 no. dwelling - Mill Hill Farmhouse, Cutlers Green Lane, Cutlers Green,
Thaxted – Approved 23 August 2018 (UTT/18/1686/FUL).
(Referred to by the applicant’s agent for the current planning application)
The delegated officer report for this approved single dwelling housing scheme stated
the following in terms of the planning merits of the proposal:


“The site is located outside Development Limits of Thaxted and therefore in
the countryside for the purposes of the Local Plan. The proposal conflicts
with the restrictive approach to housing development in the countryside
advocated by Policies S7 and H1. It is therefore considered that the proposal
conflicts with the Local Plan insofar as it relates to the location of housing.
However, the NPPF provides a more up-to-date approach to the location of
housing, which seeks to prevent isolated homes, but supports the growth of
existing settlements. The NPPF requires that new dwellings are not isolated.
The site is located within walking distance of the town of Thaxted where
many services and amenities are offered. In addition, the site is less than
600m from a public bus route. Thaxted Parish’s largest employer, J. Brock &
Sons, is less that 600m from the site. The recent appeal case (Braintree D.C.
V Secretary of State for Communities & Local Government, 2017 EWCH
2743) made it clear that isolation means "far away from other places,
businesses or people." Taking into account the judgement as a whole, the
site is not considered to be isolated for planning purposes. The site is next
to two dwellings and numerous buildings. Moreover, Thaxted is less than 5
minutes via private/public transport, less than 10 minutes via bike and less
than 20 minutes by footpath…
The dwelling would be well designed and whilst large would be in keeping
with the character of the area and the surrounding landscape…

Page 93

It is acknowledged that the occupants of the proposed dwelling would
realistically need to use a car to access most services, facilities and
employment. However, Cutlers Green is part of a rural bus route providing
semi-regular services between the larger village of Thaxted and the market
town of Great Dunmow with differing services accessible at varying times,
mitigating any policy conflict with GEN1 and adhering with NPPF paragraphs
7, 34 and 55 with respect to sustainable transport and the encouragement of
small-scale rural housing developments due to the associated economic and
social benefits…
The proposal conflicts with paragraph 17 of the NPPF due to the harmful
effect on the rural character of the area. However, the harm would be limited,
and the small contribution towards housing supply and the re-use of
previously developed land represent benefits. The tilted balance at
paragraph 14 of the NPPF is engaged because relevant policies for the
supply of housing, including the associated site allocations and Development
Limits, are out of date. In this case, the proposal represents 'sustainable
development' because the adverse effects would not significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits…
Taking into account the more up-to-date nature of the NPPF with respect to
the determining issues, it is considered that the lack of accordance with the
development plan is overridden in this instance. Regard has been had to all
other material considerations, and it is concluded that planning permission
should be granted”.


Erection of single dwelling – Pathwoods, Bardfield End Green, Thaxted Refused 3 July 2020 – Appeal dismissed (UTT/20/1627/FUL).
The appeals Inspector for this refused single dwelling scheme for an
undeveloped rectangular strip of land fronting onto Bardfield Road just to the
west of the access leading into Lodge Farm considered that the development
would fail to meet the social and environmental dimensions of the NPPF
given the site’s relative remoteness from local rural services and facilities
with no public transport options and in view of the level of rural amenity harm
which would result and would not because of these reasons represent a
presumption in favour of sustainable development.

7.

POLICIES
National Policies
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (revised February 2019)
Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)
ULP Policy S7 – The Countryside
ULP Policy H12 – Agricultural worker’s dwellings
ULP Policy GEN1 – Access
ULP Policy GEN2 – Design
ULP Policy GEN3 – Flood Protection
ULP Policy GEN7 – Nature Conservation
ULP Policy GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards

Page 94

Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance
Other Material Considerations:
Essex Design Guide
ECC Parking Standards – “Design and Good Practice” (September 2009)
UDC Parking Standards (adopted February 2013)
Thaxted Neighbourhood Plan (made 21 February 2019)
8.

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

The Parish Council resolved to unanimously support this application with the
following comments.
“The current application does have a full justification of need. The development is
entirely justified and in compliance with Policy S7 on the basis that it is development
that needs to be in the countryside”.

9.

CONSULTATIONS
Place Services (Ecology)

9.1

No ecology objections subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
measures
Place Services (Archaeology)

9.2

Recommend a programme of archaeological trial trenching.
UDC Environmental Health

9.3

Response Summary:
I have reviewed the details and information provided.
The application site is outside aircraft and other transportation noise significance
contours. The site is also outside the Air Quality Management Zone. It is considered
that due to the limited scope of the development that it will not negatively impact
neighbouring properties. A precautionary land contamination condition is however
recommended.
I therefore have no objections to the development and recommend a contamination
condition.

10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

12 representations received (support). Neighbour notification period expires 11 April
2021. Site notice expires 7 May 2021

10.2

Summary of representations received as follows:
The representations received all support the principle of a farm manager’s dwelling
at this existing farm location on the basis that full justification of agricultural need has
been demonstrated that the proposal would contribute to sustainable farming
practices, and that the design of the dwelling is appropriate for its rural setting.

Page 95

11.

APPRAISAL

The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:
A
B
C
D

Principle of development (NPPF, ULP Policies S7, H12 and GEN3, TNP Policies TX
LSC1, LSC2 and HD1);
Access considerations (ULP Policy GEN1);
Design (ULP Policy GEN2, TNP Policy HD10);
Impact upon protected/priority species (ULP Policy GEN7, TNP Policy TX LSC3).

A

Principle of development (NPPF, ULP Policies S7, H12 and GEN3, TNP Policies
TX LSC1, LSC2 and HD1)

11.1

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF - revised 2019) has a presumption
in favour of sustainable development whereby achieving sustainable development
has three overarching objectives, namely economic, social and environmental,
which are interdependent, and which need to be pursued in mutually supportive
ways so that opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across each of the
objectives.

11.2

Chapter 6 of the NPPF addresses the need to build a strong competitive economy
whereby paragraph 83 of the Framework states that planning policies and decisions
should enable the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural
areas, whilst paragraph 84 states that; “Planning policies and decisions should
recognise that sites to meet local business and community needs in rural areas may
have to be found adjacent to or beyond existing settlements and in locations that are
not well served by public transport. In these circumstances, it will be important to
ensure that development is sensitive to its surroundings, does not have an
unacceptable impact on local roads and exploits any opportunities to make a location
more sustainable…).

11.3

In terms of rural housing, paragraph 77 of the NPPF states that planning policies
and decisions should be responsive to local circumstances and support housing
developments that reflect local needs, adding at paragraph 78 that, “To promote
sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located where it will
enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities”. Paragraph 79 on the other
hand states that planning policies and decisions should avoid the development of
isolated homes in the countryside unless one or more of the following circumstances
apply, namely (in the instance of the current application proposal that; a) there is an
essential need for a rural worker, including those taking majority control of a farm
business, to live permanently at or near their place of work in the countryside…

11.4

Policy S7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) states that the countryside will
be protected for its own sake and that planning permission will only be given for
development that needs to take place there or is appropriate to a rural area, adding
that there will be strict control on new building. The policy adds that development
will only be permitted if its appearance protects or enhances the particular character
of the part of the countryside within which it is set or there are special reasons why
the development in the form proposed needs to be there. TNP Policies TX LSC1
and LSC2 echo the same policy sentiment. ULP Policy GEN3 steers new
development away from areas which are liable to flood in line with NPPF advice.

11.5

Separate to Policy S7, Policy H12 states that new dwellings for agricultural workers
may be permitted if both the following criteria are met;

Page 96

a) It can be demonstrated that there is an essential need for someone to live
permanently on site to provide essential care to animals or processes or
property at short notice.
b) The scale of the proposed dwelling relates to the needs of the agricultural
enterprise.
In these exceptional circumstances, residential occupancy conditions will be
imposed.
11.6

TX Policy LSC4 of the made Thaxted Neighbourhood Plan permits appropriate
development, including replacement dwellings, and for the re-use of existing
commercial sites, within the parish’s outerlying hamlet settlements, including
Bardfield End Green, although the Plan does not have any specific policies relating
to rural workers dwellings.

11.7

The case is made by the applicant for this new dwelling proposal that it has been
demonstrated that the proposal represents a presumption in favour of sustainable
development when assessed against the three sustainable development objectives
of the NPPF (economic, social and environmental). This assertion has been made
on the basis that a new farmhouse at Lodge Farm would meet the business needs
of the existing enterprise and would provide supervision for both expensive
machinery stored at the site and livestock, that the siting of a well-designed and fit
for purpose farmhouse would represent a significant reduction in footprint and built
form at the site compared to the larger rather utilitarian looking hay barn which would
be demolished benefiting the setting of the farmstead and the wider rural character
of the area, and that the dwelling would represent a sustainable live/work
environment for the applicant by not having the need to travel to and from work as
he would be based at his normal mode of business thereby reducing carbon
omissions.

11.8

It is also argued that the Council does not currently have a 5 year housing land
supply where this figure currently stands at 3.11 years and that the Thaxted
Neighbourhood Plan is now more than two years old and that its housing policies
are out of date, albeit that it is requested that the application be considered on its
planning merits. As such, it is argued that the combined benefits of the proposal
outweigh any identified adverse effects where these are considered not to be
significant and that the tilted planning balance is therefore engaged in favour of the
presumption in favour of sustainable development under paragraph 11 d) of the
NPPF.

11.9

In consideration of the principle of development for this application, the applicant has
set out a detailed farming background and farming case within the submitted
planning supporting statement justifying the need for a rural worker dwelling (i.e. an
agricultural workers dwelling) at this rural site location. However, the application has
not been submitted and premised for the promotion of land management, i.e., the
normal farming criteria under which an agricultural workers dwelling would normally
be assessed by an LPA for the purposes of Policy H12 of the adopted Local Plan as
referenced above in terms of assessing a) essential functional agricultural need and
b) financial viability to consider whether the agricultural holding would be able to
support an agricultural dwelling. Indeed, the applicant’s agent has emphasised in
the application submission that an agricultural dwelling in the normal and recognised
sense of the meaning is not being applied for as financial funding, e.g. a mortgage,
cannot be arranged for a dwelling with an agricultural restriction placed on it for the
site and as the applicant has made it clear that he would not want to be alternatively

Page 97

accommodated within a temporary mobile home on the site for say a period of three
years (normal period of temporary permission) to subsequently have the financial
viability of the farming unit tested while the farming business is established that is a
normal requirement of a local planning authority in such situations. Instead, as
previously mentioned, the applicant is relying on what he considers to be the
planning merits of the proposal as set out above for a market dwelling in the context
of the provisions of the NPPF to make the case that planning permission should be
granted.
11.10 As such, the local planning authority is unable to assess the merits of the application
as a farm workers dwelling under the normal criteria of Policy H12 which has a
similar assessment criteria to previously withdrawn government advice known as
“Annexe A”, although the “essential need” requirement of paragraph 79 is still
pertinent and which is expanded by current PPG guidance note 009 Reference ID:
67-009-20190722 Revision date: 22 07 2019” and which in effect supersedes the
previous “Annexe A” guidance. It is clear from the information submitted, however,
that there is some functional need for a farm worker’s dwelling for the existing
agricultural enterprise, although this is not considered sufficient justification in itself
for a dwelling, particularly of the size proposed, to be granted planning permission
where farming accounts, for example, are not available to the Council to inspect in
the normal way or to be independently verified to predict with certainty for the
purposes of PPG guidance “the degree to which there is confidence that the
enterprise will remain viable for the foreseeable future” (i.e. the financial viability
test), albeit these have been previously requested, where the Council has to assume
that the applicant has a separate financial means to being able to take out a
mortgage or other financial loan to fund the proposed 4 bedroomed market dwelling.
11.11 The applicant has stated that it could be possible to convert one of the existing
Victorian agricultural barns on the site to a dwelling under Class Q permitted
development rights where the aforementioned PPG guidance asks “whether the
need could be met through improvements to existing accommodation on the site,
providing such improvements are appropriate taking into account their scale,
appearance and the local context”. In this respect, the applicant has stated that this
possibility would not be desirable given the usefulness of this range of brick and high
roofed buildings capable of housing expensive farm machinery, as the resulting
impact of building conversion would have a greater environmental impact on the
character of the area than a traditionally designed new dwelling more in keeping and
as there is a desire by the applicant to use the buildings as a museum. However,
this can be regarded as representing a fall-back position and is therefore a material
planning consideration.
11.12 The applicant’s economic argument is considered strong in terms of consolidating
the farming base at Lodge Farm with a farm manager’s dwelling where it is
additionally stated that the erection of a farm dwelling would enable the farming
enterprise to continue without interruption to the next generation producing food in
the difficult post-Brexit era (food security) which would include a new sustainable
farming business model by introducing new livestock at the farm for local meat
consumption. This economic role would chime with NPPF advice under Chapter 6
which states that significant weight should be attached to the need to support
business growth where this includes being flexible to accommodate needs, allowing
flexible working practices, enabling rapid responses to economic changes, enabling
sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas, including
the development and diversification of agricultural and other land-based businesses.

Page 98

11.13 The weakness of the submitted scheme is the site’s location in that the site is not
regarded be within a sustainable location relative to local services; a fact recognised
by the applicant in the planning submission. The site / Bardfield Road is not served
by any regular bus service (a bookable DART minibus is available in the area), and
there are no pavements or street lighting given the site’s rural position where this
section of Bardfield Road’s relative remoteness from local rural services and facilities
was a cited reason for refusal at appeal for the new dwelling proposal at Pathwoods
situated adjacent to the entrance to the site along the Bardfield Road frontage
(UTT/20/1627/FUL refers). As such, there would be a reliance on the use of the
private motor car for travel from the site to local services, although it is accepted that
vehicle movements to and from the site would be lessened by the fact that the
applicant would be living at his place of work. Furthermore, Lodge Farm is not by
definition said to be isolated, and it would be easily possible to cycle into Thaxted
from the site. However, it is concluded for this section that the proposal would not
fully perform the social role or dimension of the NPPF.
11.14 The large open hay barn proposed to be demolished by the current dwelling proposal
is a structure expected to be seen within the working agricultural landscape and,
whilst appearing functional and rather utilitarian in its appearance, serves this role in
this respect. The proposed dwelling would have a considerably reduced footprint
compared to that of the hay barn (approximately a fifth of its footprint) and it is
considered that there would be a significant environmental gain in removing the
straw barn in favour of the dwelling proposed. The introduction of a new dwelling at
the site would therefore have a lessened impact on the local landscape than the
current large structure and arguably would enhance it leading to an environmental
improvement at the site overall subject to the design of the dwelling being
sympathetic to its immediate surroundings. As such, the proposed development
would meet the environmental dimension of the NPPF.
B

Access considerations (ULP Policy GEN1)

11.15 Lodge Farm is accessed via a long shared private access drive from Bardfield Road
which passes The Lodge before entering the farmyard to the immediate south. The
proposal is for a single dwelling to be used by the applicant meaning that there would
be an inconsequential increase in vehicular use of this private access drive by the
proposed development whereby the access drive is already used by farm related
traffic. No highway objections are therefore raised under ULP Policy GEN1.
C

Design (ULP Policy GEN2, TNP HD10)

11.16 The dwelling would have a traditional design and appearance reflecting the local
rural vernacular incorporating a central cross-wing with front and rear gable
projections with steeply pitched roofs and a side ancillary offshoot to be used as the
farm office/staff welfare area. The dwelling would not be fully two storeys in height
and would be externally clad with render on a red brick plinth with a slate roof with
timber boarding and brick plinth for the single storey side projection. Windows would
be traditional sashes and casements made of painted timber. No garage is
proposed.
11.17 Whilst the dwelling would be large, it would architecturally be well-articulated with
good proportions of scale whereby it would not be out of character or scale with other
similar sized dwellings found within the neighbouring local countryside context and
no design objections are raised under ULP Policy GEN2 or TNP TX HD10 in this
regard. The dwelling would have a generous private amenity space which would

Page 99

not be overlooked and would have appropriate surface parking arrangements in
accordance with adopted parking standards (ULP Policy GEN8).
D

Impact upon protected/priority species (ULP Policy GEN7, TNP TX LSC3)

11.18 The structure to be demolished is an open pole barn type structure surrounded by
open hardstanding areas. An ecological survey and assessment (Essex Mammal
Surveys, Jan 2020) found that the site was low in ecological value not providing
suitable habitats for any notable protected species, including bats, reptiles, badgers
or great crested newts and does not recommend any further species surveys in light
of these negative findings.
11.19 Place Services Ecology have reviewed the submitted information and findings and
have stated that there is sufficient information available for determination and that
they have no ecology objections to the proposal subject to appropriate ecology
conditions, including the submission for approval of a biodiversity enhancement
strategy to seek ecological net gains for the site, and a wildlife sensitive lighting
scheme given the site’s rural location. No ecology objections are raised under Policy
GEN7 or TNP TX LSC3 on this basis.
12.

CONCLUSION

The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:
A

The application proposal has not been promoted for land management under the
normal planning requirements for an agricultural workers dwelling whereby the local
planning authority is unable to properly determine evidence of the necessity for a
rural worker to live on the site to ensure the effective operation of the agricultural
enterprise, whether the farming business would be able to sustain a dwelling of the
size proposed at the present time and the degree to which there is confidence that
the enterprise would remain viable for the foreseeable future.

B

Access arrangements are considered acceptable.

C

The design of the proposed dwelling is considered acceptable.

D

The development would not have a harmful impact on protected or priority species.

RECOMMENDATION – REFUSAL
Reasons
1.

The development has not been promoted for land management under the normal
planning requirements for an agricultural workers dwelling whereby the local
planning authority is unable to properly determine evidence of the necessity for a
rural worker to live on the site to ensure the effective operation of the agricultural
enterprise, whether the farming business would be able to sustain a dwelling of the
size proposed at the present time and the degree to which there is confidence that
the enterprise would remain viable for the foreseeable future. Therefore, the
development represents a form of inappropriate development in the countryside
contrary to paragraph 79 of the National Planning Policy Framework (revised
February 2019), Policies H12 and S7 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005)
and Policies TX LSC1, LSC2 and HD1 of the made Thaxted Neighbourhood Plan.

Page 100

2.

The proposal would not amount to a presumption in favour of sustainable
development as the site is poorly served by public transport and is not within walking
distance of local services meaning that there would be a reliance upon the motor car
to access these services. The proposal is therefore contrary to the National Planning
Policy Framework (revised February 2019) which seeks to contribute to the
achievement of sustainable development.

Page 101

LODGE FARM, BARDFIELD END GREEN, THAXTED, ESSEX. UTT/21/1108/FUL.

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING STATEMENT.
This document is submitted on behalf of the applicant, to provide a brief resume of the
national and local planning policies and how the application is considered to accord with these
policies.
The Council is invited to grant planning permission under the provision of paragraph 11 of the
NPPF, revised July 2021. This states that plans and decisions should apply a presumption in
favour of sustainable development. For decision making this means approving development
proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay or where there are
no relevant plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the
application are out of date, granting permission unless:
i) the application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provide a clear reason for refusing the development proposed: or
ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole.
The Council does not have an up to date plan, (there is no 5 year housing supply), and
therefore the proposals must be weighed against the Framework, and Saved policies where
they are in compliance with the provisions of the Framework. Paragraphs i) and ii) above are
triggered because of this.
In applying these provisions, number i) does not apply, as there are no assets of particular
importance that would provide a clear reason for refusal in this instance. Therefore ii) applies
and it is considered that the benefits of the scheme demonstrably outweigh the harm, when
assessed against the Framework Policies as a whole. It was under this paragraph that many
developments have been permitted, in the absence of a 5 year housing supply, including the
erection of one detached dwelling at Mill Hill Farmhouse, Cutlers Green Lane, Thaxted.
(UTT/18/1686/FUL). This site has virtually the same location and site characteristics as Lodge
Farm, on the western side of Thaxted, except the plot occupied a paddock and the proposal
did not infer the demolition of an existing building.
It is considered that it has been demonstrated that the proposal meets all 3 strands of
sustainability as follows:
Economic.
The erection of one dwelling on this site would provide a temporarily economic benefit in
respect of boosting local employment and the supply of building materials during
construction, and thereafter the residents contributing to the local economy. However, it
would also support a prosperous rural economy and local food production. Food production
is a business like all others and I consider the economic benefits of the proposal to be

1

Page 102

LODGE FARM, BARDFIELD END GREEN, THAXTED, ESSEX. UTT/21/1108/FUL.

considerable. (For further information please refer to para 5.11- 5.15 of the Planning
Supporting Statement).

Social.
The social role involves supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring a
sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of the present and
future generations. This dwelling would meet the needs of the farming business and the
ongoing stewardship of the land.
With regard to providing the required housing, I have already stated that the Council cannot
demonstrate a 5-year housing supply. This proposal would facilitate the provision of a family
dwelling, providing valuable housing adding to the existing available housing stock.
It is accepted that it is not a sustainable location, as the aforementioned Cutler Green site was
not. It would not realistically be possible to walk to schools or shops; only to the cricket club.
Car journeys would be required for shopping and other purposes.
However, it would be sustainable in respect of Thomas Magness as Lodge Farm is the centre
of the farming operations for the surrounding land and the applicant would not have to drive
to Lodge Farm each day to start the day’s work as he does now. Nor would he and fellow
workers have to leave site to use a toilet, make a hot drink or prepare food. The daily car
journeys associated with one dwelling are very small, on average 2 x 2 way movements. One
of these can be eliminated, Thomas Magness not having to travel to work, rendering the net
daily car movements minimal. In addition an electric car charging point is shown provided at
the dwelling, to facilitate an electric car. This is the only negative of the scheme that can be
found, that is minimal for the reasons given.
Environmental.
The Planning Statement sets out in the full the environmental assessment of the proposal and
its impact, or lack of. In summary, it provides for the demolition of an existing straw barn,
(the straw will be stored in the adjacent brick barns) and the erection of a dwelling on part of
the same footprint, but 1/5 of the size. It will be located on the siting of a previous farmhouse,
demolished in the 1960’s. It will restore the historic association of a farmhouse with Victorian
farm buildings.
The house is based on a Wealden style hall house with 2 cross wings. This is typical of many
15th century farmhouses in the Thaxted area and was probably the form the original
farmhouse on the site took before it was remodelled in Georgian times.

2

Page 103

LODGE FARM, BARDFIELD END GREEN, THAXTED, ESSEX. UTT/21/1108/FUL.

The reduction in footprint, the high quality design and materials, the additional landscaping
and the restoration of the historic farmstead association will demonstrably enhance the
character and appearance of the rural area, as well as the setting of the Victorian barns.
There is wholehearted support for the proposal under the environmental strand of
sustainability.
Engaging paragraph 11 of the NPPF it is clear from the above that the only negative impact is
the vehicle movements associated with 1 modest dwelling. But this is reduced by the fact
that the applicant will not have to travel to work. However, all the benefits can be
summarised as follows:
- the provision of a modest family house contributing towards the housing shortfall.
- a high level of existing, enhanced and proposed new natural landscaping along all of the
boundaries that will enhance the character of the area and assimilate the dwelling into its
surroundings.
- benefits to biodiversity through the provision of further planting, especially with the
reduced building footprint.
- a very low impact on the rural character from the public footpath viewpoints.
- a reduction in footprint of 864 square metres. The proposed dwelling has a footprint of
1/5 of that of the existing barn to be demolished. There is a similar reduction in volume.
This significantly reduces the visual impact on the rural area.
- the partial restoration of the historic nature and character of the site, through the provision
of a farmhouse where for several hundred years one previously stood. This improves the
setting of the Victorian barns also.
- the functional need the dwelling would perform, in respect of the operation of the farming
enterprise in particular the supervision of the livestock.
- the functional need of the provision of a farm office and toilet at the farmstead.
- the economic benefits to the existing business and the proposed diversification through the
provision of a dwelling here.
- the occupants of the house would support the local school, services and facilities.
- the provision of a high quality dwelling, architect designed specifically for the site,
constructed of good materials, that would positively enhance the character of the area.
- The Magness family and the UK Holocaust Memorial Foundation intend to create a
community museum in the barns at Lodge Farm in relation to the Bachad Farming
Institute.
3

Page 104

LODGE FARM, BARDFIELD END GREEN, THAXTED, ESSEX. UTT/21/1108/FUL.

I conclude that the benefits demonstrably and significantly outweigh the very small level of
harm identified. Paragraph 11 is engaged and planning permission should be granted.
At the committee meeting in July when this was discussed, Members raised the valid question
as to why an agricultural dwelling had not been applied for. However, a mortgage is not
available for an agricultural dwelling making borrowing difficult and expensive. Also it would
have been necessary to provide an agricultural justification and demonstrate a functional
requirement to be on site 24 hours a day 7 days a week. Having proved this it is usual to first
permit a mobile home then a dwelling that is generally very modest in size. As the livestock
has recently been introduced a functional need could not be demonstrated, and the applicant
does not wish to live in a mobile home. There is no desire to convert the adjacent barns as
they are actively used for agriculture and there are plans to one day open part of them as a
holocaust museum.
Furthermore, the applicant wishes to be treated like every other applicant, and in the absence
of a 5 year housing supply it is considered that the case has been demonstrated to enable a
permission to be granted under paragraph 11 of the NPPF and it is on this basis that the
application has been made.
This should not be confused with an application under paragraph 80 that makes provision for
‘isolated homes’ that encompasses agricultural dwellings. The definition of ‘isolated’ was
considered in the Braintree v Secretary of State case where clarity was sought in the Court of
Appeal. The ruling concluded that ‘isolated’ in this context means ‘physically isolated’ and
that there is no need to take into account ‘functional isolation’ as well (i.e. whether the
proposed dwelling would be isolated relative to services and facilities).
The application site is not ‘isolated’ applying this definition. It is adjacent to an existing
dwelling under separate ownership, just north of the site, known as ‘The Lodge’ there are
further dwellings at the end of the driveway, lodge Cottages. Therefore, the proposal can be
considered under paragraph 11, applying the planning balance, and not under paragraph 80.
It is hoped that this succinctly sets out the planning situation to clarify to Members the issues
raised at committee. Further clarification can be provided at the site meeting if required.
Lucy Carpenter.
August 2021.

4

Page 105

Agenda Item 8
UTT/21/2501/FUL (Henham)
(Referred to Committee. Reason: Applicant is a Councillor)
PROPOSAL:

Proposed erection of 1 no. detached dwelling and double
garage/annexe (following outline planning permission
UTT/19/2993/OP)

LOCATION:

Land At Old Mead Road
Henham
Bishops Stortford
Hertfordshire
CM22 6JG

APPLICANT:

Garry LeCount

AGENT:

Mr James Collinson

EXPIRY DATE:

01.10.2021

CASE OFFICER:

Alishba Emanuel

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Within Flood Plain Zone 2: Flood Zone 2
Within Flood Plain Zone 3: Flood Zone 3
Within 2KM of S.S.S.I
Within 6KM of Stansted Airport
Within 25M of Railway
Within 100M of Railway
Within Flood zone 3a + Climate Change
Within Flood zone 3b
Outside Development Limits
SSSI Impact Risk Zones - Natural England: 170

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The site consists of the curtilage of a detached bungalow and paddocks to the
rear. The site is on the southern side of Old Mead Road.

2.2

The property has two vehicular accesses onto the highway forming an “carriage
driveway” arrangement and an access, to the western side of the frontage to the
site, to the paddocks associated with the property.

2.3

The West Anglia Main line railway is to the rear (south) of the property.,

2.4

To the west is another residential property, known as Chestnut Rise. To the east is a
paddock in another ownership.

2.5

The site is within a cluster of houses in countryside to the northwest of Henham.
The railway station at Elsenham is less than a mile and a half away the south.

Page 106

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

The proposal is seeking planning permission for the proposed erection of 1 no.
detached dwelling and double garage/annexe (following outline planning
permission UTT/19/2993/OP)

3.2

The proposals are for the construction of a new 4-bedroom, 1.5 chalet bungalow
dwelling with associated on-site parking and a garage forward of the proposed
dwelling and electrical charging points.

3.3

The site is a narrow rectangle in shape.

3.4

The site plan demonstrates adequate parking space (4) which meets the
Uttlesford District Council Adopted Parking Standards, with two additional spaces
provided by the proposed double garage.

3.5

The dwelling is proposed to have a maximum overall height of 7.4m

3.6

External materials would consist of red-faced brick plinth, white rendered walls,
clay tiles for the roof, white painter timber windows/doors and black fascia
boards/rainwater goods.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

The development site is situated within the 14.6km evidenced zone of influence
of recreational impacts at Hatfield Forest Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)/
National Nature Reserve (NNR). Therefore, the application was required to
provide an ecological survey which was submitted and reviewed by the Essex
County Council Place Services’ ecological advice service.

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

The applicant has provided the following in support of their application:






Planning Design and Access Statement
Phase I Geoenvironmental Assessment Report
Ecological Survey
Design and Access Statement for Outline Application for Four Detached
Houses Cott-Moor
Biodiversity Checklist

5.2

The proposed dwelling is located outside development limits for Henham
therefore an assessment of the site was made to determine whether the site is in
a sustainable location and has an existing vehicular access.

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

There have been a number of planning and listed building application submitted
to the Council over the years however the most recent and relevant applications
to the proposed application are listed below:

Page 107

UTT/14/2179/OP - Outline application for single dwelling and garage with all
matters reserved except access. (REFUSED)
UTT/15/1868/OP Outline planning application, with all matters reserved except
for access, for one dwelling and garage using existing vehicular access. (APPROVED WITH CONDITIONS)
UTT/16/0764/DFO - Details following outline planning permission for the erection
of 1 no. dwelling and garage (UTT/15/1868/OP) - Details of layout, scale,
landscaping and appearance - (APPROVED WITH CONDITIONS)
UTT/19/2993/OP - Outline application for the demolition of existing dwelling and
outbuildings and erection of 4 no. new dwellings with all matters reserved except
access - (APPROVED WITH CONDITIONS)
UTT/20/2541/FUL - Creation of new vehicular access - (APPROVED WITH
CONDITIONS)

7.

POLICIES
Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)

7.1

S7 – The Countryside
GEN1 – Access
GEN2 – Design
GEN4 – Good Neighbourliness
GEN7 – Nature Conservation
GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards
ENV10 – Noise Sensitive Development and Disturbance from Aircraft
ENV14 – Contaminated Land
H1 – Housing Development
H10 – Housing Mix
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance

7.2

SPD “Accessible Homes and Playspace”
National Policies

7.3

National Planning Policy Framework – (July 2021)
Other Material Considerations

7.4

ECC Parking Standards
UDC Parking Standards
Essex Design Guide

8.

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

The Parish Council provided no comments.

Page 108

9.

CONSULTATIONS
ECC ECOLOGY

9.1

The following comments were provided:
“No objection subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement
measures”

9.2

ACTION REQUIRED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ECOLOGICAL APPRAISAL
RECOMMENDATIONS
“All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in
accordance with the details contained in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
Report (EECOS, Oct 2019), as already submitted with the planning application
and agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination.
This may include the appointment of an appropriately competent person e.g. an
ecological clerk of works (ECoW) to provide on-site ecological expertise during
construction. The appointed person shall undertake all activities, and works shall
be carried out, in accordance with the approved details.
This includes due diligence for reptiles, hedgehog, badger and nesting birds.”
Reason: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the
LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as
amended) and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in
compliance with GEN7 of the Uttlesford District Council Local Plan

9.3

PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT: CONSTRUCTION ENVIRONMENTAL
MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR BIODIVERSITY
“A construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following.
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities (i.e.,
clearance work on reptile, hedgehog, and nesting birds).
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a
set of method statements) and should include an updated walkover survey prior
to commencement.
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to
biodiversity features.
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be
present on site to oversee works.
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works
(ECoW) or similarly competent person.
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.

Page 109

The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority”
Reason: To conserve protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and s40
of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in compliance with GEN7
of the Uttlesford District Council Local Plan

9.4

PRIOR TO ANY WORKS ABOVE SLAB LEVEL: BIODIVERSITY
ENHANCEMENT STRATEGY
“A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for Protected and Priority species shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the
following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement
measures (as a minimum: provision of bird, bat and bug boxes, permeable
boundaries for hedgehogs (i.e. cut outs in fences or hedgerows instead of
fences / walls), new wildlife friendly / native species planting, log piles,
hedgehog homes);
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps
and plans, to be included on landscape plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to
occupation and shall be retained in that manner thereafter.”
Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA
to discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species) and in compliance with GEN7 of the Uttlesford District Council Local
Plan
ECC HIGHWAYS

9.5

The Highways Agency has been consulted and have no objection to the proposal
subject to conditions.
It is therefore concluded that the proposal subject to conditions accord with the
above policies and guidance insofar as they relate to highway safety.
RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS:

9.6

Prior to first occupation of the dwelling, the access at the centre line shall be
provided with a clear to ground visibility splay with dimensions of 2.4 metres by
120 metres, as measured from and along the nearside edge of the carriageway
(including tangential splay). Such vehicular visibility splays shall be provided
before the access is first used by vehicular traffic and retained free of any
obstruction at all times.

Page 110

Reason: To provide adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the
accesses and those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway
safety.

9.7

Prior to first occupation of the dwelling, the vehicular access shall be
constructed at right angles to the highway boundary and to the existing
carriageway. The width of the access at its junction with the highway shall not be
less than 3 metres (4.5 metres maximum), shall be retained at that width for 6
metres within the site and shall be provided with an appropriate vehicular
crossing of the highway verge.
Reason: To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a
controlled manner in the interest of highway safety

9.8

No unbound material shall be used in the surface treatment of the vehicular
access within 6 metres of the highway boundary.
Reason: To avoid displacement of loose material onto the highway in the
interests of highway safety.

9.9

The proposed development shall not be occupied until such time as the vehicle
parking area indicated on the approved plans has been provided. The vehicle
parking area and associated turning area shall be retained in this form at all
times.
Reason: To ensure that appropriate parking is provided, in the interests of
highway safety.
The above conditions are required to ensure that the development accords with
the Highway Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted as County
Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011 and Uttlesford Local Plan
Policy GEN1.
Environmental Health Comments

9.10

Contaminated Land
The Council has viewed the Symbiotic Phase I Geoenvironmental Assessment
Reporth1387 R01: Issue 1.0 and agrees with the findings, however, it is the
developer's responsibility to ensure that final ground conditions are fit for the
end use of the site therefore the following condition is requested;
If during any site investigation, excavation, engineering, or construction works
evidence of land contamination is identified, the applicant shall notify the Local
Planning Authority without delay. Any land contamination identified, shall be
remediated to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority to ensure that the
site is made suitable for its end use.
Reason: To protect human health and the environment

Page 111

9.11

Noise
The original comments made by this service on UTT/19/2993/OP are still valid
and the suggested conditions should be included in this proposal, see extract
below:
“The site lies to the east of an existing railway line which will be an intermittent
noise source, as will noise from the more distant M11 which will provide a more
pervasive contribution to the ambient noise environment. Old Mead Road itself
will also be a source of transport noise, from road traffic. Transport noise tends
to be a more anonymous noise source than say commercial noise sources. As
such, they are not usually seen as a barrier to development as long as adequate
mitigation measures are incorporated into the design, layout and construction of
the development.
Whilst it is always preferable to consider and assess potential noise impacts and
proposed mitigation measures in advance of the granting of planning consent, this
is not always achieved. It is also noted that the proposed dwellings will be no
closer to the railway line & M11 than the existing and neighbouring dwellings at
this location. As such, I do not think an objection on noise grounds at this location
is likely to be sustainable and I would therefore recommend that the following
condition is attached to any consent granted

9.12

Noise Mitigation –Transport Noise
Prior to commencement of the development a scheme, supported by a robust
noise impact assessment, shall be submitted for the protection of the dwellings
from noise arising from road & rail transport sources for approval in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. No dwellings shall be occupied until the scheme
providing protection for those dwellings has been implemented in accordance
with the approved details and has been demonstrated to achieve the required
noise levels to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. The approved
scheme shall be retained in accordance with those details thereafter.
REASON: To provide reasonable living standards within an acoustic environment
for the occupiers of the dwellings in accordance with ULP Policy ENV10 of the
Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

3 Neighbours consulted – expired 06.09.2021 –1 representation was received
neither in support nor objection to the proposed development

10.2

A summary of the points raised in the representations are:



The plot is narrower in comparison to the outline planning permission
UTT/19/2993/OP
Building Depth has increased as well as width, which brings the proposed
dwelling closer to the boundary lines of the plot

Page 112

11.

APPRAISAL
The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:

A

The principle of the development (Policies S7, H1 and H10)

B

Whether the layout, design and appearance of the proposal is acceptable
(Local Policy GEN2 and NPPF)

C

Impact to neighbours (Policy GEN2 and GEN4)

D

Vehicular access and parking (Policies GEN1 and GEN8)

E

If there are any ecology issues would arise from the development (Policy
GEN7).

A

The principle of the development (Policies S7, H1 & H10)

11.1

The site is outside of the Defined Development Limit of Henham, the proposal is
for residential development within a residential area.

11.2

Policy S7 which looks to protect the countryside meaning development will only
be permitted if its appearance protects or enhances the character of the part of
the countryside within which it is set or there are special reasons why the
development in the form proposed needs to be there. It is considered that the
proposed development will protect the character of the setting and cause no harm
to the appearance of the existing dwelling or surrounding settlement.

11.3

S7 takes a more protective approach to countryside development, unlike
NPPF’s positive stance, but the aim to protect the countryside for its own sake
remains entirely relevant and consistent with the NPPF in recognising the
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside (para 174(b)) while identifying
opportunities for villages to grow where this would support local services (para
79). Development will be strictly controlled, and isolated houses will need
exceptional justification (para 80). S7 states that development will only be
permitted if its appearance protects or enhances the character of the part of the
countryside within which it is set or there are special reasons why the
development in the form proposed needs to be there. The test would be about:
(1) ‘isolation’ (i.e., spatial/physical separation from a settlement).
(2) ‘Proximity to services.

11.4

The principle of the development was assessed in applications UTT/15/1868/OP
and UTT/19/2993/OP. Despite an inability for potential occupants to walk to
services and nearby amenities, it is considered the bus services which are 900m
10 1.5km away are reachable via cycling, which improves the schemes
sustainability. Furthermore, train services are approximately 2.4km from the site
and therefore accessible in a similar manner. The sustainability of the scheme is
also improved through the provision of the electric charging stations on site.
Although there may be a higher reliance on vehicular transport to access nearby
amenities and services, the encouragement of electric vehicular use is considered
to offset the potential lack of walkable routes to access services and amenities.

Page 113

11.5

The first criterion of Policy H1 is the availability of previously developed land, and
this is the case in respect to this application.

11.6

The second criterion is the location and accessibility of sites. The site is located
outside the Development Limits of Henham, it is a sustainable location that is
easily accessible and as such the second criterion is met.

11.7

The third criterion is that existing infrastructure has the capacity to absorb further
development the infrastructure provision in the settlement of Henham is
considered sufficient to accommodate the requirements of additional occupants.

11.8

The fourth criterion is that the development can build communities.
The addition of this single household would support local services and facilities.

11.9

The fifth criterion is that development considers constraints such as flood risk.
The site was considered for potential flood risk issues, the proposal is not
considered to be significantly impacted by flooding.

11.10

The sixth criterion is that the development considers a review of land previously
allocated for employment purposes. The site is not a key employment site.

11.11

Furthermore, the proposal meets a requirement of the NPPF, set out at section
11, of making effective use of land. Paragraph 119 of the NPPF states that
planning decisions should promote an effective use of land in meeting the need
for homes. The Council is not currently able to demonstrate a five-year housing
land supply, which is currently identified as 3.11 years, the proposal would assist
in some part to reach this objective.

11.12

The principle of the development is acceptable with regard to Policies S7 and H1
of the adopted Local Plan.

B

Whether the layout, design and appearance of the proposal is acceptable
(Local Policy GEN2 and NPPF)

11.13

As referred to above, strategic planning policies require development to be
compatible with a settlement’s character. Policy GEN2 provides more detail as to
this consideration stating that development will not be permitted unless its design
meets all of a number of criteria.

11.14

The first criterion of Policy GEN2 is that the development be compatible with the
scale, form, layout, appearance, and materials of surrounding buildings. The
proposed development is considerably set back from the highway which alleviates
the potential harm to the visual amenity of the public realm.

11.15

Having considered the setting of the site and the existing street scene, it is thought
that in broad terms the scale, form and appearance of the proposal is acceptable.
The layout would be compatible with surroundings in that the replacement
dwelling would be of a similar size and scale and make use materials that are
considered to compliment the surrounding settlement.

11.16

The second criterion is that the development should safeguard important
environmental features in its setting. The site is currently empty with the exception
of vegetation and trees along the boundaries of the site. The development does

Page 114

not propose any impact to these trees and will be retained to provide a screen to
the highway.
11.17

With regard to the appearance of the proposal within its street scene, the proposal
is considered acceptable with regard to Policy GEN2.

C

Impact to neighbours (Policy GEN2 and GEN4)

11.18

The site has one immediate neighbour; ‘Cott-Moor’ located to west of the site.

11.19

The neighbouring dwelling is 1.5 storey; the proposed new dwelling has been
designed within the architectural vernacular and height of the surrounding
buildings to improve its compatibility

11.20

The proposal includes windows on the left side elevation and right-side elevation
on the upper ground floor of the dwelling. The left side elevation which faces the
neighbouring property have been obscure glazed as they serve an ensuite, and
bathroom which mitigates any additional overlooking issues the inclusion of the
windows may have caused. it is also considered due to the separation distance
between the proposed dwelling and the neighbouring property of Cott Moor which
mitigates the potential impacts to the privacy and residential amenity of the
neighbouring dwelling.

11.21

Due to positioning of proposed built form, there would be no material loss of
amenity to any neighbour about loss of daylight, overbearing impact or
overshadowing.

11.22

With regard to impact to neighbours, the proposal is acceptable with regard to
Policy GEN2 and GEN4.

D

Vehicular access and parking (Policies GEN1 and GEN8)

11.23

Policy GEN1 of the Local Plan requires developments to be designed so that they
do not have unacceptable impacts upon the existing road network, that they must
not compromise road safety and to take account of cyclists, pedestrians, public
transport users, horse riders and people whose mobility is impaired and also
encourage movement by means other than the car.

11.24

The plans provided indicate sufficient parking spaces will be provided, including
electric charging docks improving the sustainable travel options offered through
the development.

11.25

The four bedroomed house would require 3 no. parking spaces each to meet the
relevant parking standard. This requirement has been demonstrated by the
applicant. The proposal is considered acceptable with regard to Policy GEN8.

G

If there are any ecology issues would arise from the development (ULP
Policy GEN7).

11.26

The application includes a completed Biodiversity Checklist, and an Ecological
Survey, accompany the Biodiversity Checklist.

Page 115

11.27

Essex County Council Ecology has been consulted and have no objection to the
proposal subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures
on the site.

11.28

It is therefore concluded that the proposal subject to conditions accord with the
above policies and guidance insofar as they relate to Nature Conservation.

12.

CONCLUSION
The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:

A

The site forms part of a cluster of housing in the open countryside, which adjoins
Henham village. There can be no objection in principle due to the planning history
of the site.

B

The design of the proposal is acceptable in that it would appear sympathetic to
the character and appearance of the street scene and the proposed design fits
the general pattern formed by surrounding development.

C

Due to positioning of proposed built form, isolation distances and orientation,
there would be no material loss of amenity to any neighbour with regard to loss of
daylight, overbearing impact or overshadowing.

D

The proposal would not result in detrimental harm upon highway safety and
adequate parking provisions have been provided to accommodate the use.

E

There is no evidence that the proposed development will have harmful impact to
adverse impact on protected species.

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL WITH CONDITIONS
Conditions
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years
from the date of this decision.
REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that
Order with or without modification), no development within Part 1 and Part 2 of
Schedule 2 of the Order shall take place without the prior written permission of
the local planning authority.
REASON: To prevent the site becoming overdeveloped and protect the amenities
of the neighbouring dwellings and the Conservation Area, in accordance with
Policy GEN2, GEN4 and ENV1 of the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan (2005).

3.

Prior to occupation the dwelling shall be provided with the electric vehicle charging
points shown within the development plans. The charging point shall be fully
wired and connected, ready to use and retained thereafter.

Page 116

REASON: to encourage/support cleaner vehicle usage in accordance with policy
ENV13 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005) and the NPPF.
4.

Prior to first occupation of the dwelling, the access at the centre line shall be
provided with a clear to ground visibility splay with dimensions of 2.4 metres by
120 metres, as measured from and along the nearside edge of the carriageway
(including tangential splay). Such vehicular visibility splays shall be provided
before the access is first used by vehicular traffic and retained free of any
obstruction at all times.
REASON: To provide adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the
accesses and those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway
safety to ensure that the development accords with the Highway Authority’s
Development Management Policies, adopted as County Council Supplementary
Guidance in February 2011 and Uttlesford Local Plan Policy GEN1

5.

Prior to first occupation of the dwelling, the vehicular access shall be
constructed at right angles to the highway boundary and to the existing
carriageway. The width of the access at its junction with the highway shall not be
less than 3 metres (4.5 metres maximum), shall be retained at that width for 6
metres within the site and shall be provided with an appropriate vehicular
crossing of the highway verge.
REASON: To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a
controlled manner in the interest of highway safety in the interest of highway
safety to ensure that the development accords with the Highway Authority’s
Development Management Policies, adopted as County Council Supplementary
Guidance in February 2011 and the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 - Policy
GEN1

6.

No unbound material shall be used in the surface treatment of the vehicular
access within 6 metres of the highway boundary.
REASON: To avoid displacement of loose material onto the highway in the
interests of highway safety in the interest of highway safety to ensure that the
development accords with the Highway Authority’s Development Management
Policies, adopted as County Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011
and the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 - Policy GEN1

7.

The proposed development shall not be occupied until such time as the vehicle
parking area indicated on the approved plans has been provided. The vehicle
parking area and associated turning area shall be retained in this form at all
times.

REASON: To ensure that appropriate parking is provided, in the interests of
highway safety in the interest of highway safety to ensure that the
development accords with the Highway Authority’s Development
Management Policies, adopted as County Council Supplementary
Guidance in February 2011 and the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 Policy GEN1
8.

The first floor en-suite and bathroom window shown on the left elevation on
approved plan B020shall be fitted with opening restrictors and shall be obscure

Page 117

glazed with glass of obscuration level 4 or 5 of the range of glass manufactured
by Pilkington plc at the date of this permission or of an equivalent standard agreed
in writing by the local planning authority. Details of the proposed restrictors and
the obscure glazing shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority before the commencement of the development hereby
approved. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved details and the obscure glazing and restrictors retained thereafter in
those windows.
REASON: To avoid overlooking of the adjacent property in the interests of
residential amenity in accordance with Policy GEN2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan
(adopted 2005).
9.

If during any site investigation, excavation, engineering, or construction works
evidence of land contamination is identified, the applicant shall notify the Local
Planning Authority without delay. Any land contamination identified, shall be
remediated to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority to ensure that the
site is made suitable for its end use.
Reason: To protect human health and the environment in accordance with Policy
GEN4 of the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005.

10.

Prior to commencement of the development a scheme, supported by a robust
noise impact assessment, shall be submitted for the protection of the dwellings
from noise arising from road & rail transport sources for approval in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. No dwellings shall be occupied until the scheme
providing protection for those dwellings has been implemented in accordance
with the approved details and has been demonstrated to achieve the required
noise levels to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. The approved
scheme shall be retained in accordance with those details thereafter.
REASON: To provide reasonable living standards within an acoustic environment
for the occupiers of the dwellings in accordance with ULP Policy ENV10 of the
Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).”

12.
All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in
accordance with the details contained in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
Report (EECOS, Oct 2019), as already submitted with the planning application
and agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination.
This may include the appointment of an appropriately competent person e.g. an
ecological clerk of works (ECoW) to provide on-site ecological expertise during
construction. The appointed person shall undertake all activities, and works shall
be carried out, in accordance with the approved details.
This includes due diligence for reptiles, hedgehog, badger and nesting birds.”
REASON: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the
LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as
amended) and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in
compliance with Policy GEN7 of the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005

Page 118

13.

Prior to commencement, a construction environmental management plan
(CEMP: Biodiversity) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following.
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities (i.e.,
clearance work on reptile, hedgehog, and nesting birds).
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a
set of method statements) and should include an updated walkover survey prior
to commencement.
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to
biodiversity features.
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be
present on site to oversee works.
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works
(ECoW) or similarly competent person.
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority”
REASON:: To conserve protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and s40
of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in compliance with Policy
GEN7 of the Uttlesford District Council Local Plan 2005.

14.
Prior to works above slab level, aA Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for
Protected and Priority species shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority.
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the
following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement
measures (as a minimum: provision of bird, bat and bug boxes, permeable
boundaries for hedgehogs (i.e. cut outs in fences or hedgerows instead of
fences / walls), new wildlife friendly / native species planting, log piles,
hedgehog homes);
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps
and plans, to be included on landscape plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to
occupation and shall be retained in that manner thereafter.”
REASON: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the
LPA to discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority

Page 119

habitats & species) and in compliance with Policy GEN7 of the adopted
Uttlesford District Council Local Plan 2005

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordanace Survey 0100018688

Organisation: Uttlesford District Council
Department:

Planning

Date:

13 September 2021

Page 120

Page 121

Agenda Item 9
UTT/20/0930/FUL (STEBBING)
(Referred to Committee. Reason: Called in by Councillor Merifield)
PROPOSAL:

Construction of manege. Erection of stable block

LOCATION:

Porters Hall
Porters Hall Road
Stebbing
CM6 3TB

APPLICANT:

Mr Moore

AGENT:

Mr J Bell

EXPIRY DATE:

08.07.2020
01.10.2021 - Extension of Time

CASE OFFICER:

Mark Sawyers

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Outside Development Limits
Mineral Safeguarding Area – Sand/Gravel

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The site comprises of field that is located to the south-east of Stebbing and set to
the North of Porters Hall Road, there is a footpath (no30) that runs through the
site.

2.2

There site is bound by a mixture of post and rail fencing, hedgerow, and trees.

2.3

The site is irregular in shape with the access end located to the north-west; the
site is approximately 0.31 ha in area and approximately 2.9 ha when taking the
adjacent fields marked within the redline on the proposed site map in
consideration.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

The proposal is seeking the construction of an manege and the erection of a single
storey stable block.

3.2

The proposed menage would be bound by a 1.2m post and rail fence, the menage
measures 48m x 20m (960m2). It is located to the south-east of the site.

3.3

The stables would be 21.6m in overall length with a depth of 6m at the southeastern elevation and 8.4m at the north-western elevation. It would have an eaves
height of 2.5m, with a maximum ridge height of 4.06m. It would benefit from 7 no
rooms that consist of 4 no. stables, a machine room, a groom room and a tack
room.

3.4

The stables would be constructed from timber under corrugated roofing sheets in
grey (box profile type) which is considered typical for this type of construction and
usage.

Page 122

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

The proposal is not a Schedule 1 development, nor does it exceed the threshold
criteria of Schedule 2, and therefore an Environmental Assessment is not
required.

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

The applicant has provided the following in support of their application:





Biodiversity Checklist
Ecological Survey
Example Photograph of Stable Block
Supporting Photographs

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

There is no relevant site history.

7.

POLICIES
Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)

7.1

S7 – The Countryside
GEN1 – Access
GEN2 – Design
GEN4 – Good Neighbourliness
GEN5 – Light pollution
GEN7 – Nature Conservation
GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards
ENV2 – Development affecting Listed Buildings
ENV3 – Open Spaces and Trees
ENV12 – Protection of Water Resources
ENV13 – Exposure to Poor Air Quality
ENV14 – Contaminated Land
National Policies

7.2

National Planning Policy Framework – (20th July 2021)

8.

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

12th June 2020 - Stebbing Parish Council have objected to this application on a
number of points.
Their full objection can be viewed online, their summarised objections are listed
below:
 Introduces built form in open countryside
 To take horses from other stables, involves crossing a very busy road
where the speed of traffic regularly exceeds the 40mph limit
 Condition of personal use for inhabitants of Porters Hall
 Illustration does not resemble the stables shown
 Proximity to mature oak trees
 No PROW on site

Page 123










8.2

Not safe to position horses and buildings in such close proximity to
footpath
No provision shown for supply of fresh water
No provision is shown for dealing with foul water.
No provision is shown for storage/dealing with manure and other waste
No lighting provision shown.
Illustration shows 4 stables while application states minimum 3. Clarity is
required.
Illustration shows Machine Room & Grooms Room. Are these intended as
permanent/occasional accommodation?
No provision shown for car parking for those using the site.
Flooding occurs alongside road by the pond shown

31st March 2021 - Stebbing Parish Council have objected to this application on a
number points.
Their full objection can be viewed online, their summarised objections are listed
below:
 Highways objection at the time still stands
 No information regarding the water source and treatment of foul water and
waste
 Proximity to the footpath

9.

CONSULTATIONS
PLACE SERVICES ECOLOGY

9.1

Place Services Ecology has been consulted and have no objection to the proposal
subject to securing biodiversity enhancement measures on the site.

9.2

Due to the proximity to a pond, a ecological study for Great Crested Newts was
undertaken. This has satisfied the County Ecologist and as such there are no
ecological objections to the application for the construction of manege and the
erection of stable block.

9.3

It is therefore concluded that the proposal subject to conditions accord with the
above policies and guidance insofar as they relate to Nature Conservation.
RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS:

9.4

All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in
accordance with the details contained in the Ecological Survey (Essex Mammal
Surveys, October 2020), as already submitted with the planning application, and
agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination.
This includes, but is not limited to, keeping the site in a mown/short sward
condition prior to and during development, retention and protection of boundary
features, installation of 6 x bird boxes and a Barn Owl box at Porters Hall and
creation of a log pile refugia and installation of solitary beehives on site.
REASON: To conserve and enhance protected and Priority species and allow the
LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended
and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

Page 124

9.5

A Biodiversity Enhancement Layout, providing the finalised details and locations
of the enhancement measures contained within the Ecological Survey (Essex
Mammal Surveys, October 2020), including 6 x bird boxes and a Barn Owl box at
Porters Hall and creation of a log pile refugia and installation of solitary beehives
on site, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The enhancement measures shall be implemented in accordance with
the approved details and all features shall be retained in that manner thereafter.
REASON: To enhance protected and Priority Species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species).
PLACE SERVICES HERITAGE

9.6

As this proposal is opposite a number of Grade II Listed Buildings and a
Grade II* Listed Building Essex County Council Heritage have been
consulted on the proposals. The Heritage consultant has no objection
towards the proposal. Therefore, there are no Heritage objections to the
proposals in this location subject to a condition on the landscaping of the site.
RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS:

9.7

Details of all hard and soft-landscaping and boundary treatments must be
approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to works commencing.
REASON: In the interests of the appearance of the development and preserving
the historic character and appearance of the adjacent Listed Building and its
setting in accordance with the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 – Polices
GEN2, ENV2, ENV3, and the National Planning Policy Framework 2021.
ESSEX COUNTY COUNCIL AS LOCAL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY

9.8

There are no Highway objections to the application for the construction of manege
and the erection of stable block. Highways has been consulted and have no
objection to the proposal subject to conditions. It is therefore concluded that the
proposal subject to conditions accord with the above policies and guidance insofar
as they relate to highway safety.
RECOMMENDED CONDITIONS:

9.9

Prior to occupation of the development, the access at its centre line shall be
provided with a clear to ground visibility splay with dimensions of 2.4 metres by
120 metres, as measured from and along the nearside edge of the carriageway.
Such vehicular visibility splays shall be provided before the access is first used by
vehicular traffic and retained free of any obstruction at all times.
REASON: To provide adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the access
and those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway safety

9.10

Prior to first occupation of the development, the access arrangement shall be
constructed as shown in principle on DWG no. 2021-463-011 Rev. C (dated
31/08/2021) and shall be provided with an appropriate vehicular crossing of the
highway verge.

Page 125

REASON: To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a controlled
manner and to ensure that opposing vehicles can pass clear of the limits of the
highway, in the interests of highway safety.
9.11

No unbound material shall be used in the surface treatment of the vehicular
access within 10 metres of the highway boundary.
REASON: To avoid displacement of loose material onto the highway in the
interests of highway safety.

9.12

Any gates provided at the vehicular access shall be inward opening only and shall
be set back a minimum of 10 metres from the back edge of the carriageway.
REASON: To enable vehicles using the access to stand clear of the carriageway
whilst gates are being opened and closed in the interest of highway safety.

9.13

The public’s rights and ease of passage over public footpath no. 30 (Stebbing)
shall be maintained free and unobstructed at all times.
REASON: To ensure the continued safe passage of the public on the definitive
right of way and accessibility.

9.14

Prior to occupation of the development, the vehicular turning facility as shown on
the approved plans shall be provided and retained in this form at all times for that
sole purpose.
REASON: To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a forward
gear in the interest of highway safety
UDC LANDSCAPING OFFICER

9.15

The Landscaping officer had no comments to make regarding this application.
There are a number of established trees located within the site, however the
proposal stipulates the use of raft foundations in order to protect the tree roots.

9.16

It is therefore concluded that the proposal accords with policy ENV3 of the
adopted Local Plan in this respect.

10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

A summary of the points raised in the representations are:





PROW 30 runs through the site but is not shown.
Size and shape on the plans do not match the elevations.
Application for does not mention trees in the vicinity
Foul Sewerage Disposal

Page 126

11.

APPRAISAL

The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:
A

The principle of the development (Policy S7)

B

Whether the layout, design and appearance of the proposal is acceptable
(Local Policy GEN2 and NPPF)

C

Impact to neighbours (Policy GEN2, GEN4 and ENV3)

D

Whether the proposal would have a detrimental impact on the adjacent
Listed Buildings (Local Policy ENV2 and NPPF)

E

Environmental Health (GEN5, ENV12, ENV13 and ENV14)

F

Local Highway Authority (Polices GEN1 and GEN8)

G

Ecology issues (ULP Policy GEN7)

A

The principle of the development (Policy S7)

11.1

In planning policy terms, the site lies outside of any established development limits
as defined by the Uttlesford Local Plan. Consequently, for the purposes of
planning, the site is considered to be within the countryside and subject to all
national and local policies.

11.2

Policy S7 of the Local Plan advises that there will be strict control on buildings in
the countryside, with planning permission only being given for development that
needs to be there.

11.3

The review of the Local Plan policies considered that Policy S7 of the adopted
Local Plan is partly consistent with the NPPF in that the protection and
enhancement of the natural environment is an important part of the environmental
dimension of sustainable development but that the NPPF takes a positive
approach, rather than a protective one. Therefore, Policy S7 is still relevant to the
consideration of this application.

11.4

The proposed stables and menage are in keeping with the area and something
that you would expect to see in the countryside. It is of a suitable design and
constructed from appropriate materials.

11.5

Due to the design and scale of the proposed development it is not considered that
the proposals will not have a detrimental impact on the openness of the site or the
rural character of the surrounding countryside area.

11.6

The principle of the development is acceptable with regard to Policy S7 of the
adopted Local Plan.

B

Whether the layout, design and appearance of the proposal is acceptable
(Local Policy GEN2 and NPPF)

Page 127

11.7

Strategic planning policies require development to be compatible with a
settlement’s character. Policy GEN2 provides more detail as to this consideration
stating that development will not be permitted unless its design meets all of a
number of criteria.

11.8

The first criterion of Policy GEN2 is that the development be compatible with the
scale, form, layout, appearance, and materials of surrounding buildings. The
buildings immediately opposite the site is a large weatherboarded Tye Barn with
a smaller single storey equipment barn next to it.
Having considered the setting of the site and the existing street scene, it is thought
that in broad terms the scale, form and appearance of the proposal is acceptable.

11.9

The second criterion is that the development should safeguard important
environmental features in its setting. The site currently benefits from several
established trees and hedgerow to it boundaries. The proposal does not seek to
remove these and the stables are to be built on a raft style concrete foundation in
order to protect the root structure of the nearby trees. As such the proposal is
considered to meet this criterion.

11.10

A stable and a menage is not something that you would not expect to see located
within the countryside setting. The proposals are of an acceptable design that will
not fundamentally change the street scene or be out of keeping with the locality.

11.11

It is therefore concluded that the proposal accords with the above policies and
guidance insofar as they relate to character and appearance. The proposal
therefore accords with Policy GEN2 and the NPPF.

C

Impact to neighbours (Policy GEN2, GEN4 and ENV3)

11.12

The site has a number of neighbours, Yew Tree Farm is located approximately
300m to the North-East of the site and the ‘Three Horseshoes’ is approximately
140m to the South-West.

11.13

Porters Hall is located to the South of the site; however this is within the ownership
of the applicant.

11.14

At this level of separation distance to the neighbouring dwellings it is considered
that any loss of privacy is minimal.

11.15

The proposal does not seek to remove any trees from the site or reduce any of
the hedgerows that currently bind the site.

11.16

Uttlesford District Councils Landscaping officer has been consulted about the
proximity of the proposed extension to the boundary and the proximity to the
existing trees and hedgerow that run along the boundary.

11.17

Due to the low level of harm raised by this proposal, the no comments have been
made to the proposal. There are a number of established trees located within the
site, however the proposal is to use raft foundations it is considered that this is
sufficient in order to protect the tree roots.

11.18

Due to positioning of proposed built form, there would be no material loss of
amenity to any neighbour with regard to loss of daylight, overbearing impact or
overshadowing.

Page 128

11.19

Environmental Health have been consulted with regard to this proposal they have
not objected to the proposal

11.20

With regard to impact to neighbours, the proposal is acceptable with regard to
Policy GEN2, GEN4 and ENV3.

D

Whether the proposal would have a detrimental impact on the adjacent
Listed Buildings (Local Policy ENV2 and NPPF)

11.21

s66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states
that in considering whether to grant planning for development which affects a
listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall have special regard
to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special
architectural or historic interest which it possesses

11.22

As this proposal has the potential to affect the setting of a number of Grade II
Listed Buildings along with a Grade II* building, the Place Services Heritage
consultant has commented on the proposals.

11.23

Due to its non-domestic function and it is siting opposite Porters Hall, the Heritage
consultant do not have any objections subject to a condition outlining the hard and
soft-landscaping and boundary treatments of the site.

11.24

It is considered that this proposal will cause no harm to the character and
appearance of the adjacent Listed Buildings, and the Heritage consultant is
satisfied that there are no grounds with regard to the historic environment in which
to object.

11.25

Therefore, it is considered that the proposal accords with Policy ENV2 of the
adopted Local Plan, Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the National Planning Policy Framework
(2021).

E

Environmental Health (GEN5, ENV12, ENV13 and ENV14)

11.26

Uttlesford DCs’ Environmental Health Team have been consulted and have no
objections to the proposal subject to conditions regarding the external lighting.

11.27

The proposal is not considered to have an impact on the surrounding neighbours,
cause light pollution or contaminate the land.

11.28

However, conditions regarding the manure and muck heap have been placed on
the application by the Local Planning Authority in order to protect the residential
amenity of the neighbours and the health of the members of public that would use
the footpath.

F

Local Highway Authority (Polices GEN1 and GEN8)

11.29

The Local Highway Authority has been consulted and have no objection to the
proposal subject to conditions.

Page 129

11.30

There are no Highway objections to the application for the construction of manege
and the erection of stable block, they have assessed the application and
confirmed with the Public Rights of Way Team that the erection of a stable in that
location will not obstruct the definitive line of the footpath.

11.31

Parking is not indicated on the location/block plans however there is sufficient
room to park a vehicle on the hard standing within the site without obstructing the
highway, and the applicant owns Porters Hall opposite the site in which they have
stated in their letter of representation that there is sufficient parking opposite the
stables within the farm complex.

11.32

It is therefore concluded that the proposal subject to conditions accord with the
above policies and guidance insofar as they relate to highway safety and parking.

G

Ecology issues (ULP Policy GEN7)

11.33

ULP Policy GEN7 of the Local Plan states that development that would have a
harmful effect on wildlife will not be permitted unless the need for the development
outweighs the importance of the feature of nature conservation. Where the site
includes protected species, measures to mitigate and/or compensate for the
potential impacts of development must be secured.

11.34

The application includes a completed Biodiversity Checklist and an Ecological
Survey.

11.35

Place Services Ecology has been consulted and have no objection to the proposal
subject to securing biodiversity mitigation and enhancement measures on the site.

11.36

It is therefore unlikely the proposed development will have harmful impact to
adverse impact on protected species caused and therefore complies with Policy
GEN7.

11.37

It is therefore concluded that the proposal subject to conditions accord with the
above policies and guidance insofar as they relate to Nature Conservation.

12.

CONCLUSION

The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:
A

The site forms part of the countryside that lies to the east from the settlement of
Stebbing, the proposal seeks to add development that is something that you
would expect to see in this countryside setting.

B

The design of the proposal is acceptable, it is something that you would expect to
see in the countryside and would not be to the detriment of the character of the
locality.

C

Due to positioning of proposed built form, isolation distances and orientation there
would be no material loss of amenity to any neighbour with regard to loss of
daylight, overbearing impact or overshadowing, the footpath runs through the
centre of the proposal, however the Highways Authority does not have any
objections towards the proximity to the footpath as it does not conflict with the
definitive line of the footpath.

Page 130

D

It is considered that this proposal will cause no harm to the character and
appearance of the adjacent Listed Buildings

E

Environmental Health have no objections to the proposal subject to a condition
regarding the external lighting.

F

There are no objections to the construction of manege and the erection of stable
block. The Public Rights of Way Team have responded to confirm that the erection
of a stable in that location will not obstruct the definitive line of the footpath.

G

There is no evidence that the proposed development will have harmful impact to
adverse impact on protected species.

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL WITH CONDITIONS
Conditions
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years
from the date of this decision.
REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in
accordance with the details contained in the Ecological Survey (Essex Mammal
Surveys, October 2020), as already submitted with the planning application and
agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination. This
includes, but is not limited to, keeping the site in a mown/short sward condition
prior to and during development, retention and protection of boundary features,
installation of 6 x bird boxes and a Barn Owl box at Porters Hall and creation of a
log pile refugia and installation of solitary beehives on site.
REASON: To conserve and enhance protected and Priority species and allow the
LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended
and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

3.

A Biodiversity Enhancement Layout, providing the finalised details and locations
of the enhancement measures contained within the Ecological Survey (Essex
Mammal Surveys, October 2020), including 6 x bird boxes and a Barn Owl box at
Porters Hall and creation of a log pile refugia and installation of solitary beehives
on site, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The enhancement measures shall be implemented in accordance with
the approved details and all features shall be retained in that manner thereafter.
REASON: To enhance protected and Priority Species and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species).

4.

Details of all hard and soft-landscaping and boundary treatments must be
approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to works commencing.

Page 131

REASON: In the interests of the appearance of the development and preserving
the historic character and appearance of the adjacent Listed Building and its
setting in accordance with the adopted Uttlesford Local Plan 2005 – Polices
GEN2, ENV2, ENV3, and the National Planning Policy Framework 2021.
5.

No manure shall be burnt on site.
REASON: to protect the amenity of neighbouring residential properties and the
health of the members of the public using the footpath.

6.

Any muck heap shall be not less than 15m from the boundary of adjacent
residential properties and not less than 10m from any ditch or watercourse or
footpath.
REASON: to protect the amenity of neighbouring residential properties and the
health of the members of the public.

7.

Details of any proposed floodlighting or external lighting shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority before the use hereby
permitted commences. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.
REASON: to protect the amenity of neighbouring residential properties.

8.

Prior to first use of the development, the access at its centre line shall be provided
with a clear to ground visibility splay with dimensions of 2.4 metres by 120 metres,
as measured from and along the nearside edge of the carriageway. Such
vehicular visibility splays shall be provided before the access is first used by
vehicular traffic and retained free of any obstruction at all times.
REASON: To provide adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the access
and those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway safety

9.

Prior to first use of the development, the access arrangement shall be constructed
as shown in principle on DWG no. 2021-463-011 Rev. C (dated 31/08/2021) and
shall be provided with an appropriate vehicular crossing of the highway verge.
REASON: To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a controlled
manner and to ensure that opposing vehicles can pass clear of the limits of the
highway, in the interests of highway safety.

10.

No unbound material shall be used in the surface treatment of the vehicular
access within 10 metres of the highway boundary.
REASON: To avoid displacement of loose material onto the highway in the
interests of highway safety.

11.

Any gates provided at the vehicular access shall be inward opening only and shall
be set back a minimum of 10 metres from the back edge of the carriageway.
REASON: To enable vehicles using the access to stand clear of the carriageway
whilst gates are being opened and closed in the interest of highway safety.

12.

The public’s rights and ease of passage over public footpath no. 30 (Stebbing)
shall be maintained free and unobstructed at all times.

Page 132

REASON: To ensure the continued safe passage of the public on the definitive
right of way and accessibility.
13.

Prior to first use of the development, the vehicular turning facility as shown on the
approved plans shall be provided and retained in this form at all times for that sole
purpose.
REASON: To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a forward
gear in the interest of highway safety

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 0100018688

Organisation: Uttlesford District Council
Department:

Planning

Date:

06 September 2021

Page 133

Agenda Item 10
UTT/21/1550/HHF (LITTLE HALLINGBURY)
(Referred to Committee. Reason: Called in by Councillor Driscoll)
PROPOSAL:

Demolition of existing detached garage. Construction of double
storey side extension with a single storey extension projecting
to the rear.

LOCATION:

The Willows
Lower Road
Little Hallingbury
CM22 7QZ

APPLICANT:

Mr And Mrs Ryan

AGENT:

Mr N Turner

EXPIRY DATE:

01.07.2021
01.10.2021 - Extension of Time

CASE OFFICER:

Mark Sawyers

1.

NOTATION

1.1

Within Development Limits (LITTLE HALLINGBURY, WRIGHTS GREEN)
Within 2km of S.S.S.I
Within 6km of Airport
Mineral Safeguarding Area – Sand/Gravel

2.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

2.1

The site comprises of a detached two storey dwelling located in the residential
area of Little Hallingbury.

2.2

The dwelling has external materials of red-faced brick walls on the ground floor,
rendered walls with exposed timber to the gable end on the first floor, under a tiled
roof.

2.3

There is a large, gravelled area for off street parking located to the front of the
dwelling.

2.4

There site is bound by a mixture of closed boarded fencing, hedgerow and trees.

2.5

The site is rectangular in shape and is approximately 1,100m2 in area.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

The proposal is seeking the demolition of existing detached garage, and for the
construction of a double storey side extension with a single storey extension
projecting to the rear.

3.2

The proposed 2 storey side extension would be constructed in the approximately
location of the existing garage and would have an eaves height of 4m and 2.6m
respectively to match the original dwelling, with a maximum ridge height of 7.5m,
also to match the host dwelling.

Page 134

3.3

The proposed single storey side and rear extension would be constructed in the
approximately location of the existing garage and would have an eaves height of
3.3m, with a maximum ridge height of 3.9m.

3.4

External materials would consist of brickwork to match the existing walls to the
ground floor, render and facing timber to match the existing on the first-floor gable,
with roof tiles to match. The single storey extension set to the rear would consist
of brickwork to match the existing and powder coated aluminium windows as well
as a glazed lantern.

3.5

The proposed extensions to the ground floor would increase the footprint of the
dwelling from the current 175m2, including the detached garage, which is to be
demolished, as part of this proposal to a ground floor footprint of approximately
307m2. This is a 75% increase over the original ground floor of the dwelling and
original garage combined.

3.6

The site plan does not demonstrate 3no. parking spaces for a dwelling of this size,
however there is adequate space located to the front of the site to meet the
Uttlesford District Council Adopted Parking Standards.

4.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

4.1

The proposal is not a Schedule 1 development, nor does it exceed the threshold
criteria of Schedule 2, and therefore an Environmental Assessment is not
required.

5.

APPLICANT’S CASE

5.1

The applicant has provided the following in support of their application:




Agents Response to Comments
Arboricultural Impact Assessment
Biodiversity Checklist

5.2

As the proposed extensions would reside within the Development Limits of Little
Hallingbury it is considered that the site is in a sustainable location.

6.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

6.1

The most recent and relevant applications to the proposed application are listed
below:
UTT/0561/90 - Erection of two detached dwellings with detached double garages
(APPROVED)
– It must be noted that Condition 90A states that “No upper storey side elevation
windows shall be inserted in either dwelling.
Reason: To prevent overlooking of adjoining dwellings.”

7.

POLICIES
Uttlesford Local Plan (2005)

7.1

S3 – Other Development Limits

Page 135

GEN1 – Access
GEN2 – Design
GEN4 – Good Neighbourliness
GEN7 – Nature Conservation
GEN8 – Vehicle Parking Standards
H8 – Home Extensions
ENV3 – Open Space and Trees
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance
7.2

SPD “Accessible Homes and Playspace”
National Policies

7.3

National Planning Policy Framework – (20th July 2021)
Other Material Considerations

7.4

ECC Parking Standards
UDC Parking Standards
Essex Design Guide

8.

PARISH COUNCIL COMMENTS

8.1

Little Hallingbury Parish Council have objected to this application on a number of
points.
Their full objections can be viewed online, with their summarised objections listed
below:
 Overdevelopment
 Invasion of Privacy

9.

CONSULTATIONS
UDC LANDSCAPING OFFICER

9.1

There are no objections towards the proposal from UDC’s Landscaping Officer.
They have advised that this is not a planning issue if the neighbour’s vegetation
is not of public amenity. As it is the applicant could cut through the roots
encroaching on their land.

10.

REPRESENTATIONS

10.1

A summary of the points raised in the representations are:







Loss of privacy
Not in keeping with surrounding properties
Extension close to boundary and may threaten health of the hedge
Overbearing
Overlooking
Harmful to boundary hedge and trees.

Page 136

11.

APPRAISAL

The issues to consider in the determination of the application are:
A

The principle of the development (Policy S3)

B

Whether the layout, design and appearance of the proposal is acceptable
(Local Policy GEN2 and NPPF)

C

Impact to neighbours (Policy GEN2 and GEN4)

D

Parking (Policy GEN8)

E

Ecology issues (ULP Policy GEN7)

A

The principle of the development (Policy S3)

11.1

The site is within the Defined Development Limit of Little Hallingbury; the proposal
is for residential extensions within a residential area.

11.2

Policy S3 states that within Key Rural Settlements, such as Little Hallingbury
development compatible with the settlement’s character and countryside setting
will be permitted.

11.3

The proposed extension is compatible with the settlements character and not out
of keeping with the locality.

11.4

The principle of the development is acceptable with regard to Policy S3 of the
adopted Local Plan.

B

Whether the layout, design and appearance of the proposal is acceptable
(Local Policy GEN2 and NPPF)

11.5

Strategic planning policies require development to be compatible with a
settlement’s character. Policy GEN2 provides more detail as to this consideration
stating that development will not be permitted unless its design meets all of a
number of criteria.

11.6

The first criterion of Policy GEN2 is that the development be compatible with the
scale, form, layout, appearance, and materials of surrounding buildings. The
buildings immediately surrounding the site are all two storey dwellings, in a
mixture of styles. Having considered the setting of the site and the existing street
scene, it is thought that in broad terms the scale, form and appearance of the
proposal is acceptable. The two-storey element has been revised to mirror the
hipped gable arrangement already found on the dwelling. The proposal would
make use of similar materials in order to protect the locality.

11.7

The second criterion is that the development should safeguard important
environmental features in its setting. The site currently benefits from several
established trees and hedgerow to the south-eastern boundary. The proposal
does not seek to remove these as the majority are outside of the redline of the
proposal, therefore it is considered to meet this criterion.

Page 137

11.8

Supplementary Planning Document – Home Extensions states that extensions
should not be higher or larger than the original house and furthermore, where the
house has been extended several times, it may reach a point where new
extensions will exceed what is reasonable.

11.9

The proposed extensions are of an acceptable design not fundamentally change
the street scene or be out of keeping with the locality.

11.10

The 2-storey aspect of the proposed extension would take its design cue from the
dwellings existing gable end. The extension would be to the side of the dwelling
and though of a large scale would be in proportion to the size of the existing
dwelling. The proposal has been revised to take this design cue into consideration
as it is considered to deliver a better overall design and one that assimilates well
into the street scene.

11.11

The single storey element is not considered to be out of keeping or
overdevelopment of the site. It is accepted that it is near the boundary; however
it is of single storey construction and set to the rear of the property.

11.12

The extensions would be constructed of materials that would match and
compliment the host dwelling and as such respect the appearance and character
of the existing building.

11.13

Permitted Development rights have not been removed under UTT/0561/90, as
such the applicant if they wished could construct a single storey outbuilding to
house the swimming pool without planning permission providing it does not adjoin
the host dwelling.

11.14

It is considered that the size of the extensions can be accommodated within the
site and will not have an adverse impact on the visual amenities of the locality of
the existing street scene or visual amenities of the locality.

11.15

It is therefore concluded that the proposal accords with the above policies and
guidance insofar as they relate to character and appearance. The proposal
therefore accords with Policies GEN2, H8 and the NPPF.

C

Impact to neighbours (Policy GEN2, GEN4 and ENV3)

11.16

The site has a number of immediate neighbours, they are located to the north,
east, south and west of the site.

11.17

With regard to the first-floor window of bedroom 4 located on the south-western
elevation to the front of the proposed extension. There is a separation distance to
the neighbour directly opposite the site known as ‘Badgers’ of approximately 26m,
and a separation distance to the neighbour to the south of the site known as
‘Peeriecroft’ of approximately 22m. As the proposal is not for a primary room and
there is a sufficient separation distance to the neighbouring dwellings it is
considered that any loss of privacy is minimal.

11.18

With regard to the first-floor window of bedroom 5 located on the north-eastern
elevation to the rear of the proposed extension. This window has been revised
from a set of French windows to a triple casement window to match the existing
windows on the dwelling. There is a separation distance to the neighbour directly
opposite the site known as ‘Rudlow’ of approximately 34m. As the proposal is not

Page 138

for a primary room and there is considered to be a sufficient separation distance
to the neighbouring dwellings it is considered that any loss of privacy is minimal
over that which already exists.
11.19

The dwellings original planning permission under UTT/0561/90 stipulated a
condition that “No upper storey side elevation windows shall be inserted in either
dwelling, in order to prevent overlooking of adjoining dwellings.”

11.20

The rooflight on the south-eastern elevation that serves the en-suite bathroom for
bedroom 5. This window faces the gardens of ‘Dunloe’ and Peeriecroft’, however
due to the sky light being at a height of 2m from the floor and the purpose of the
room it is considered that any loss of privacy is minimal.

11.21

Uttlesford District Councils Landscaping Officer has been consulted with regard
to the proximity of the proposed extension to the boundary and the proximity to
the existing trees and hedgerow that run along the boundary.

11.22

With this type of development, there is the potential for the hedge/tree roots to be
damaged on the neighbouring property, as there are no Tree Preservation Orders
of the site is within a Conservation Area it is not considered to be a planning
consideration. If the neighbour’s vegetation is not of public amenity the applicant
could cut through the roots encroaching on their land.

11.23

Due to positioning of proposed built form, there would be no material loss of
amenity to any neighbour with regard to loss of daylight, overbearing impact or
overshadowing.

11.24

With regard to impact to neighbours, the proposal is acceptable with regard to
Policy GEN2, GEN4 and ENV3.

D

Parking (Policy GEN8)

11.25

The five bedroomed house would require 3 no. parking spaces each to meet the
relevant parking standard. The parking spaces have not been indicated on the
block plan, however there is sufficient space to the front of the site to meet this
requirement. The proposal is considered acceptable in this respect with regard to
Policy GEN8.

E

Ecology issues (ULP Policy GEN7)

11.26

ULP Policy GEN7 of the Local Plan states that development that would have a
harmful effect on wildlife will not be permitted unless the need for the development
outweighs the importance of the feature of nature conservation. Where the site
includes protected species, measures to mitigate and/or compensate for the
potential impacts of development must be secured.

11.27

The application includes a completed biodiversity checklist. All the questions have
come back negative.

11.28

It is therefore unlikely the proposed development will have harmful impact to
adverse impact on protected species caused and therefore complies with Policy
GEN7.

11.29

It is therefore concluded that the proposal subject to conditions accord with the
above policies and guidance insofar as they relate to Nature Conservation.

Page 139

12.

CONCLUSION

The following is a summary of the main reasons for the recommendation:
A

The site forms part of the built-up settlement of Little Hallingbury and is within the
defined development limits. There can be no objection in principle.

B

The design of the proposal is acceptable in that it would appear sympathetic to
the character and appearance of the street scene and the proposed design is not
considered to be overdevelopment of the site.

C

Due to positioning of proposed built form, isolation distances and orientation there
would be no material loss of amenity to any neighbour with regard to loss of
daylight, overbearing impact or overshadowing.

D

The proposal provides adequate parking provisions.

E

There is no evidence that the proposed development will have harmful impact to
adverse impact on protected species.

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVAL WITH CONDITIONS
Conditions
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years
from the date of this decision.
REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
extension hereby permitted shall match those as detailed in the plan numbers
2020-10-5783/1 REV 1, 2020-10-5783/2 REV 1, 2020-10-5783/3 REV 1 unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: In the interests of the appearance of the development in accordance
with Policy GEN2, ENV1 & ENV2 of the Uttlesford Local Plan (adopted 2005).

Page 140

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordanace Survey 0100018688

Organisation: Uttlesford District Council
Department:

Planning

Date:

01 September 2021

Page 141

